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Management Discussion and Analysis

TEEENWNE D

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the Annual Report 2023 and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 30 June 2023.

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

The Group is currently engaged in metal recycle business, motor
and motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money
lending business and securities trading and investment business.
The Group also maintains the green businesses of research,
development and application of technologies and solutions,
manufacture, sale and trading of products, materials, systems and
services for green market segments including the environmental
markets, agricultural markets, organic markets and green
technology markets in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and overseas. The Group has also a hotel business in Nepal.

The Group has been continuing to explore new business
opportunities for corporate development and dedicates to develop
sustainable current business.

Investment Properties

The Group holds two investment properties located at PRC and
Hong Kong respectively.

In PRC

The Company holds 80% interest of an investment property in
PRC which are industrial properties with land lot numbers of
1914130300339 and 1914130300340, located at Longchuanzhou,
Renzhou Village, Shatian, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province.
The industrial properties comprise two parcels of land with a site
area of about 72,335.99 sq.m (or about 778,624.6 sq.ft.) and
various buildings and ancillary structures erected thereon. The
property has a total gross floor area of approximately 28,814.66
sq.m (or about 310,161.00 sq.ft.). The land use rights of the
property have been granted for separate terms expiring on
15 February 2044 and on 10 May 2044 respectively for industrial
use.

On 8 June 2023, an ordinary resolution was passed at an
extraordinary general meeting of shareholders in relation to the
disposal of all 80% interest of the investment property in PRC, a
deposit of HK$11,800,000 has been received and the balance of
HK$47,200,000 shall be received upon completion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEERBENWR DN

In Hong Kong

The Group holds 100% interest of a Hong Kong investment
property which comprises 95 car parking spaces at Inland Lot No.
1301 where 72 car parking spaces are located at 2nd Floor to 4th
Floor of Harbour View Garden and 23 car parking spaces are
located at 3th Floor, Tower Ill, Harbour View Garden, No. 2
Catchick Street, Hong Kong.

The car parking spaces are held under Government Lease for a
term of 999 years commencing on 24 June 1892 and are leased
out for parking fee income.

The car parking spaces continued to provide a stable revenue and
cash flow to the Group. For the year ended 30 June 2023, rental
income was approximately HK$4,236,000 (2022: approximately
HK$4,329,000).

Biological Assets

By way of a forestry management and undertaking agreement, the
Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary acquired timber cutting
right over a plantation land of approximately 30,000 mu (Chinese
Mu) in Shihezi City, Xinjiang (the “Plantation Land”) for a period
of 30 years commencing on 1 July 2008.

In the process of valuing the biological assets planted at the
Plantation Land, Colliers Appraisal and Advisory Services Co., Ltd.
("Colliers”) adopted the Market-Based Approach to estimate the
fair value of the biological assets. The fair value of the biological
assets was computed using the formula:

The fair value of biological assets = (total volume of standing
timbers x recovery rate) x market price of timber — cutting cost +
scrap sale income
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According to MHE MR E R2023F E A EHRE prepared by CNBM
Geological Engineering Exploration Academy Co. Ltd. (“CNBM"),
stratified random samplings have been applied in order to
estimate the total volume of standing timbers on the Plantation
Land based on the “Dual stumpage volume table for plain area
artificial poplar forests of Xinjiang (3158 F [R5 A TH# =t K
#F&3) DB65/T2283-2005". During each sampling process, whole
plantation land of 30,000 mu was divided into 3,824 sampling
areas and 502 sampling areas were selected. The following inputs
have been adopted in this valuation based on the opinions as
stated in MR R E JR2023F E FHE S prepared by CNBM:

o Total volume of standing timbers = 458,256 m?

° Recovery rate = 80%
o Cutting cost = 6% of revenue
° Scrap sale income = 4% of revenue

With reference to observable market price of timber of similar
pieces in Mainland China, the adopted market price was RMB594
per cubic meter. To determine how the different values of an
independent variable would impact a particular dependent variable
under a given set of assumptions, Colliers carried out sensitivity
analysis on the fair value of the biological assets in respect of the
recovery rate and adopted market price. The results of the
sensitivity analysis are as follows:
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Absolute Change in Recovery Rate

Applied Recovery Rate

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

Rl =SB EHE Pt A R W & EMEEARE
(RMB)
(AR®)
+10% 90% 240,003,000
+5% 85% 226,670,000
+0% 80% 213,336,000
-5% 75% 200,003,000
-10% 70% 186,669,000

% change in Adopted Market Price Adopted Market Price

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

FiRthh EEE % FRi e (8 EYMEEARE
(RMB/m?) (RMB)
(77 KANRE) (ARH)
+10% 653 234,670,000
+5% 623 224,003,000
+0% 594 213,336,000
~5% 564 202,669,000
-10% 534 192,002,000
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

Fair value of the biological assets are mainly affected by the total
volume of standing timbers and market price of the polar tree
timbers. Despite the Plantation Land still faces problems of
shortage of water resources, soil degradation and broken
ecosystem, total volume of standing timbers increased 10,826
cubic metres from 447,430 cubic metres of last financial year end
to 458,256 cubic metres at this financial year end, representing
an increase of 2.42%. Reason for the volume increase is natural
growth of polar trees. However, market price of polar tree timber
fell from RMB650 per cubic metre of last financial year end to
RMB594 at this financial year end, representing a decrease of
8.62%. The fair value is also affected by the fall of renminbi value
against Hong Kong dollars. For cost control reason, the Group has
not appointed Plantation Land maintenance operator since July
2018 and yet to devise appropriate valued and economically viable
plan to optimise the use of the biological assets. The Group
recorded a decrease to approximately HK$230,481,000 (2022:
approximately HK$267,079,000) in the fair value of the biological
assets. The decrease is mainly attributable to the fall of market
price of polar tree timber and value of renminbi.

The actual fair value of poplar tree of biological assets in RMB as
at 30 June 2023 amounted to approximately RMB213,336,000
(2022: approximately RMB228,010,000). The Group considers that
such fair value change is non-cash in nature and will not have
effect on the cash flow and business operation of the Group.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2023, the Group
recognised aggregate net losses arising from the major
non-current assets of approximately HK$17,703,000 (2022: gains
approximately HK$579,000). This represents the combined effect of
the amortisation and impairment loss of intangible assets, the loss
(2022: gain) arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of
biological assets and reversal of provision (2022: provision) for
impairment loss of right-of-use assets.

Operating Rights

The operating rights relate to the favorable aspect of the right to
use and operate the plantation land of a subsidiary of the
Company. The subsidiary was acquired in the year ended 30 June
2009. The intangible assets are amortised using straight-line
method over the useful life of 30 years and the remaining useful
life is 15 (2022: 16) years.
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With reference to the valuation conducted by AP Appraisal Limited
(“AP Appraisal”), an independent professional valuer, the
recoverable amount of the Group’s operating rights is higher than
its carrying amount and no impairment has been recognised
during the year ended 30 June 2023. The recoverable amount has
been determined on the basis of the value in use by using
discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value measurements).
The discount rate used was 16.4% (2022: 16%).

Plantation Sales Business

Source of the plantation sales business is the poplar trees at the
Plantation Land. There was no timber cutting activity and, hence,
for the year ended 30 June 2023, there was no revenue
generated from the plantation sales business (2022: Nil).

The Group is working prudently to find the best possible use of
the biological assets and will cautiously evaluate the actual
economic return after knowing the harvest quota available
alongside with comprehensive analysis of all risks and uncertain
factors before making any investment decision.

Metal Recycle Business

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group recorded a marginal
decrease in revenue from metal recycle businesses with total of
approximately HK$17,417,000 (2022: approximately
HK$17,514,000).

There is no doubt that scrape metal recycling has received more
attention worldwide because of promotion of green energy,
government initiatives and rising demand from various end-use
industries. The global metal recycling market size was valued at
USD229.6 billion in 2021 and is expected to expand at a
compound annual growth rate of 5.85% to 2030 and reach about
USD384 billion. However, government initiatives across the globe
may not be helpful to exporters. Most of the initiatives are aiming
at promoting domestic scrap metal recycling. For example PRC's
rules limiting importation to higher quality scrap metals have
negative impact for our operations.

Sourcing metal scrap in Hong Kong is becoming more and more
difficult. Also, numbers of local scrap metal operators are
increasing and so is the competition. In Hong Kong, the main
source of metal scrap is from construction sites. In the first quarter
of 2023, the gross value of construction works was in real terms
increased by 17.9% in private sector and by 1.3% in public sector.
There is no joy for the increase because it was based on the
much downslope figure of the year 2022 when the COVID-19
pandemic was prevalent. It requires some times for economic
activities to gain its momentum and hopefully our metal recycling
business will move along positively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

Motor and Motor Accessories Business

For the year ended 30 June 2023, revenue from motor and motor
accessories business slipped to approximately HK$60,279,000
(2022: approximately HK$71,016,000).

On the sale of car segment, while we were able to complete
some back orders after manufacturer of BAC mono at the United
Kingdom resumed manufacturing. There was no new sale for this
year. Also, sale of high end used car market, same as the
economy, requires time to pick up.

On the sale of motor accessories, we were unable to obtain
sufficient supplies from the Pirelli supplier. The main reason being
that Europe countries opened earlier than Asia countries for the
COVID-19 pandemic. Pirelli supplier turned their focus on Europe
market and was unable to pair our orders. Fortunately, this
strategy has been retracted and recently tyres were able to be
supplied as we requested. Also, tyres sales with the PRC market
showed signs of up picking. We expect this segment will have a
positive growth.

Money Lending Business

The Group operates money lending business through a wholly
owned subsidiary, which is a holder of money lender’s licence
under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). The Group has adopted money lending policies and
procedures for handling and/or monitoring the money lending
business in compliance with the Money Lenders Ordinance.

During the vyear, the Group recorded loan interest income of
approximately HK$298,000 (2022: approximately HK$329,000)
from loans granted to both corporate and individual clients,
representing a relatively down trend operation of the money
lending segment. The outstanding principal amount of loan
receivables net of provision of impairment loss as at 30 June 2023
was approximately HK$5,876,000 (2022: approximately
HK$9,802,000). During the year, a provision for impairment loss of
loan receivables of approximately HK$4,290,000 (2022: Nil) was
considered necessary in the application of HKFRS 9 by the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

The scope of the money lending services of the Group mainly
focuses on the provision of corporate or personal loans to referred
customers, instead of the mass customer market, with loan size of
not more than HK$5 million in general. The target clientele
primarily consists of (i) corporations which are in small to medium
size with well-established business operations in Hong Kong and/
or the PRC; and (ii) businessmen, executives or professionals in
various industries, as referred from the Company’'s senior
management, business partners or clients with past business
dealings with the Group. The funding for the money lending
business is financed by the internal resources of the Group.

The key operation of the money lending business of the Group is
in Hong Kong. When a prospective client is identified, the finance
department of the Group will conduct a series of due diligence
work for the purpose of credit assessment. The management of
the Company is primarily responsible for the credit assessment,
loan approval and determination of terms under the respective
loan agreements.

Internal Control Policies and Credit Risk Assessment

The Group has maintained the internal control policies for its
money lending business in managing the credit risk and
safeguarding the assets and interests of the Group. The key
internal control procedures adopted by the Group in terms of
credit risk assessment and ongoing monitoring of loan
recoverability and loan collection are outlined below:

Credit Risk Assessment

To assess the creditworthiness and the repayment ability of the
potential borrowers, the Group would conduct a series of due
diligence work including (i) obtaining information as to the
identity, background, statutory documents and financial conditions
of the potential borrowers as well as the purpose of the loan; (ii)
reviewing the financial statements of the corporate borrowers; and
(iii) performing relevant searches such as judiciary judgment search
and internet search regarding news or events that may have
negative bearings on the loans or the repayment ability of the
borrowers.
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In respect of loan extension/renewal or change of loan terms, the
internal control procedures to be conducted by the Group would
include (i) reviewing the latest financial statements of the
corporate borrowers; (ii) understanding from the borrowers on,
among others, the reasons for loan extension/renewal or change
of loan terms, the financial conditions and the intended
repayment schedule/method etc.; (iii) performing relevant searches
such as judiciary judgment search and internet search regarding
news or events that may have negative bearings on the loans or
the repayment ability of the borrowers; and (iv) assessing the
feasibility of such revision(s) to the loan terms by the Board taking
into account various factors such as the assessed risks, the track
record of past business dealings with the borrowers as well as any
other potential business opportunities.

Ongoing Monitoring of Loan Recoverability and Loan
Collection

The finance department of the Group is responsible for ongoing
monitoring of the loan portfolio, loan recoverability, debt
collection as well as identifying any irregularities and taking
mitigating measures if and when necessary. Whenever any
irregularity is identified, the Group would enquire with the
relevant borrower to reassess the credit risk and the loan
recoverability.

The Group maintains a loan register to monitor loan repayment
schedule and status. Follow-up actions in the event of a loan
delinquency include telephone calls, email or text messages. The
Group will issue demand letters and serve statutory demand to the
defaulting client in the case that the overdue persists, and, if the
circumstances warrant, it may consider pursuing legal actions
against the defaulting client after seeking legal advice.

Basis of Determination of Major Terms of Loans

The key terms of loan such as the principal amount, the interest
rates, the tenure, the repayment terms vary and are determined
by factors including but not limited to the background and
credibility of borrowers, the value of security (if any) and the
assessed risk. The credit risk for a listed corporate borrower is
generally considered lower than that for a private company. In
determining the interest rates, the Group would take into
consideration, among others, the amount of loan, the loan tenure,
the value of security (if any), the assessed risk, the track record of
past business dealings with the potential client(s), the prospects of
other future businesses and the prevailing market interest rates. In
determining the extension period at the request of borrowers, the
Group would base on arm’s length negotiations with borrowers
with reference to, among others, the needs and the financial
condition of the borrowers, the potential or past business dealings
with the borrowers and the assessed risks associated with the
relevant loans.
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Loan Portfolio as of 30 June 2023

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had six customers with the
aggregate loan receivables before loss allowance for expected
credit losses of approximately HK$16.2 million, of which
approximately HK$7.0 million, or approximately 43.0%, was due
from the largest borrower while approximately HK$4.1 million and
approximately HK$4.0 million, or approximately 25.3% and
approximately 25.0%, were due from the second and the third
largest borrowers, respectively. All these six customers were
secured by referrals. The summary of major terms of the loan
portfolio as of 30 June 2023 is tabulated below:

BE-S-=E/A=1+HMERESE

RZBEZ=ZFXA=Z+8B AEEHEARH
BE BREFES(NKBREHEEEED
EEEER) A R162BEB T Hh 7.0
E%%ﬁi%@ﬁ%ﬁ%%%ﬁ%%ﬁ'
M4 1B EB T EB40B E B L(EHY
253%&#n5o%)ﬁ DRI RN E — KR E

ZRERT - ZANBEPYBEBENE
F-BE_ZT_=FXA=1tH BEX4A

ENIERABMENTRAR

Interest rate

Proportion

Outstanding (per annum) of the outstanding loan
Principal loan applicable Repayment/ receivables before loss
loan  receivables during the maturity date allowance for expected
Date of grant amount as at year ended (as renewed or  Latest Collateral/ credit losses as at
Loan Background of the borrowers of loans granted 30 June 2023 30 June 2023 extended) repayment terms guarantee 30 June 2023
BE R-%-=
RoBozE cgzzk AR=tEH
ABZTE®  ABSTE REEELER
Ri&R #RE LEEER &R/HHAH ) (IREREEHEN
g3 BRANER RUEREH 528 EAKER £ (DEYIER) SHERER HRa/ER BREEN N
(Note 1) (Note 1)
(zk1) (Hzk1)
Approx. Approx.
#4 #4
(HK$000) (HK$000)
(F8%)  (FAR)
1 Borrower 1 is a company listed on the ~ September 2016 5,000 6,957 2% December 2023 Bullet repayment Not applicable 43.0%
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. (Note 2)  (Note 2)
Please also refer to the paragraph
headed “Information on Borrower
1" in the announcement published
on 31 May 2023,
1?7? B-RREXAEIRLTSH —F-7FNA (W&2) —2-=%+-8 -RUER @R
07 28MA-F- 717 tE)
E#EH%E@MH*&M*
MEK]-&-
2 Borrower 2 was a company previously  October 2018 5,000 4,033 30% December 2023 Bullet repayment Guaranteed 25.0%
listed on GEM but delisted in 2021 (Note 1) (Note 3) (Note 3)
EFFZA-BAANGIMETER  ZF-\§1A (F3t) (W33) ZT-=%+20 —REEH BER
ZEC-ERBORT (R&3)
3 Borrower 3 is a private company with  November 2018 1,000 834 12% November 2025 Instalment loan with Secured by 5.2%
business operation in Hong Kong. (Note 4) 36 payments in luxury watches and
three years (Note 4) guaranteed
BRCA-MAEREEERY  —2-NEt-A Z2oEET-B RSERSSIAE  HARTHEER
ARE . (Fista) IRNABER () REER
4 Borrower 4 is a businessman. April 2018 5,000 4,091 Nil' November 2023 Bullet repayment Not applicable 253%
(Note 1) (Note 5)  (Note 5) (Note 5)
BHmA-2EA- —2-\5RA (1) T oE-cei-f -pEER ok
(Maks) (W) (B3ts)
5 Borrower 5 is a businessman. May 2019 200 199 20% September 2023 Instalment loan with Not applicable 1.2%
(Note 1) (Note 6) 24 payments in
two years (Note 6)
BRFRA-EHA- ZE-0F1A (1) :%:\\Eﬂlﬂ RRERH-THE . TEH
(Fi3t6) L7 BER ()
6 Borrower 6 is a merchant. July 2022 500 4 9% July 2023 Monthly instalment Secured by a 0.3%
(Note 7) uxury watch
BRANA—EHP . ZEICELR ZEIZEER BAREAR(GN) DA—§%E¥ﬁ1ﬂE
Total 16,158 100.0%
it
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Notes:

)

The outstanding loan receivables before loss allowance for expected credit
losses as at 30 June 2023 amounted to approximately HK$16.2 million.
After taking into account the provision of impairment loss made to the
respective amount of approximately HK$4.0 million, HK$4.1 million and
HK$0.2 million in respect of the outstanding loan receivables under Loan
2, 4 and 5, the outstanding loan receivables of the Group net of
provision of impairment loss as at 30 June 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$7.8 million.

The tenure of Loan 1 as initially granted was 180 days and the repayment
date of Loan 1 has been further extended to 11 December 2023 as per
nine supplemental agreements. The interest rate of Loan 1 has been
revised from 9% (applicable for the period from September 2016 to
December 2020) to 2% (applicable for the period from December 2020
to December 2023). Please also refer to the section headed
"DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION RELATING TO FURTHER EXTENSION OF
LOAN" in the announcement published on 31 May 2023 for the detailed
terms of Loan 1.

The tenure of Loan 2 as initially granted was one month and the
repayment date of Loan 2 has been further extended to 31 December
2023 as per four supplemental agreements to the loan agreement
entered into between the Lender and Borrower 2. The interest rate of
Loan 2 has been revised from 20% (applicable for the period from
October 2018 to August 2020) to 30% (applicable for the period from
September 2020 to December 2023).

The tenure of Loan 3 as initially granted was 12 months and the maturity
date of Loan 3 has been further extended to 25 November 2025 as per
four supplemental agreements to the loan agreement entered into
between the Lender and Borrower 3. The repayment terms have been
changed from monthly repayment of interest and repayment of principal
on the maturity date during the period from November 2018 to
November 2022 to instalment repayment during the period from
November 2022 to November 2025.

The tenure of Loan 4 as initially granted was 12 months and the
repayment date of Loan 4 has been further extended to 3 November
2023 as per five supplemental agreements (including a settlement deed)
to the loan agreement entered into between the Lender and Borrower
4. The repayment terms have been changed from instalment repayment
during the period from April 2018 to November 2020 to bullet
repayment during the period from November 2020 to November 2023.
The interest rate of Loan 4 has been revised from 12% (applicable for
the period from April 2018 to November 2020), to 2% (applicable for
the period from November 2020 to November 2022), and nil (applicable
for the period from November 2022 to November 2023).

The tenure of Loan 5 as initially granted was three months and the
maturity date of Loan 5 has been further extended to 13 September
2023 as per four supplemental agreements to the loan agreement
entered into between the Lender and Borrower 5. The repayment terms
have been changed from bullet repayment during the period from May
2019 to October 2021 to instalment repayment during the period from
October 2021 to September 2023.

The tenure of Loan 6 was twelve months and the maturity date of Loan
6 was 4 July 2023 as per the loan agreement entered into between the
Lender and Borrower 6. As at the date of this annual report, the loan
receivables from loan 6 have been fully repaid by Borrower 6.
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The internal control procedures carried out by the Group on each

& L

AEERNFREMERERKESD

s 5
H A

of the loans at the time of initial grant and subsequent extensions IFFEH R IEBERETH AL EE LR FE

or change of loan terms together with the basis of determination

R & 5K & K

of the terms of the loans are summarized as follows:

Internal control procedures and

Other basis and factors considered by the
Group before agreeing to the extensions

B A A T

The Group's actions taken
on the incidents of defaults

Loan credit assessment on the loans or the change of loan terms (if any)
FEEARAEERIFNERGRAUEEN FEEAREOSHRRNTEY
EX BERNABEEEFRIEETME HipEEREE (%)
1 At the time of granting Loan 1, the At the request of Borrower 1, the Group Not applicable.
Group conducted relevant due offered a lower interest rate for Loan 1 since T °

diligence work for its credit risk
assessment including reviewing the
memorandum and articles of
association of Borrower 1, the then
announcements and the then financial
reports/results published by Borrower
1 on the website of the Stock
Exchange. The financial performance
and financial positions revealed the
financial strength and repayment
ability of Borrower 1 at the time of
granting the loan.

RELHER—K AXEREFER
BRAGETHBSREEIE B
EHERT —MALGERAARA
Bl B R0y — R B S P A Uh T B
MRBREGNTBRE E -0
BRE R BN RREF S —RE
HERSOMBEH REREN -

December 2020, having taken into account the
followings:

EERT—NER AEEE-_Z-S4+=
ARRESN REREANE  ZRLZEUT
£

(i) the Company recognized the adverse
market sentiment prevailing in 2020,
being the first year of the unprecedented
COVID-19 pandemic, and the
deteriorating financial performance of
and the financial pressure experienced by
Borrower 1 during these unprecedented
and unpredictable difficult times;
AATERER - F-FF BUREAH
ARCOVD-19REME—F)ERFHE
AHTISEE  ARERT —RUL&A
PR R R A T 88 8 R £ 5 ER 69 B 7S
REREBRSEEN:
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Loan

CES

Internal control procedures and
credit assessment on the loans

ERMABEERFREEFE

Other basis and factors considered by the The Group's actions taken

Group before agreeing to the extensions on the incidents of defaults
or the change of loan terms (if any)
FAREANFABERIETYAERRRAERY FREMBHEHERNHTH
HihEERAR (%)

At the times of granting extensions
of the repayment date of Loan 1, the
Group had been in close contact with
Borrower 1 in understanding, among
others, its reasons for extensions
with the intended repayment
schedule, and reviewed the then
latest financial statements and the
then announcements published by
Borrower 1 on the website of the
Stock Exchange to understand its
then financial conditions and latest
business development. Despite the
loss-making of Borrower 1 during the
period from 2016 to 2022, the Group
had taken into consideration that (i)
its total equity and net current asset
position during the period from 2016
to 2022 far exceeded the outstanding
loan amount, which revealed the
repayment ability of Borrower 1; and
(ii) the improving financial positions of
Borrower 1 from the period from 2019
to 2021. The re-assessed credit risk
was therefore considered acceptable at
the times of granting extensions.
REREERER—ER A HE - R
SE-BEREERT —REEZEHBE
T8 (Eh i) B RE R
ERAFRRE  WEBER — LB
RABUE T BB R RN BRE K
BEORM M TREBENNB
RAREHEBER -BERRH —
RIZE-—REFE_T__FHRESE
B AEEEZROAR-_Z—RX
FE_T__FHRENERAERF
RPEERARBRERERSH -
BRERA —MEREN  RiEH
F—RRBERAR T -NEFE=-T
“—EHREMEE Al REH
T RERFENEERRKR
RAES -

At the request of Borrower 1, the Group Not applicable.
offered a lower interest rate for Loan 1 since RiEF o
December 2020, having taken into account the

followings:

EERA—NER AREE_Z -S4+

ARREESN —REREANE  ERLZEUT

&1

(ii) while Borrower 1, being an industry
counterpart which through its
subsidiaries was engaged in the money
lending business and holding a valid
money lenders licence under the Money
Lender Ordinance at the material time, is
offered to enjoy a lower interest rate for
Loan 1 granted, the Group may
reasonably assume to enjoy the same
merit of lower interest rate to be offered
by Borrower 1 in return if and when
needed in the future; and
R —(ERERENB R AR
ARERBEEBLHEREAGHET
HBERMEARRNTEHF L) RS
MER—ZHEBREMNE  KEETRM
AERRNARERERRBEERTS

—REREMEHBRRAEE R

(i) by retaining strong bonding with
Borrower 1, being a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since 2007 (with market capitalization up
to HK$13 billion in 2018), the Group
may be benefited from the potential
business opportunities including but not
limited to business referrals, strategic
collaborations and/or investment
prospects which, if capitalized, may
potentially be more lucrative than the
interest income to be generated from
Loan 1.
BREERAF - (—HE_Z2S+FER
BRXMEIREMORE R /\F
WHEREBEET)REERHARF
AEETRIENELEE BEES
RRAEBEN  BBAER/IREH
ROMERNE TRBRER—ELNH
BRAEFFAE -
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Loan

CES

Internal control procedures and
credit assessment on the loans

ERMABEERFREEFE

Other basis and factors considered by the
Group before agreeing to the extensions
or the change of loan terms
FREARNARERA TR ERERAEEN
HpEERRE

The Group's actions taken
on the incidents of defaults
(if any)
AEEHRENSHERNTE
(tn%)

At the time of granting Loan 2, the
Group conducted relevant due
diligence work for its credit risk
assessment including reviewing the
memorandum of association and
articles of association of Borrower 2,
the then announcements and the then
financial reports/results published by
Borrower 2 on the website of the
Stock Exchange. Given the then listing
status of Borrower 2 and the then
gearing ratio being less than 1, its
financial condition was considered
acceptable and the credit risk was
relatively low at the time of granting
the loan.
RELER K AEEREEER
BRAMETHRERESIE a8
EHEFANESERNARAL
ERMA - BT R a8k T
RERNLAMRERNMBRE ¥
BoEREBRH ERBN LWL
ERNEEAGHRERL - HBBHN
MERAETES  ERROERELN
FERBEHEE -

Before agreeing to the extensions of
the repayment date of Loan 2, the
Group has obtained and reviewed the
then latest business information of
Borrower 2 to ascertain its repayment
ability and enquired about its debt
restructuring plan.
RABERER_MEZASHI &
SECRBYRBERS —ER&H
MEBEM UHEIAHEEREN I
HWEEKEMAFEELER -

The Group revised the interest rate from 20%
to 30% per annum starting from 1 September
2020 in response to Borrower 2's request for
extension of the repayment date.
BERFT_ABREREFRAPHER KAEH
BT _TFENA-HEBRFNEA20%ERT
530% °
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Following the incidents of default
of Borrower 2 in 2019, the
finance department of the Group
had from time to time made
telephone calls to Borrower 2 to
demand settlement and enquired
about the expected time for
repayment. In view of the
prolonged non-repayment, the
Group had engaged an external
legal adviser to initiate legal
actions including serving a
statutory demand to Borrower 2.
Subsequently, the Group reached
a consensus on the settlement
arrangement with Borrower 2 and
collected part of the loan
receivables from it in 2019.
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Internal control procedures and

Other basis and factors considered by the
Group before agreeing to the extensions

The Group's actions taken
on the incidents of defaults

Loan credit assessment on the loans or the change of loan terms (if any)
FRENFEERIEFXERBZRULEEN FRERBOEHERNHTY

B ERMABEEEFRESETME HhEERAR (f0H)

3 At the time of granting Loan 3, the Given the security charged with satisfactory Not applicable.

Group conducted relevant due
diligence work for its credit risk
assessment including reviewing the
business registration certificate,
certificate of change of name, annual
returns, audited report and bank
statement of Borrower 3 and
performing judiciary judgment search
and internet search. The Company
considered that the credit risk is
controllable and the likelihood of
recoverability of the loan is high given
the security charged with satisfactory
loan-to-security ratio and having taken
into account that Borrower 3 has
genuine operation (rather than being
an investment holding company).
RELER=K A&£EREEFER
BRAGETHBASBESIE B
ERERT=NEXEIE EUA
BERE FERREX LERRSE
RBATHE  URETRDEIRER
RERSRR -ENERmERIAME
MOERERRLE - U EEFEK
FERERKEEB(MIEER—MH
REERRAR)  ARARREERR
A BERATKREEES -

loan-to-security ratio and good track record of
repayment, the Company agreed to the
extensions and revised the repayment terms
from monthly repayment of interest and
repayment of principal on the maturity date to
instalment payment, which further reduces the
credit risk.
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Loan

CES

Internal control procedures and
credit assessment on the loans

ERMABEERFREEFE

Other basis and factors considered by the
Group before agreeing to the extensions or
the change of loan terms
FREARNARERA TR ERERAEEN
HpEERRE

The Group's actions taken
on the incidents of defaults
(if any)
AEEHRENSHERNTE
(tn%)

At the time of granting Loan 4, the
Group conducted relevant due
diligence work for its credit risk
assessment, including performing
judiciary judgment search and internet
search. Given that (i) Borrower 4 was
a reputable person with significant
background, in particular as a Justice
of the Peace, and previously held
directorships in several listed
companies; and (i) no news or events
that may have negative bearings on
the loan or the repayment ability of
Borrower 4 were found based on the
result of relevant public searches,
Borrower 4 was considered
creditworthy and financially sound at
the time of granting the loan.
RELERNE A&EEREEER
BRAGETHBASBESIE B
ETRAEHRABRRREREER - &
ROERATAR—EERBHNAMA
AT EEmMER—BAFHL B
FAREE EHARREEERH
RMEREHEARAERNER HE
ERAMAREER I ONERIE
HENBEEETENERXEN &
FADRBEEERREEEREER
i - BB ARG -

At the request of Borrower 4, the Group
offered a lower interest rate under Loan 4 since
November 2020 and changed the repayment
terms including the extension for bullet
repayment, having taken into account the
followings:

BERFENER  AEEE T _TF+—
AESERMRHBERN X - I F 3R F RN
(BREH—REER)  EREERUTRE:

(i) the Company recognized the adverse
market sentiment prevailing in 2020,
being the first year of the unprecedented
COVID-19 pandemic, and the acute
financial difficulties of Borrower 4 as
a result of unprecedented series of
worldwide events since mid of 2018; and
ARBERIN T _ZF (AEERIFT
RRCOVD-19RIEME—F)ERFH
AHmSEE KRBT —-\FEH
AR R EE—RIRI IR R 2R
BHEH EXTHAREVHKEE: X
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Following the incidents of
default of Borrower 4 at the
material times during the period
from 2018 to 2020, the Group
had from time to time made
telephone calls to Borrower
4 to demand settlement and
enquired about the expected
time for repayment and issued
demand letters to Borrower 4.
Upon issuance of a demand
letter by the Company through
a legal adviser to Borrower 4 in
2019, Borrower 4 had shown his
commitment in repayment of the
outstanding principal and interests
accrued by delivering post-dated
cheques in an aggregate sum
of approximately HK$4.7 million
(based on the then proposed
instalment payment schedule
pursuant to a settlement deed) to
the Group. The Group resolved
to enter into the settlement deed
in June 2019 in consideration of
receipt of the post-dated cheques
delivered by Borrower 4.
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Loan

Internal control procedures and
credit assessment on the loans

Other basis and factors considered by the
Group before agreeing to the extensions or
the change of loan terms

ARERARERIENERGRATEN

The Group's actions taken
on the incidents of defaults
(if any)
FEERENSEHRERNTY

B ERMABEEEFRESETME HtEERER (f0H)
4 At the times of granting extensions, At the request of Borrower 4, the Group Following the default of Borrower

the Group had been in close contact
with Borrower 4 in understanding,
among others, his financial needs for
extensions with the intended
repayment schedule, and performed
public searches on Borrower 4. No
news or events that may have
negative bearings on the loan or the
repayment ability of Borrower 4 was
found. Further, the Group had
periodically reviewed the full lists of
Justices of the Peace and confirmed
that Borrower 4 has still been holding
the office of the Justice of the Peace,
revealing that the credibility of
Borrower 4 remained.

RELTEEHE  AEE-—BREXA
MRFETHE  UTHR(EFBHE)
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offered a lower interest rate under Loan 4 since
November 2020 and changed the repayment
terms including the extension for bullet
repayment, having taken into account the
followings:

BEFAONER AEEE-_T_TF+—
AESERMEHBREN X - I F R K
(BREH—REEN)  EPEERUTRE:

(i

having taken into account that Borrower
4 has extensive networks in both Hong
Kong and the PRC, the Group envisages
to bolster a solid, stable and long-term
relationship with Borrower 4 and to be
benefited from any potential business or
investment opportunities as referred and
lined up by him through his extensive
networks which may be more fruitful to
the Group as compared to the interest
income to be incurred from Loan 4.
Capitalizing on the networks of
Borrower 4, the Group has gained access
to a range of potential business and
investment opportunities since 2016,
most of which were related to the
principal businesses of the Group, in
particular the metal recycle business has
materialized and become an integral
component of the Group's core
operations. The Group had been, and is
likely to continue to be, benefited from
the solid, long-standing and mutually
beneficial relationship with Borrower 4.
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4 in late 2019, the Group issued
a demand letter to Borrower 4
in March 2020 and was given
to understand that his cash flow
pressure would be eased after
his business opportunities as
contemplated in the PRC become
fruitful. However, such attempts
had been subsequently baffled
by the unprecedented COVID-19
pandemic with stringent travel
restrictions. As a gesture of
goodwill, Borrower 4 had done
his darnedest to make early partial
repayments on interests during
the period from December 2021
to October 2022 despite the
agreed bullet repayment term.
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Loan

CES

Internal control procedures and
credit assessment on the loans

ERMABEERFREEFE

Other basis and factors considered by the
Group before agreeing to the extensions or
the change of loan terms
FREARNARERA TR ERERAEEN
HpEERRE

The Group's actions taken
on the incidents of defaults
(if any)
AEEHRENSHERNTE
(tn%)

At the time of granting Loan 5, the
Group conducted relevant due
diligence work for credit risk
assessment including performing
judiciary judgment search and internet
search. No news or events that may
have negative bearings on the loan or
the repayment ability of Borrower 5
were found based on the result of
relevant public searches. In order to
control the credit risk, the Group
granted the loan in the amount of
HK$200,000 only.

RELERLE AEEREERR
ARETHESRESIE BEE
TRAEHABERREBBERR - AR
HEAHEZENER BEEREIM
AREERTANERBRENE
BEYENEEREN - REHIGEE
Rk A& B £ H & 3%200,0008
5o

At the time of granting Loan 6, the
Group conducted relevant due
diligence work for credit risk
assessment including performing
judiciary judgment search and internet
search. No news or events that may
have negative bearings on the loan or
the repayment ability of Borrower 6
were found based on the result of
relevant public searches. In order to
control the credit risk, the Group
granted the loan in the amount of
HK$500,000 with a luxury watch
valued at approximately HK$2 million
as collateral.

REHEFAR AEEREERR
AEETHBSRESIE BREE
TRAVEHABRREBBERR - AR
HARHERNER HEEREM
AR EER A AN ERIERENE
BEFYENHEREN - REHEE
Rk A& B K L E 3%500,0008
T REA-SREMNEBEINEE
FRIERERR -

To lower the credit risk for Loan 5, the Group
revised the repayment terms in September 2021
from bullet repayment to instalment repayment
in response to the request from Borrower 5 for
extension of the repayment date to
13 September 2023.

REEEFINGEERR AKER_T_——
FARBIERBER A—AUERERAD
HMEF NOEEFALBERRREREC
Z_=FAAT=AHEKR-
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Following Borrower 5's default in
repayment of the instalment loan
since the last payment made in
July 2022, the Group had issued
demand letters to demand for
immediate repayment. In May
2023, the Group collected part
of the loan receivables from
Borrower 5. The Group will
take legal action to recover the
outstanding loan receivables
from Borrower 5 amounted to
approximately HK$199,000 as at
30 June 2023.
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H&E% - RAREREE
PHERE AEEEEHES
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The Group has adhered to its internal control policies in respect of
ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability, including but not
limited to identifying irregularities from time to time and making
enquiries with the involved borrowers in order to reassess the
associated credit risks under relevant loans and the impact on loan
recoverability. The Group will continue to assess the likelihood of
recovering the outstanding loan receivables and evaluate the costs
and benefits of taking legal actions against the borrowers who
default in payment. Having considered that the aforementioned
incidents of defaults were primarily due to the global economic
downturn and poor investment market sentiments as a result of
the series of unprecedented and unforeseeable incidents (including
the United States-China trade war since mid of 2018 followed by
the Anti-Extradition Law Amendment Bill Movement in Hong Kong,
the COVID-19 pandemic and/or the interest rates hikes by the
United States) which adversely affected the financial and liquidity
conditions of the relevant borrowers, there were no reasons for
the Group to cast doubt on the effectiveness of its credit
assessment work done and the Company believes that the internal
control policies for the money lending business of the Group are
effective.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
after having made all reasonable enquiries, each of the above
borrowers and/or their respective ultimate beneficial owner(s) (if
applicable) is an Independent Third Party. Therefore, none of the
loan transactions constituted a connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save and except for the further
extension in respect of Loan 1 as disclosed under the section
headed “DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION RELATING TO FURTHER
EXTENSION OF LOAN" in the announcement published on 31 May
2023, the Company has complied with the requirements set out in
Chapter 14 and/or 14A of the Listing Rules when it granted or
extended the loans to each of the respective borrowers whose
loan were still outstanding as at 30 June 2023.
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Impairment Assessment

The Company performed impairment assessment on loan
receivables under expected credit loss (“ECL"”) model. The money
lending business is relatively inactive and small in scale as
compared to other principal businesses of the Group and the
aggregate outstanding loan receivables before loss allowance for
ECL were associated with six loans only and represented
approximately 2.2% of the total assets of the Group as at
30 June 2023, which are relatively immaterial in terms of the
aggregate value.

The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Impairments arise where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible or the borrowers’ inabilities to make timely payments.
The Group assessed various factors in its internal control
procedures to determine the probability of default and
recoverability of loan for measuring the loss allowance (if any) for
the loans, which include but limited to: (i) any significant changes
in the creditworthiness of borrower; (ii) any significant changes in
the value of the collateral or in the quality of guarantees; (iii) any
actual or expected significant adverse changes in financial
conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations; and/or (iv) past
collection history of the borrowers and any significant changes in
their behaviour such as payment status. The Group believes that
its internal control procedures in respect of ongoing monitoring of
loan recoverability are effective in identifying any significant
changes in the creditworthiness or financial conditions of the
borrowers, which in turn ensures the robust and effective
impairment assessment process.
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The Group's basis of impairment assessment for each of the loans AEBER T -_="F A=+ HEZTEE
as at 30 June 2023 are tabulated below: FETRENGEENTRAR

Factors considered by the Group in assessing the probability of default and

Borrowers recoverability of loan and the impairment as at 30 June 2023
BRA AREFGE BT ZFEAAZSTHEREOBXRRUTWEMREAEERFEEOER
Borrower 1 Given the listing status of Borrower 1, its strong net current assets and total equity positions

(which far exceeded the outstanding amount of the loan) despite loss-making position, the
Group considered there had been no significant adverse change in its repayment ability and
determined no impairment was necessary.

& — ERERT - LMt ARBERRERRE  EEFRINRBDEEFERERR
HEBBETNRERRE) A5ERLSEERENAUBERNTNES)  WEEREY
ZEITRE -

Borrower 2 Given the cancellation of listing of Borrower 2 in March 2021, the Group considered the
possibility of loan recoverability to be remote and thus recognized the impairment loss for
the entire amount of the outstanding loan receivables during the year ended 30 June 2021.
No additional provision or reversal of provision for impairment loss for the loan receivables
under Loan 2 was made during the year ended 30 June 2023.

BRAT = ERERT_R-_ZE_—F=ZABELT  AEERRKLERO TR/ - Bk E &
ECRC—FRA=STHIEFENAREERRER 2 REAREER BE_T _=FX
A=+HILEFE BMEXRER B THNERKERTIREIINRESEEFREHERED -

Borrower 3 Given no adverse change in the value of collateral and no incidents of default by Borrower
3, the Group considered there had been no significant adverse change in its repayment
ability and determined no impairment was necessary.

BT = ERAFREETEINEGHRERT =T REOEH ARERAEERENLEEX
THEZE WEELBELEEITRE -
Borrower 4 Upon conducting a bankruptcy search at the Official Receiver’'s Office in August 2023, a

bankruptcy record associated with Borrower 4 was found. It was revealed that Borrower 4
has been summoned for a hearing initially scheduled in August 2023, but it was
subsequently rescheduled to October 2023. Considering the prudence of loan recoverability,
the Group recognized an impairment loss for the entire outstanding loan receivables during
the year ended 30 June 2023.

877 M RIB_=F)\AAEREEESONFRETHRER SR - BIREERH NAEBNKET
B ZBREFTUCEEALENTIER S _=F N\ABRTHERA HEZRMAERNK
HE_Z-_=F+A -KEEZRERXRTRON AEERBE_ZT_=FXA=1tHI
FEAREHBAREERKE RERRNEERE -

Borrower 5 Owing to the non-repayment by Borrower 5 at the material time during the year ended
30 June 2023 (save for partial payments made in July 2022 and May 2023), the Group
considered the possibility of loan recoverability to be remote and thus recognized the
impairment loss for the entire amount of the outstanding loan receivables during the year
ended 30 June 2023.

(CE- Wl HRERTEARBE T _=Z=F A AA=ZTHLFEANBERBEATEER(RRN - =
FLARCZ_=FRAAMBOIMNFIN AEERRERATWE L AT REMF EM - MRE
E_R_—FRA=THLEFEAREHAREBERKRERERREER -

Borrower 6 Given no adverse change in the value of collateral and no incidents of default by Borrower

6, the Group considered there had been no significant adverse change in its repayment

ability and determined no impairment was necessary.
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Securities Trading and Investment Business

The Group maintained a very cautious approach and did not
participate in new securities trading during the year. Performance
of the prices of the invested stocks were down. As at 30 June
2023, size of the securities investment portfolio amounted to
approximately HK$725,000 (2022: approximately HK$961,000).

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group recorded a net loss
on fair value changes in investments at fair value through profit or
loss of the invested stocks of approximately HK$236,000 (2022:
approximately HK$167,000).

Details of the Group’s investments at fair value through profit or
loss of the invested stocks are set out in the sub-section headed
“Significant Investments”.

Green Technology

There was no revenue on the green technology for the year (2022:
Nil).

Hotel and Related Business

The Group owns a hotel located at Thamel district, Kathmandu,
Nepal, which started operation in July 2022. The hotel has around
40 guest rooms with a Chinese restaurant on the first floor and a
Japanese restaurant on the ground floor. For the year ended
30 June 2023, the revenue from the hotel and related business
amounted to approximately HK$2,184,000 (2022: Nil).
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PROSPECTS

After three depressive years of pandemic, we finally saw the end
of it. The most joyful news during this year end must be the
belated lifting of all COVID-19 restrictions both in the PRC and
Hong Kong. Fortunately, also, experience of many countries of
waves of its massive up and down before COVID-19 infection
really flattened did not occur. Normalcy before the pandemic is
restoring. Positive things do not stop with lifting of the pandemic
measures. Another normalcy, unique to Hong Kong, is the
concrete restoration of law and order. With the national security
laws being effectively administered, normal and stable social lives
in Hong Kong have re-emerged. Happened also was top leaders in
PRC and Hong Kong had been confirmed and, without any doubt,
they will lead us to face all challenges ahead. Further, economy
contraction happened for three consecutive years since 2019 had
ended and local GDP growth was projected by the government to
expand 4% to 5% this year. Except exports, growth was recorded
up to the second quarter in GDP, consumer price and value of
retail sales. Local labour market continued improving. For sure, the
economy continued to recover.

However, recently many economists cut their forecasts for Hong
Kong's economic growth, raising the possibility the government
could miss its goal for the post-pandemic recovery runs off of
steam. Expectations of a robust recovery did not happened, but
rather a return toward a semblance of normalcy. There are doubts
that Hong Kong may not meet government estimates at all. We
have struggled this year to regain its appeal as global retail haven,
underscoring the damage caused by its years of pandemic
isolation. However, tourists are not coming in the same numbers
as they did before social unrests in 2019 and pandemic
restrictions in the following years. That's translated into weak
consumer spending, with the value of retail sales in June hitting
the lowest for any June since 2011, after stripping out 2019-2022
figures. All in all, confidence is shaking.

High global interest rates remain a feature this year and shall
remain in 2024 with no sign of turning around. That will hinder
the best effort from Hong Kong as it tries to shake off its political
and pandemic blues. The economy is also facing challenges from
PRC’s slowing momentum, soft global demand and the potential
for local spending habits to taper off. More and more capitals are
draining out of Hong Kong. The Hong Kong government has yet
to devise a comprehensive plan, instead of isolated or piece meal
activities, to rebuild confidence. These are issues that we are
facing and need to aware of for planning our business strategy.

The Group shall continue to maintain a cautious approach when
considering any new business opportunities and exercise more
controls over operating costs and overheads.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 30 June 2023, revenue of the Group
decreased by 9.4% to approximately HK$84,414,000 (2022:
approximately HK$93,188,000) and gross profit of the Group
decreased by 28.8% to approximately HK$15,061,000 (2022:
approximately HK$21,153,000). Loss for the year ended 30 June
2023 increased to approximately HK$35,200,000 as compared to
loss of approximately HK$14,828,000 of last corresponding year.
The decrease in both revenue and gross profit for the year was
mainly due to the decrease in revenue from the motor and motor
accessories business of the Group. The loss for the year was
mainly due to administrative and operating expenses, loss arising
from changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets,
provision for impairment loss of receivables and finance cost. The
Group considers that the change in fair value is non-cash in
nature and will not have material adverse effect on the financial
position of the Group.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, basic and diluted loss per share
were HK2 cent (2022: HK1 cent). Loss arising from changes in fair
value less costs to sell of biological assets was approximately
HK$16,556,000 (2022: gain approximately HK$10,018,000). Fair
value loss on investment properties was approximately
HK$1,918,000 (2022: Nil).

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the finance costs were
approximately HK$4,133,000 (2022: approximately HK$3,608,000).
Administrative expenses from operations for the year ended
30 June 2023 increased to approximately HK$43,725,000 (2022:
approximately HK$41,408,000). It included major items such as
amortisation of intangible assets of approximately HK$4,742,000,
salaries and directors’ emoluments of approximately
HK$13,861,000 and expenses related to short-term leases of
approximately HK$712,000. Income tax credit was recorded at
approximately HK$4,934,000 (2022: expenses approximately
HK$1,606,000). Exchange loss on translating foreign operations
was recorded at approximately HK$24,941,000 (2022:
approximately HK$8,404,000).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 June 2023, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$718,692,000 (2022: approximately
HK$780,508,000), including cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$5,640,000 (2022: approximately HK$6,295,000).
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The Group’s total borrowings as at 30 June 2023 were
approximately HK$74,148,000 (2022: approximately
HK$68,215,000). The Group’s gearing ratio (which was expressed
as a percentage of total borrowings over total equity) was
approximately 15.6% as at 30 June 2023 (2022: approximately
12.7%).

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’'s net assets amounted to
approximately HK$476,320,000 (2022: approximately
HK$536,469,000).

The directors of the Company are of the view that the Group has
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future.

Significant Investments
As at 30 June 2023, the Group held investments at fair value

through profit or loss of the invested stocks of approximately
HK$725,000. Details of the significant investments are as follows:
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Place of losses on listed through profit the net assets
Stock Name Note Stock Code incorporation securities Market value or loss of the Group
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GoFintech Innovation Limited T 29 Cayman Islands 80 219 30.2 0.05
(formerly known as
China Fortune Financia\ Group Ltd.
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Dingyi Group Investment Ltd. 2 508 Bermuda 5 113 15.6 0.02
SEEEREFRRA BRE
Wai Chun Group Holdings Ltd. 31013 Bermuda 125 144 19.9 0.03
BEEEERAERA BRE
Hang Sang (Siu Po) Internat\onal Holding 4 3626 Cayman Islands 26 249 343 0.05
Co Ltd HeEE
236 725 100 0.15

THRREEREEBRAF

—E=EFR



Management Discussion and Analysis
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Notes:

GoFintech Innovation Limited (formerly known as China Fortune Financial
Group Ltd.) is a Hong Kong-based investment holding company
principally engaged in securities brokerage and margin financing. The
Company operates its business through five segments. The Securities
Brokerage and Margin Financing segment is engaged in securities
brokerage and margin financing in Hong Kong. The Money Lending
segment is engaged in the provision of money lending services in Hong
Kong. The Corporate Finance segment is engaged in the provision of
corporate finance services. The Asset Management segment is engaged
in the provision of asset management and advisory services and financial
investment management to professional investors. The Consultancy and
Insurance Brokerage segment is engaged in the provision of consultancy
services and insurance brokerage services in Hong Kong. No dividend
was received for the year ended 30 June 2023. According to its latest
published financial statements, it had a net asset value of approximately
HK$296,469,000 as at 31 March 2023.

Dingyi Group Investment Limited is an investment holding company
principally engaged in the business of loan financing. Together with its
subsidiaries, the Company operates business through its five segments.
The Loan Financing Business segment is involved in the loan financing
through its surplus funds. The Properties Development Business segment
is involved in the construction and sale of properties. The Food and
Beverages Business segment is involved in the operation of a restaurant
in Beijing, China. The Securities Trading Business segment is involved in
the investment of securities trading business. Together with the Other
Business segment. In addition, the Company is also involved in the
trading of wine. No dividend was received for the year ended 30 June
2023. According to its latest published financial statements, it had a net
asset value of approximately HK$1,256,731,000 as at 31 March 2023.

Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited is an investment holding company
mainly engaged in the sale of mobile phones and electronic
components. Along with subsidiaries, the Company operates its business
through three segments. The General Trading segment is engaged in the
distribution of mobile phones and electronic components. The Service
Income segment is involved in the design, consultation and
manufacturing of information system software and provides related
management training services. The Sales and Integrated Services segment
is engaged in the sale of computer and communication systems and
provides related integration services. In addition, the Company also
provides telecommunications infrastructure solution services. No dividend
was received for the year ended 30 June 2023. According to its latest
published financial statements, it had net liabilities of approximately
HK$230,796,000 as at 31 March 2023.

Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding Company Limited is an
investment holding company. The Company is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sale of apparel labels and packaging printing
products. The Company’s products include hangtags, size tapes, labels,
such as woven labels, heat transfer labels and printed labels, header
cards, stickers, price tickets, plastic packaging bags and packaging
boxes. Its subsidiaries include Hang Sang (Siu Po) Holding Limited, Hang
Sang (Siu Po) Press Company Limited and A W Printing & Packaging
Limited. No dividend income was received for the year ended 30 June
2023. According to its latest published financial statements, it had a net
asset value of approximately HK$56,708,000 as at 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEERBENWR DN

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had 39 (2022: 60) employees. The
Group implements remuneration policy, bonus and share option
scheme to ensure that pay scales of its employees are rewarded
on a performance related basis within the general framework of
the Group’s remuneration.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP ASSETS

As at 30 June 2023, the bank loans of approximately
HK$74,148,000 were secured by (i) the car parking spaces with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$191,900,000; (ii)
a deed of assignment of rental income from the car parking
spaces; (iii) the keyman insurance contract classified under the
investments at fair value through profit or loss with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$18,908,000; and (iv)
personal guarantee from a director of the Company.

DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company do not recommend or declare the
payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June
2023 (2022: Nil).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group conducted most of its business in Great British Pound,
Euro, Renminbi, United States Dollar, Nepalese Rupee and Hong
Kong Dollars for the year ended 30 June 2023. The Group has
transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from the
business operations in the PRC denominated in RMB. As at
30 June 2023, the Group had a minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions were principally
denominated in the respective functional currencies used by the
respective group entities.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of its foreign currency assets and liabilities. The Group will
closely monitor its foreign currency exposure and will consider
using hedging instruments in respect of significant foreign
currency exposure as and when appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWmR DM

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES HAERE

As at 30 June 2023, the directors of the Company are not aware A= =FXA=+H &R 7§$I

of any material contingent liabilities (2022: Nil). T%ﬂ ﬁfiﬂﬁkiﬁ‘%ﬁ —ZT=-=
) o

Yeung Chi Hang BEIE

Chairman TE

Hong Kong, 29 September 2023 HEE ZTZ=FNA=+hA8
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Biographical Details of Directors
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, aged 44, was appointed as Executive
Director on 16 January 2014. Mr. Yeung was also appointed as
the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company on
27 January 2015 and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee on 25 September 2023.
Mr. Yeung is a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Yeung studied at Camosun College, Canada and has over 10
years of experience in investment, hotel management and in
operating entertainment businesses.

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, aged 67, was appointed as Executive
Director on 6 October 2008. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor of Social
Science Degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He had
been working for 10 years in the marketing department of Hang
Lung Development Ltd. since graduation. Mr. Leung had also
served the positions of executive director of Top Glory
International Holdings Limited, China Foods Limited, Cheung Tai
Hong Holdings Limited, and an independent non-executive director
of Top Spring International Holdings Limited (stock code: 3688),
all of which are companies with shares listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Leung has over 28 years of
real estate and business experience in Hong Kong and Mainland
China concentrating in property investment and development,
acquisition and merger, deal marking and investment projects
arrangement. He was as an independent non-executive director of
Rainbow Digital Commercial Co., Ltd. (stock code: 002419SZ) and
Smartac International Holdings Limited (former stock code: 395
and listing cancelled on 20 February 2023) from 19 September
2019 and 31 March 2022 respectively.

Mr. Wong Po Keung, aged 52, was appointed as Executive
Director on 30 September 2013. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company and the financial controller of the
Company. Mr. Wong holds a Master degree in business
administration from the University of South Australia. He is a
fellow member of both the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has ample experience in auditing, accounting,
financial management and company secretarial practices in respect
of listed companies. He is as an independent non-executive
director of FSM Holdings Limited (stock code: 1721) from 8 April
2020.
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Mr. Chung Siu Wah, aged 66, was appointed as Executive
Director on 14 August 2014. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chung started his career in 1976
by joining the Hong Kong Government as a Customs Inspector. He
obtained his law degree with honour at the University of London
in 1986 and further obtained his Postgraduate Certificate of Laws
at University of Hong Kong in 1987. He resigned from the
Customs and Excise Department in 1987 and started his legal
career. He has been a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong since
1989. He joined Messer. Tony Kan & Co. in 1987 and became a
partner in 1992. He retired from the partnership in 2004 but
continues to associate with the law firm as a consultant till now.
Mr. Chung has over 8 years of experience in the hotel, gaming
and entertainment industry. Mr. Chung has also experience in the
management of listed company in Hong Kong. He was as an
executive director of Daido Group Limited (stock code: 544) for
the period from 9 September 2011 to 5 August 2013.

Mr. Chik To Pan, aged 44, was appointed as Executive Director
on 15 April 2016. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Chik has wide experience in licensing of
karaoke music products, operating entertainment businesses and
wedding service businesses. Mr. Chik has also experience in the
management of listed company in Hong Kong. He was as an
executive director of United Power Investment Limited (now
named as China Tangshang Holdings Limited) (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 674) for the
period from 8 March 2005 to 24 January 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang, aged 71, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 2 March 2009. He was also
as a member of the audit committee and as a chairman of each
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company from 25 September 2023. Mr. Wong had been an
Independent Non-executive Director, member of audit committee
and member of remuneration committee of the Company since
3 July 2002. He resigned on 4 July 2008 as he himself had a long
term personal assignment stationed in Shanghai. Mr. Wong had
completed his assignment in Shanghai and returned to Hong
Kong. He holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a property consultant and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators
and the Australian Institute of Building respectively.
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Mr. Ong Chi King, aged 50, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director on 27 January 2014. He was also the
chairman of audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee. Mr. Ong is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Ong
received a bachelor's degree in business administration from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a master’s
degree in corporate finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.

Mr. Ong has more than 20 years of experience in accounting,
finance and company secretarial fields and held senior positions in
finance and company secretarial departments in various listed
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Currently, he is a director of a consultancy firm providing
accounting and compliance services and also a director of a
construction group in Hong Kong. He resigned as an executive
director of Smart City Development Holdings Limited (stock code:
8268) with effect from 29 July 2019. He resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Larry Jewelry International
Company Limited (former stock code: 8351 and listing cancelled
on 15 December 2021) with effect from 1 October 2019.

Mr. Ong resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director and
the Chairman of each of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee with effect from
25 September 2023.

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric, aged 55, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director on 16 January 2015. He is
also a member of audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee. He is a qualified solicitor admitted to the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong and a Civil Celebrant of Marriages.
Mr. Heung received a bachelor’s degree in Law from University of
Leicester England. He has more than 22 years of experience in the
legal profession. Mr. Heung is presently a partner of Messrs. Wong
Heung Sum & Lawyers, consultant of Messrs. Tung, Ng, Tse &
Lam, Solicitors, director of Lions Club of Kwai Tsing HKSAR,
committee legal adviser of the Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Shandong’s Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, executive committee member of Basic Law Institute
Limited, Honorary President of Hong Kong Guangxi Beihai City
Friendship Association Limited Standing Council and committee
member of USRC Standing Disciplinary. He was as an independent
non-executive director of Gold Tat Group International Limited
(now known as Zhuoxin International Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 8266) for the period from 18 August 2000 to 3 March
2015. He resigned as an independent non-executive director of
Zhong Fa Zhan Holdings Limited (stock code: 475) and WE
Solutions Limited (Stock Code: 860) with effect from 20 October
2017 and 17 December 2018 respectively.
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Report of the Directors
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The Board has pleasure to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in metal recycle business, motor and
motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money
lending business, golden flower tea products trading, securities
trading and investment business. The Group also maintains the
green businesses of research, development and application of
technologies and solutions, manufacture, sale and trading of
products, materials, systems and services for green market
segments including the environmental markets, agricultural
markets, organic markets, green technology markets in the PRC
and overseas. The Group has a hotel business in Nepal.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 162 to
163.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 76 to 77.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group and an analysis of the Group's
performance during the vyear using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 30 of this annual report.

Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing can be found in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 110 to 116 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group puts great emphasis on environmental protection and
sustainable development. The conscientious use of resources and
the adoption of best practices across the Group’s businesses
underlie its commitment to safeguarding the environment. The
Group encourages environmental protection, complies with
environmental legislations and promotes awareness towards
environmental protection to its employees. Several measures have
been implemented by the Group in order to promote
environmental protection, including, among others:

(i)  promoting energy saving by encouraging its staff to switch
off all air-conditioners and lightings before leaving the
office, and to utilize the timer-control function of all air-
conditioning systems;

(i) reducing energy consumption by using energy-saving light
bulbs in the corridors and the reception area of its offices;

(iii)  promoting recycling by placing recycle bins next to printers
for collecting used papers for reusing and recycling
purposes, and by encouraging two-sided printing and/or the
use of scratch papers; and

(iv) reducing the use of disposable products by, for example,
cancelling the distribution of plastic bags in office.

The report of Environmental, Social and Governance of the Group
will be available at the HKEXnews website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk), Singapore
Exchange Limited (www.sgx.com) and Company's website
(www.cergroup.com.hk).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this
report, the Group have complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the Mainland China and Hong Kong that have a
significant impact on the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 77.4% of the total sales
for the year and the sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 46.2%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 97.4% of the total
purchases for the year and the purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 55.8%.

THRREEREEBRAF

R I IR 58 IR

FEESEERRERERUFELE -
AEBEABERERE TREBKBREPE
BEFERAERMERGEEER - ASBEHB
RERERETREZN SHiEeEE
E’JJ"E%%E%?E%& AEBEHRISE TRE

RIBIRE BIEBTERER

() EETEBEIHRENAZSEEME
EALBHEIE  UEMBEEHARSR
A ERI R EFAL

(i FRREBRPDNEEFREFEHE
kuﬁ/@/ﬂ@yﬁb/ /ﬁ%%

(i) BBAEFTENHE S 12 R E BIUR U S
ARRER  AHERRERDK - X
R kB BT T EN Ko, Sl A RE AL (R 3
BERAMA &

(V) AR
TRE BRI -

REE A A

AEBZRE e kERREB8TER
BEARGREEMBER LA HES B U
(www.hkexnews.hk) ~ #7113 2 5 FT B [R
A Al 48 uh(www.sgx.com) & A& A &) 49 b
(www.cergroup.com.hk) °

BT ERRIER

REBEZZE_=F"A=THLEFEEH#H
EABREEH AEBCETHAEEREA
BEARENTREKREREENEMREE
BNER -

FEERRMER

REBEFR  REBRAAXTEFPFNHEEE
AR FEAEERELNTT A% @ EREFEA
BEEHEEEI62% - AREB B T A F’EFﬁ
MRBENANFEEAREIELNT 4% H
e &N E B (S 4955.8% ©

—E=EFR



Report of the Directors

EETEREE

None of Directors, any of their associates or any substantial
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five
largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group’s management policies, working environment, career
prospects and employees’ benefits have contributed to building a
good employee relations and employee retention of the Group.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice and provides various fringe
benefits to employees including medical benefits, social insurance,
provident funds, bonuses and a share option scheme. The
management regularly reviews its employee’s remuneration
packages to ensure they are up to prevailing market standard. The
Group keeps a high standard in selecting reputable and reliable
suppliers, in order to meet our own quality, safety, environmental
and product criteria. During the year ended 30 June 2023 and up
to the date of this report, the Group maintained good relationship
with its suppliers. The Group has a well-established business
relationship with the customers.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend or declare the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement of the
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 29 November 2023 to Monday,
4 December 2023 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of share(s) will be effected. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all transfers
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must
be lodged with Union Registrars Limited, the branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong, at
Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338
King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 28 November 2023.
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SEGMENTS INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
operating segments for the financial year is set out in Note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company and its movements
during the year ended 30 June 2023 are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 80.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 June 2023 amounted
to approximately HK$161,791,000. Under section 34 of the
Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium is available for distribution to the Shareholders subject to
the provisions of the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), and no distribution may be paid to the
Shareholders out of the Company’s share premium unless the
Company shall be able to pay its debt as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the
year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledge of assets during the year are set out in Note 19
to the consolidated financial statements.

THRREEREEBRAF

SEES
RABEEREED#E D 2 A KB
S REEERMOMBRGAMFHRRME
9o

Rz &

AARRBE-ZT=-_=F<A=1tHLLF
EHBRAFBEREEHBERENGAMB
R EE34 -

i

AEBEFAFREZLDFIBEHNFORMAE
R EE EE

o] 53 ik fi 8

KRB —_E-_=ZFA=Z1THHA DK
REE#/2161,791,0008 70 - IRIERSEHS
N alE(BEIEE]) 8341 - I @ B r 95k
FHRE HBABTAQRAFMAHEZIEAE
([BEEERAA]D MBS BRIERRQRTA
EEI BEKBREPIMNEPELE T
SEARRARBRMEERREERDIK -

M HERBRHE

FAME BMERRBZEHFBHRER
B BHmERMET -

BEEHH

FRCEEOGHFEBIRIRGE
B 519 o

IR E

TR EFR



Report of the Directors

EETEREE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi
Mr. Wong Po Keung
Mr. Chung Siu Wah
Mr. Chik To Pan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang
Mr. Ong Chi King

(resigned on 25 September 2023)
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi,
Mr. Chik To Pan and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric being the
existing Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will
retire by rotation and being eligible offer themselves for
re-election.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Company and its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of Independent Non-
executive Director, a written annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

The nomination committee of the Company and the Board
considered that all Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2023, the interests and short positions held by each
Director and chief executive of the Company and their associates
in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporation, if any, (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the

Company

EERRSTHASRKMG 8
B REHZELR
RZEZ=F /NG

R = 2 /N %
PESTHRAENEZEZHEANRKAQR
SETMAMABE LB (ME)(TERELANE
‘EMENf S5 N EREAEH ) EXVER) 2 &
AR KESPBE AN R ARE
ﬁ&%f%%%%ﬂwﬁ Z§£ﬁ£ﬁ
z% shEA %ﬁﬁtmﬁ%%ﬁ+%
HIETETAZEZETEFRINIZE
WUH*#WD@%QK 7&%&%2
B EEEMT

4\

RAEATRGRHEFKRBZRE

Number of shares/underlying shares held in

the Company

FEAATRE HAHkGHE

Total interests
as to % to the
issued share

Interest under capital as at

Capacity in which Interests in equity Total 30 June 2023

Name of Director interests are held shares derivatives interests (Note)

R-®Z=

~A=+B#ER

WEEE8T

REBEBRETE BEZzEH

ESga BEEZEZSH BiptEs TITRZER HREE (MisE)

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang Beneficial owner 511,236,000 16,942,817 528,178,817 25.94%
mEELE EnEEA

Mr. Chung Siu Wah Beneficial owner — 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
BOEEE ERBAA

Mr. Chik To Pan Beneficial owner == 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
RN EnBAA

Mr. Wong Po Keung Beneficial owner — 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
BEREEE ExEEA

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi Beneficial owner — 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.07%
RELRHE ERBAA

Mr. Ong Chi King Beneficial owner — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
TFEEAE ExnBAA

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
BEERE ExEEA

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric Beneficial owner — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
FEEEE ERBAA
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any other personal, family, corporate and other
interests or short positions in shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a
share option scheme on 11 November 2015 (the “2015 Share
Option Scheme”).

Details of the 2015 Share Option Scheme are as follows:
(@) Purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme is to provide
the Group with a flexible means of giving incentive to,
rewarding, remunerating and/or providing benefits to the
eligible persons and to provide the eligible persons with all
opportunity to acquire a personal stake in the Group and to
build common objectives of the Group and the eligible
persons for the betterment of business and profitability of
the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

Eligible persons, according to the 2015 Share Option
Scheme, means: (a) any eligible employee; (b) any
non-executive director (including any independent non-
executive director) of the Company, any subsidiary or any
invested entity; (c) chief executive or any substantial
shareholder of the Company; (d) any consultant or
professional advisor to the Company, any subsidiary or any
invested entity; (e) any associate of director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company; or (f) any
discretionary object of a discretionary trust established by
any of the above-mentioned persons.

(b) Who may join
The Board may, at its discretion, invite any eligible persons

to take up options at a price calculated in accordance with
sub-paragraph (g) below.
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(c)

(d)

Upon acceptance of the option, the eligible person shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the
grant. The option will be offered for acceptance for such
period as may be determined by the Board.

Total number of shares of the Company available
for issue

The Company refreshed the scheme mandate limit at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
29 July 2016 (the "2016 EGM”) and at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 11 December 2020 (the
“2020 AGM").

At the 2020 AGM, an ordinary resolution was passed by the
shareholders of the Company approving the refreshment of
the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Company was allowed to
grant options up to 203,653,811 shares, which is equivalent
to approximately 10% of the aggregate number of the
issued Shares at the date of the 2020 AGM and as at 1 July
2022 and 30 June 2023.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to a participant under
the 2015 Share Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue from time to time,
provided that if approved by shareholders in general meeting
with such participant and his associates abstaining from
voting, the Company may make a further grant to such
participant.

In relation to the further grant, the Company shall send a
circular to the shareholders, which discloses the identity of
the relevant participant, the number and the terms of the
options to be granted (and options previously granted to
such participant under the 2015 Share Option Scheme and
other scheme) and the information required under the
Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the exercise
price) of options which is the subject of the further grant
shall be fixed before the relevant shareholdersapproval and
the date of meeting of the Board meeting for proposing the
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the
purpose of calculating the relevant subscription price.
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(e)

(f)

(9)

Period of the 2015 Share Option Scheme

The 2015 Share Option Scheme remains valid for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date of 11 November 2015
after which period no further options may be granted but
the provisions of the 2015 Share Option Scheme shall
remain in all other respects in full force and effect in respect
of any options granted prior thereto but not yet exercised at
the time of termination, which shall continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant.

Time of exercise of option

Unless the Board determines otherwise, an option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2015 Share
Option Scheme at any time during which shall not exceed
10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. The 2015 Share Option Scheme
does not require a minimum period for which an option
must be held or a performance target which must be
achieved before an option can be exercised.

Price of the shares

The subscription price for the shares subject to options will
be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
participant and will be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares on the Main Board as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the Option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares on the Main Board as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of a share.

The Company should also comply with the new requirements
under the amended chapter 17 of the listing rules of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange Limited.
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The following table set out movements in the Company’s share NXR&HIBRE - T — A FEIET 2|J b5
options granted under the 2015 Share Options Scheme during the H 2 &R 7%&%%@ NZEH
year:
Number of Share Options
BREYE
Exercise As at As at
Capacity Date of Grant price Exercisable period 1 July 2022 Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed 30 June 2023
Rz S RZB-=%
EL REBH fTfEf 78 —E ERE EffE E#H EX% #AZ+H
Executive Directors
YiTES
Yeung Chi Hang 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 AprJJ 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - - - — 14,142,817
BEE ZE-AFRAZTZA Z Rﬁ@ﬂ J— RE
ZEZAEMAZ+-H
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 2,800,000 - — - - 2,800,000
ZZ-\FXRER /\E/\ﬂﬁﬁi
ZEZN\ERAEA
Chung Siu Wah 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - — - — 14142817
g ZE-~EEA=TZH ZE- ERA-tZHZ
“E-RFNAZT+-A
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 2,800,000 - - - - 2,800,000
“Z-\EXAAA - J\i/\ﬂfﬁﬁi
ZEZN\ERAEA
Chik To Pan 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - - - — 14142817
HER “E-EEA-tZH “E-AE@A-TZRE
“RCREMAZT-H
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 2,800,000 - - - - 2,800,000
—Z-\EXAHA “Z2-\¥5ARHZ
—7—A¢AEEH
Wong Po Keung 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 Apru 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - - - — 14,142,817
% ZE-~fmAZTZH -7 /\ﬁﬂﬂ T=
—= 7/\ E E H ‘J‘
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 2,800,000 - — - - 2,800,000
ZZ-\EXRER /\E/\ﬂﬁﬁi
ZEZN\ERAEA
Leung Kwon Choi 5 June 2018 0317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,500,000 — — — — 1,500,000
RET ZZ-N\EXAER -\ ARAZE
—7—A¢AEEH
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUEHTES
Ong Chi King 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,000,000 - . . - 1,000,000
TFH —Z-\fXAAA —Z- J\i/\ﬂfﬁﬁi
ZEZN\EXAEA
Wong Kwai Sang 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,000,000 g — - - 1,000,000
5E ZZ-\EXRER “E-N\ERARAE
ZEZN\ERAMA
Heung Chee Hang, Eric 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000
S —Z-N\EXAER “Z-\fAARRHE
—7—A¢AEEH
Employees
EI
An employee 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 AprJJ 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - — - — 14142817
—£8T1 - E¥MmA=t+ZA z Rﬁ@ﬂ + =
ZEZAEMAZ+-H
Employees 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 18,700,000 - - s — 18,700,000
81 “E-\%~A1H /\i/\ﬂﬁﬁi
ZEZN\EXAEA
105,114,085 — B - — 105,114,085
smanzzrmansa —2== =+ (NN
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The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the
date of grant of the options were HK$0.202 and HK$0.320 on
22 April 2016 and 5 June 2018 respectively.

As at 30 June 2023, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
105,114,085 shares of the Company were outstanding,
representing 5.16% of the shares in issue of the Company as at
30 June 2023 and the date of this report.

No option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the
year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2023, the following persons, other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of shares and underlying shares of the
Company or its subsidiaries according to the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

RZE—ARFNA-+ZBEZ=_FT—N\F
ANARR AR BREERERLE B
Z Rt W B o Bl £0.20278 7T K%0.320%8
ﬁo

RZE-_=FA=+H" RE KRN A
é#mmmo&hhfz%k%%%ﬁ

F HARRR-_ZE-_=FA=1+HK
e HE5.16% 0 BTG

%

MEBRENFRNERL 176
SRR o

FERRRIxG  HEARGRES
ZHEm

RIEFES MGG E336IKBFEZER
ft RZZE-_=FXA=+B U TFTAZL
(PIEBEFERARAEBTERAE)RAR
RIENB AR 2D RBEBRDTHES
5% ErERIERENT

AL

Capacity in which

Number of shares/underlying shares
held in the Company

FiEATIRG HARGEE
Total interest as to
% to the issued
share capital as at
30 June 2023

Name of shareholders interests are held Interest in shares Total interest (Note)
R=-ZF==
~NA=+H#EE

HEHCBRITERE

BEES BAEESEZSH B = iR ZE b (MiskE)

Mr. Chu Ying Man Beneficial Owner 135,000,000 135,000,000 6.63%

REX e E En#EEA

Note: b aF -

The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company's issued  #HBEBE D LLIE T = NA=Z+TBARBE BT

share capital of 2,036,538,114 shares as at 30 June 2023.

=% =
fi% 752,036,538, 1140% & E & E -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for 2015 Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time
during the year, was the Company or any of its associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate and
none of the Directors or their spouses or children under 18 years
of age was granted any right to subscribe for any shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any of its associated corporations.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, there were no transactions which need to be
disclosed as connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "continuing connected
transaction”, no transactions, arrangement or contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance, to which the Company or any its
subsidiaries was a party in which a Shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

The Board was not aware that during the year ended 30 June
2023, the Directors did have interests in any businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group.
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Report of the Directors

EETEREE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed
securities on the Stock Exchange.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had 39 employees (2022: 60
employees). The Group implements remuneration policy, bonus
and share options scheme to ensure that pay scales of its
employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the
general framework of the Group’s remuneration.

DONATIONS

During the vyear,
donations.

the Group did not make any charitable

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as disclosed in the Annual
Report, no equity-linked agreement was entered during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he is
acquitted. The Company has taken out insurance against the
liability and costs associated with defending any proceedings
which may be brought against Directors of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
enough public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of Directors.
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Report of the Directors

EEgHRES
AUDITORS % BB
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year AEBE#HZE T -_=—FXA=1+HILFE

Zl

ended 30 June 2023 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA HWHGAMBRERCHARARZEBEMHESL
Limited as auditors of the Company. A resolution will be proposed E&:tFIEBAMAERQATEZ - AR K
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to REEBRRBFAES LIZEREE HE
reappoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditors of the HREZESHMEBKHAMARAAAERNRQR

Company. % B A -

On behalf of the Board RERE=S=S

China Environmental Resources Group Limited FEIREEREEFARAT
Yeung Chi Hang B

Chairman BEE

Hong Kong, 29 September 2023 58 ZTZ=FNLA=1+hAH
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance practice. The Company stresses the
importance of maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring
that the Directors possess a wide range of expertise and the
effective implementation of an accountability system, so as to
ensure that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper manner.

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and
strategy, and has satisfied itself that the Group’s culture is
aligned. Acting with integrity and leading by example, the
Directors promote the desired culture to instill and continually
reinforce across the Group the values of acting lawfully, ethically
and responsibly. The Company aims to becoming a recognized
company that develops and grows with environment caring.

The Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rule Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) for the year ended
30 June 2023, except the followings:

Code provisions C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provision also stipulate, inter alia, the role and responsibility of the
chairman of the board and the chief executive.

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company on 27 January 2015.
Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has assumed both roles. The
Directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer in the same
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more effective planning, management
and execution of long-term business strategies, as well as ensuring
effective oversight of management. The Directors were also of the
view that the present structure was considered to be appropriate
under the circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep
review of its current board structure from time to time.

Mr. Ong Chi King has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of each of the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company effective from 25 September 2023 in order to devote
more time to his other business commitments.
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Following the resignation of Mr. Ong, the Company has two
independent non-executive Directors and the audit committee
comprises of two members only. As a result of the foregoing, the
Company is not in compliance with the requirements of (i) rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules that the Board must include at least
three independent non-executive Directors and at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise; (ii) rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules that the
number of independent non-executive Directors must represent at
least one-third of the Board; and (iii) rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
that the audit committee must comprise a minimum of three
members, at least one of whom is an independent non-executive
director with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise as required under rule
3.10(2). The Company will use its best endeavors to identify
suitable candidate to fill the vacancies of independent
non-executive Director and the membership of the audit
committee as soon as practicable.

THE BOARD

The Board is charged with the responsibility of leadership and
control of the Group. The Board promotes success of the Group
and makes decisions objectively in the best interests of the Group.

The Board’s role is mainly to direct and supervise the affairs of the
Group, establish its strategic directions and set objectives and
business development plans. The Board authorizes the
management to manage the day-to-day business operation of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the various Board committees and the Chief
Executive Officer.

The Company has developed a schedule of matters reserved to the
Board for decisions. The Board will review those arrangements on
a regular basis to ensure that the arrangements meet the needs of
the Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises seven Directors with five Executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi,
Mr. Wong Po Keung, Mr. Chung Siu Wah and Mr. Chik To Pan
and two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong
Kwai Sang and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

During the year, the Board held six board meetings, including,
four regular meetings, and if necessary, had also transacted its
business by written resolutions. The Directors participated these
meetings in person or through electronic means of
communication. The attendance of Board meetings of each
Director during the year is set out as below:

EEE2AM

EEeRMALRESAR DAL HIT
EEHEELE - REALE - ERBE
EEOBEERBEBEEEN BT
T EEeE A EA RELELLE -

ﬁAim EFeHABRTANETS (BEN
REHRGHE) TREZEFEEMIAZRRE
BHEB E2HRFIBEREFHEAMAR
,\aii‘a\%ox%%ﬂﬁﬂﬂﬁf%%’*
DEMIBEREINRN TR

IﬂE} \Xy

Name of Directors

Number of Board meetings
attended/Number of Board
meetings held

EHEESEEE, ﬂ/
EEna EETESTEFERARY
Executive Directors BWITES
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEELEE 6/6
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RESFE 6/6
Mr. Wong Po Keung mIRR ST HE 6/6
Mr. Chung Siu Wah fE L & 5/6
Mr. Chik To Pan BB S A 6/6
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFEBITES
Mr. Ong Chi King FFRAEER=ZF=Z=F 6/6

(resigned on 25 September 2023) NA=Z+H 55?/:21)

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEAESLE 6/6
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BAEELE 3/6
For regular Board meeting, a notice of the meeting is sent to all RWITHEBREETC R BReHRTE
Directors at least 14 days before the intended date of meeting HAZELI4ARZEEETFTETRBS

and an agenda and accompanying board papers of the meeting
are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of meeting. For all other Board meeting, a notice of the
meeting together with an agenda and accompanying board papers
of the meeting are sent to all Directors in reasonable time. The
Directors also from time to time transact the Board business by
way of written resolutions.

Every Director is entitled to have access to the advice and service
of the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures and applicable rules and regulations are complied
with.
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All minutes are kept by the Company and are open for
inspections by any Director during normal office hours by giving
reasonable advance notice. Minutes of the Board meetings and the
Board committee meetings record in sufficient details the matters
considered in the meetings and decisions reached. Draft and final
versions of minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee
meetings have been sent to all Directors and relevant Board
Committee members for their comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the relevant meetings were held.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter before the
Board, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent board
committee will be set up to deal with the matter.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s) between
the members of the Board. Every Director has sufficient time and
attention to deal with the affairs of the Group. The Board
considers the composition of Executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors is rational and appropriate and provides
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the Group.

The Independent Non-executive Directors provide the Group with
diversified knowledge and expertise. Their suggestions, opinions
and participation in the meetings of the Board and each Board
committee bring independent opinions, suggestions and judgments
on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, development,
operations, performance, risk control and conflicts of interest, to
ensure that the interest of all shareholders are taken into account.
Information and responsibilities of all Directors are contained in
this annual report on pages 31 to 33.

The Board has established a mechanism is to enable Directors to
seek independent professional advice when exercising Directors’
duties to ensure a strong independent element to the decision
made by the Board which is key to an effective Board.

According to the mechanism, subject to the prior approval by the
executive Director of the Company (which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed), the Directors may seek
independent legal, financial or other professional advice from
advisors independent of those advising the Company as and when
necessary in appropriate circumstances to enable them to
discharge their responsibilities effectively, either on the Company’s
affairs or in respect of their fiduciary or other duties, at the
Company’s expense. In case of the Board is seeking independent
professional advice, prior approval must be given by the executive
Director of the Company (which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed). The Board will review this
mechanism on an annual basis to ensure the implementation and
effectiveness of this mechanism.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer have
different roles. The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the
operation of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for managing the operations and day-to-day
management of the Group. Their functions have been clearly
divided to ensure a balanced distribution of power and authority
not concentrating on a single individual.

The Chairman of the Board is principally responsible for leading
the Board and ensures the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman of the Board shall ensure the Board
operates effectively and performs its proper duties and discusses
all important and proper matters in a timely manner. The
Chairman of the Board is responsible for convening Board
meetings, consulting, determining and approving the agenda of
each Board meeting, and ensuring that Directors are provided
sufficient information on current matters in a timely manner.

The Chief Executive Officer is principally responsible for the daily
operation and management of the Group’s overall operations and
implementing the Board’s operating strategy and policy and
delegating tasks to all departments for implementation so as to
realize the Board’s objectives and decisions. In addition, the Chief
Executive Officer is also responsible for coordinating close
cooperation among all departments, uniting efforts of staff and
encouraging the initiative of staff so as to ensure smooth and
effective operation of the Company’s operations and systems.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provide that the role of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provision also stipulates, inter alia, the role and responsibility of
the chairman of the board and the chief executive.

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as Chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 27 January
2015. Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has therefore assumed
both roles.

The Directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer in the same
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more effective planning and execution of
long-term business strangles, as well as ensuring effective
oversight of management. The Directors were also of the view
that the present structure was considered to be appropriate under
the circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep review
of its current Board structure from time to time.
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RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, are
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Composition of the Board will be reviewed regularly by the Board
and also by the nomination committee of the Company to ensure
that it covers a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

Pursuant to the Article of Association, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, Mr.
Chik To Pan and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric being the existing
Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will retire by
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Each Director had entered into an appointment letter with the
Company setting out the key terms and conditions of his
appointment. The Directors are required to refer to the relevant
key terms and conditions as set out in the Articles and Association
and the guidelines for Directors and Guide for Independent Non-
executive Directors (if applicable) published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term, subject to retirement by rotation under the Articles
of Association. The term of office of Mr. Wong Kwai Sang,
Mr. Ong Chi King and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric as Independent
Non-executive Director is for three years until 1 March 2024,
25 January 2026 and 15 January 2024 respectively. Mr. Ong Chi
King resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director on
25 September 2023.

The Board has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director a written annual confirmation of his independence and is
satisfied with their independence in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent to the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) with the term of references in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently
comprises two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee includes:

1. to recommend to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditor;

2. to consider and discuss with the external auditor the nature
and scope of audit for each year;

3. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity;

4. to review the interim and annual financial statements before
submission to the Board and to discuss any problem and
reservation arising therefrom;

5. to review the Group's financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems; and

6.  to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

During the vyear, the Audit Committee had reviewed and
discussed, in accordance with its terms of reference, the financial
reporting matters with external auditor, including the review of
the interim and annual consolidated financial statements, the risk
management and internal control and the audit fee and made
recommendation to the Board for reappointment of external
auditor.
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During the vyear, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings. The
attendance of Audit Committee meetings of each member is set
out below:

TR BERZEGRITMAEH - EKE
hEEZZBEEGRBRAHINOT

Name of the Audit Committee Members

EZEZSTHRENRSE

Number of Audit Committee
meetings attended/Number of
Audit Committee meetings held

EHFEZRESEEFRRE
EETERXZEEEETRRY

Mr. Ong Chi King

(resigned on 25 September 2023)
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

BEEARAE
EEERE

The Board has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises two Independent Non-executive Directors and
an Executive Director, namely, Mr. Wong Kwai Sang (Chairman),
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric and Yeung Chi Hang (appointed on
25 September 2023).

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee (as adopted
pursuant to the terms of references of the Remuneration
Committee) includes making recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure of all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for development of remuneration

policy.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration
Committee done during the year:

1. to review the Company’s emolument policy and structure for
all Directors;
2. to review management’s remuneration proposal with

reference to the corporate goals and objective of the Board;
and

3. to review and recommend the remuneration of individual
Executive Director and Independent Non-executive Director.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting and
had also transacted its business by written resolutions.
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The attendance of Remuneration Committee meeting of each
member is set out below:

EREHFEFHNEZESERBERAFIIMT

Name of the Remuneration Committee
Members

FWESERENSE

Number of Remuneration
Committee meetings attended/
Number of Remuneration
Committee meetings held
EHEFGFWNEESSERRY
ERTHMNESETERAE

Mr. Ong Chi King

(resigned on 25 September 2023)
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric

mEAERE
FEERE

The Company aims to design remuneration policies that attract
and retain employees that are needed to run the Group
successfully and to motivate employees to pursue appropriate
growth strategies whilst taking into account performance of the
individual. The remuneration should reflect performance,
complexity and responsibility of the individual, and the
remuneration package will be structured to include salary and
bonus to provide incentives to directors and senior management
to improve their individual performances.

The Company has put in place a directors’ remuneration policy to
determine the remuneration packages of directors to ensure that
there is an appropriate level of remuneration to attract and retain
experienced people of high calibre to oversee the Group’s
business and development. The remuneration of directors is
reviewed at least annually and determined with reference to the
skills and knowledge of the directors, their job responsibilities and
level of involvement in the Group’s affairs, corporate performance,
individual performance as well as prevailing market conditions.
Remuneration comprises directors’ fees, salaries, allowances and
performance-related bonuses, equity-settled share based payments
and retirement benefit contributions.

During the year, the Board had approved, upon review and
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, the increase of
the remuneration of Mr. Wong Po Keung and Mr. Chik To Pan,
the executive Directors of the Company, by HK$45,000 and
HK$10,000 per month respectively, with effect from 1 July 2023.

The Group’s business are under the direct responsibility of the
Executive Directors who are the senior management of the
Company. Details of emoluments of Directors and the five
highest-paid employees of the Group during the year are set out
in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises two Independent Non-executive Directors and
an Executive Director, namely, Mr. Wong Kwai Sang (Chairman),
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric and Mr. Yeung Chi Hang (appointed
on 25 September 2023).

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee includes review
of the structure, size and composition of the Board and board
diversity policy on a regular basis, assessing new candidates for
appointment as Directors and the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors and considering the retirement and re-
election of the Directors.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Nomination
Committee done during the year:

1. to assess the independence of each
executive Director;

Independent Non-
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2. to review the structure, size and composition of the Board; 2. R EEOREE  ABKRAR: &
and
3.  to make the recommendation of re-election of retiing 3. WMEZRIZEANEZTCIRMEZ -
Directors to the Board.
During the year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting. The FR G IEZEZEeR{T— & - TKE
attendance of Nomination Committee meeting of each member is HFRBEZESSHBEREIWT ¢
set out below:
Number of Nomination
Committee meetings attended/
Name of the Nomination Committee Number of Nomination
Members Committee meetings held
EHFEREZEESEFETHEAE
REZEEEHRERS ERTIREEEEEZ Y
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang FEELE 1/1
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEELE 11
Mr. Ong Chi King (resigned on FFHRAEER=_F==F 1”7
25 September 2023) NAZ=+FH AEF)
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of
appointing and re-appointing a Director. The selection criteria
used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia,
such candidate’s academic background and professional
qualifications, relevant experience in the industry, character and
integrity etc.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the nomination committee
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board
periodically and make recommendation on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an
additional director, the nomination committee identifies or selects
candidates as recommended to the committee pursuant to the
criteria set out in the Nomination Policy. Based upon the
recommendation of the nomination committee, the Board
deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition, every
director shall be subject to retirement by rotation or re-election at
least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at
each annual general meeting. The nomination committee shall
review the overall contribution and service to the Company,
expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring directors,
who offered himself/herself for re-election at the annual general
meeting, to determine whether such director continues to meet
the criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the Companies Act (as revised) of Cayman Islands and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company,
dividends may be paid out of the profits of the Company, or
subject to solvency of the Company, out of sums standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company. However,
no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by Directors of
the Company.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends of the
Company is subject to the approval of the Directors of the
Company, depending on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as
well as any other factors which the Directors of the Company may
consider relevant from time to time. Any future declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends of the Company may
or may not reflect the historical declarations and payments of
dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of the Directors of
the Company. The Company does not have any predetermined
dividend payout ratio.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential
element in maintaining a competitive advantage. The Company has
adopted a board diversity policy.

All appointments of the members of the Board are made on their
merit in the content of the talents, skills and experience to be an
effective Board as a whole.

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition
of the Board by considering the benefits of all aspects of diversity,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience etc. in order to
maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents, skills,
experience and background on the Board.

The Nomination Committee also oversees the conduct of the
annual review of the effectiveness of the Board and considers the
balance of talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge
on the Board and the diversity representation of the Board.

The Board currently comprises entirely of male Directors. It is
targeted to appoint one female director as soon as possible. The
female representation is about 33% at workforce level. The Board
has reviewed board diversity policy on an annual basis to ensure
its continued effectiveness. For compliance with the Listing Rules
and the board diversity policy, the following measurable objectives
were reviewed and implemented:

. at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
Independent Non-executive Directors;

o at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications;

o members of the Board shall have knowledge or experience
relating to the business operation of the Group;

. at least two of the members of the Board shall have

China-related work experience; and

o no single gender Board is allowed after 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has from time to time considered its policy for
corporate governance and its duties and duties of various board
committees. The Board has not established a corporate
governance committee but has performed the obligations
regarding corporate governance, including:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors;
and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14
(Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report) of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have disclosed to the Board the number and nature
of offices held in public companies or organizations and other
signification commitments. During the year, the Board had
attended and reviewed the above matters. The Board also
regularly reviews the contribution required by each Director to
perform his responsibilities to the Company and whether he is
spending sufficient time performing his duties.
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TRAINING OF DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Director, if any, are provided with necessary
information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The
Company Secretary and representative of auditor update the
Directors on the latest development and changes regarding the
Listing Rules, accounting standards and other relevant regulatory
requirements from time to time.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. According to the records provided by the existing
Directors, all Directors have participated as follows in continuous
professional development during the year.
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Reading regulatory
updates/attending
in house briefing

Name of Directors

Attending expert
briefing/seminars/
conference relevant
to the business/
director’s duties

HEARER

ESHENER

FEEERTER EhE HeE

EEHs HENDEHEE =

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang 5 A 18 5T & v/ v

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RESFTHE v v

Mr. Wong Po Keung EIRA L& v v

Mr. Chung Siu Wah 8 DR & v/ v

Mr. Chik To Pan BB A v/ v/

Mr. Ong Chi King* FFa S E v/ v/

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang EEAETE v/ v/

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEEXE v/ v
h resigned on 25 September 2023. * R-EBE-—=—&FEHA-+HBEE-
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance for all Directors and the senior management of the
Company. The insurance covers them against costs, charges,
expenses and liabilities incurred arising out of the corporate
activities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s
Code of Conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 30 June 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes its overall responsibilities for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system of the Group and risk
taking is unavoidable as part of the Group’s business. By
appropriate risk management and continuous risk monitoring, risk
taking can bring value to the Company. The Board believes that
risks are acceptable after prudent assessment of their impact and
likelihood. The Company can protect its assets and shareholders’
interests and create value simultaneously through appropriate risks
management and control measures. The system includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensures the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication,
and ensures compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group recognise that it is necessary for identifying and
assessing the significant business, operational, financial and
compliance risks on an ongoing basis. Risk identification and
assessment should be undertaken throughout the year, but in any
event must be undertaken on an annual basis by the Audit
Committee. Risk identification involves collecting information from
the senior management to identify relevant risks and then need to
update the risk register in response to changes in its business and
the external environment. Risk assessment should include the
review of

(i)  the timely and efficient management and reporting the key
risks; and

(i) any events, incidents or trends that have arisen or might arise.

Risk evaluation and risk prioritization

Risk ranking process involves analysing the inherent likelihood and
impact of each identified risk in order to facilitate the senior
management to prioritise the identified risk items and identify the
responsible risk owners.

Risk reporting, managing and monitoring

Once the decision to mitigate the significant risk has been made
and the strategy is identified, a mitigation plan should be
developed. After the plan is implemented the residual risk is
evaluated and is subject to monitoring. Once the plan is in place
and the system is running, the effectiveness of the plan will be
monitored, reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The ongoing
monitoring program will be checked if risk priority numbers have
changed to either higher or lower values. All employees can write
down observations and to make recommendations. They can also
make a recommendation if the change should be implemented
urgently if it is time critical. The senior management evaluates the
recommendations made by the employees and reports to board in
timely manner.
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Procedures for the handling and dissemination of
inside information

The Group is committed to a consistent practice of time, accurate
and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information. To
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure relation to the Group, procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

1. When any employee becomes aware of any actual or potential
Inside Information, he/she must immediately inform any
member of the Disclosure Working Group comprising the
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Legal
Counsel.

2. Meeting of Disclosure Working Group shall be convened to
conduct preliminary assessment of the information received.

3. The Disclosure Working Group reviews and decides whether
the information must be disclosed, as well as when and how
the information shall be released and makes
recommendation to the Board.

4. The Board reviews the recommendation of the Disclosure
Working Group and approves the issue of an announcement
and any other documents as appropriate.

Main features of the internal control system

A professional advisory firm was also appointed as the Group's
outsourced internal audit function to conduct a review on the
Group’s internal control systems at the corporate level and
business level on certain agreed control areas as stated in a three
year internal control review plan to the management and
endorsed by the board and audit committee.
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The scope of the internal control review carried out during the
year includes:

a) understand how a control procedure is carried out during the
period from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023 through discussion
with the management, and reading relevant policies and
procedures;

b) consider and comment on whether a control procedure has
been designed and implemented effectively by determining
whether it exists at a specific point in time. This is achieved
by reading policies and procedures, reviewing minutes,
reports, organisational charts and other supporting
documentation, and by performing selected walkthrough and
tests of samples;

Q) draw to the Company’s attention to any significant control
design and implementation weaknesses and deficiencies
which come to its attention based on the limited procedures
it agree to perform;

d) provide recommendations to address the identified control
design (in particular to corporate governance and cash
receipt handling policy) and implementation weaknesses and
deficiencies; and

e)  perform a follow-up review after the Company has responded
to the findings stated in the Report. The final Report will be
issued after the follow-up procedures have been completed.

The report and recommendations have been submitted to the
board and follow-up action has been taken based on
recommendations, which will be monitored by the board.

The Audit Committee reviewed adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

The board’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforesaid paragraphs, the board
was of the opinion that the Company had maintained an effective
risk management mechanism and internal control system during
the financial year ended 30 June 2023.
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WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Board adopted a whistle-blowing policy to (i) foster a culture
of compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate governance
across the Group; and (ii) promote the importance of ethical
behaviour and encourages the reporting of misconduct, unlawful
and unethical behavior. All complaints received under the
whistle-blowing policy are promptly reported to the chairman of
the audit committee or designated persons of the Group to
ensure accountability and transparency. The Audit Committee will
continue to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the
whistle-blowing policy.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Board adopted an anti-corruption policy to achieve the
highest standards of integrity and ethical behaviour in conducting
business. The anti-corruption policy outlines specific guidelines that
must be adhered to by all Directors and employees of the Group
and third parties dealing with the Group to effectively combat
corruption. It demonstrates the Group’s commitment to the
practice of ethical business conduct and the compliance of the
anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its operations.
The anti-corruption policy is reviewed and updated periodically to
align with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the
industry best practice.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lo Tai On who has been engaged
and appointed by the Company from an external secretarial
services provider.

The primary contact persons with the Company Secretary are
Mr. Wong Po Keung, an Executive Director and the financial
controller of the Company, and Ms. Leung Siu Hing, a senior
officer of the Company. The Company Secretary has duly complied
with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in
presenting the interim and annual consolidated financial
statements and announcements to the Shareholders. The Directors
aim to present a clear and understandable assessment of the
Group’s position and prospects. The Board acknowledges its
responsibility to present a clear and understandable assessment in
the Company’s annual and interim reports, other inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules and to report to the regulators.
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The responsibility of the external auditor with respect to the
financial reporting and its audit opinion are set out in the section
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 71 to 75.

REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITOR

For the year, the remuneration in respect of audit services
provided by auditor of the Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited, was HK$980,000.

The non-audit service provided by auditor of the Company is
detailed as follows:

BRENEZEMOTEEREETUALER
RERERENZISENE L AR

]

1% B0 B =

BhA G [ AN 2D ) i BB o O 22 @ At
EBMERARNREBRBENOMS B
980,000/ 7T °

RRABIZEEMIRHEAIEET R HF BN
T

Review service for the interim result for the mBE—_ET-_—_F+-_A=+—H HK$210,000
six months ended 31 December 2022 IEREAS R EEENER RS 210,000/ 7T
As a reporting accountant for the major transaction &I * E x5 M B RS =+ AD HK$250,000
250,000/% 7T

Review on internal control systems over Anti-Money THEREZENKERBREN HK$50,000
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing A ES 1 R A 50,000/% 7T
Tax services and others SRS R HE At HK$196,000
196,000/ 7T

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communications
with shareholders and investors, and the shareholders
communication policy of the Company is reviewed on an annual
basis to ensure its continued effectiveness. The objective of
shareholder communication is to provide shareholders with
detailed information about the Company so that they can exercise
their rights as shareholders in an informed manner. The Company
establishes various communication channels with its shareholders
and investors and employs a range of communication tools to
ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of key business
imperatives. These include general meetings, interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. The Company believes that
the annual general meeting is one of the principal channels for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Board
welcomes shareholders to express their opinions at the annual
general meeting. Directors and external auditor attend the annual
general meeting to address shareholders’ queries. Separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantially
separate issue, including the re-election of individual Directors. The
notice of the meeting, the annual report and the circular
containing information on the proposed resolutions are sent to
shareholders before the meeting in accordance to the listing rules
and the articles of association of the Company. Procedure for
voting by poll had been read out at the general meetings. All
votes of the shareholders were taken by poll. The Company
announced results of the poll in the manner prescribed under the
Listing Rules.
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The Group also fully recognises the importance of employing a
professional, truthful and proactive attitude in promoting investor
relations. This underscores the Group’s persistence in maintaining
optimum all round communications with investors, allowing it to
collect information and valuable feedbacks from investors and
announce its business strategy and direction in due course. These
efforts are «critical for the Group to improve its corporate
governance and strengthen investor confidence.

An annual general meeting of the Company was held on 3 April
2023 (the "2022 AGM"). A notice convening the 2022 AGM
contained in a circular of the Company dated 28 February 2023
was dispatched to the Shareholders together with the 2022
Annual Report.

AEE T RBEE ANTESED 2
B IEDRAEMEZEBRE H
it K REH A RE A RE TN RAK
2B NERRAZKEAASRERE
BN EEERLGRE S EHEER
BESA BEELREALNERE
HBREERED -

ARARER-_ZE-_=FMA=HETRE
BFRG([ZE-_—_FREBFXL]) -
ARARBHA-ZTE-_=ZF_A=_+NAEKN
BRASAE S —EREEEAS
ﬁ;a%ﬁ:;::iﬁﬁ HHETS
% 2R o

An extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on ZAARER_ZET-_=FXANHETHRE
8 June 2023 (the “EGM") to approve a major transaction of the SRl A& ([REERIAS])  UHERRD
Company. A notice convening the EGM has despatched to the & —HEFXFEXRH - AFBRERFINREHNRE
Shareholders together with a circular dated 17 May, 2023. HERERBMA-S_=FRATEHD
BEH—HEFETRRE -
The attendance of 2022 AGM and EGM held during the year of &SEEHFFANRITZ _FT-__FRER
each Director is set out below: FREEBREFINREHNBEREINOT :
Attendance at
HERER
Name of Directors 2022 AGM EGM
—_E-=
EENZ BREAFXE HRBRRXE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEBEE v/ v
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RETFHE v/ v
Mr. Wong Po Keung EHIRE L AE v/ v
Mr. Chung Siu Wah SRS g v/ v
Mr. Chik To Pan B 38 0 5T A v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIFEHITESE
Mr. Ong Chi King* FFaE A v/ v
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang EEERE v/ v/
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEELEE — —
* resigned on 25 September 2023. * R-ZB-_=FNA-+HBEE-
The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be ZARARBER T == ¢+ R B &#17E
held on 4 December 2023 (the “2023 AGM"). A notice convening EHQ%%DEKAU_ —FERFRBFE K
2023 AGM will be published on the websites of the Stock &) AR = *—iﬂxﬁﬂiﬁAZL

Exchange, the Singapore Stock Exchange and the Company and
dispatched together with the 2023 Annual Report to the
Shareholders as soon as practicable in accordance with the Article
of Association and the CG Code.

%H%*ETE#E%&EE%W'J&&% A ST A&
R AR FT - FINEE %Fﬁ&zli
NAEBI A RER —F __¢¢i&*fﬁ§
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During the year, the Company had adopted some changes in the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company. Please
refer to the announcement dated 3 April 2023 for details.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
at such place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). Set out below are
procedures by which Shareholders may (a) convene an EGM; (b)
put forward enquires to the Board; and (c) put forward proposals
at general meetings. The procedures are subject to the Articles of
Association and applicable legislation and regulation.

— Procedures for Shareholders to convene EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the business to be
transacted at the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and
deposited at the Company’s registered office (with a copy of
the said written requisition deposited at the Company's
Hong Kong office) for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. The
requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements under
the Articles of Association to all the registered Shareholders.

If within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as
invalid, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.
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The notice period to be given to all the registered
Shareholders for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to the
nature of the proposal, as follows:

—  Not less than 14 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company;
and

—  Not less than 21 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes a special resolution of the Company.

Procedures for putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the
Board.

All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or
by email to info@cergroup.com.hk for the attention of the
Board.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the
Company, a Shareholder should lodge a written request,
duly signed by the Shareholder concerned, setting out the
proposals at the Company's registered office (with a copy of
the said written request lodged at the Company’s Hong
Kong office) for the attention of the Board and the
Company Secretary. The request will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will pass the request to the Board.

Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal
put forward by a Shareholder is (i) pursuant to a requisition
by a Shareholder to convene an EGM referred to above or
(i) forms part of ordinary business to be considered at an
annual general meeting as described in Article 75 of the
Articles of Association.
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The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election RHIZEZMALZXBEEHREFHN AR T
as Director are posted on the Company's website at #Uhhttp//www.cergroup.com.hk
http://www.cergroup.com.hk.
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ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
PRIREERKREAFRAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 76 to 163, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 30 June 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs”") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

THRREEREEBRAF

BRPERRAREEERATRE
(REISHBHMALZ HRAA)
BR

EEEEZFETIRI3EMEFHIRIEER
SEBERAR(ERR) RENBAF (&
BEEE]DNEEVBRE  BEAZET
Z=FRNA=THHEEUBARAKEE
ZZRALFENEEERREME2E RS
R GREERPHREGEERERER
L‘A&’E%EXEﬁﬁ%*ﬁ%%ﬁ’]ﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁ
FMFEE -

IR AEUMBmERERERTEER
(B Ag)BHcEEH
ER([BBMBHREEN)DEEF
EEBER T -_=ZFA=1+H
ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ‘)ﬂ MEBEEZHIEFE®
RERESRE WEER
Tﬂﬂﬂﬁ”ﬁﬂiﬁ%%ﬁmﬁﬁfﬁ%” °

ol 55 &
St
i
%

TH 3F = Dk S 55
o D> 35 31 88 5 4
D»4U>>’ﬁUHEE> &y

BEREE

EME*ETF%-S% AR AERMCEER
ATEA([BBEFENDETER - FF
EEZ% AT Zz2EE EREFHHRESD
(ZHEMLERFAM BRI ARENE
E]—fpE— */Fi’%uﬁﬁﬁ%fé?% BN

eRMzEESTMEZESTRI((=FA])
EE/IRN Ex. IE@?#WEH
EEvEMBEEE - TEHEEMIEL
%ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ& *mﬁ EMERIE
1;&%/% o

—E=EFR



Independent Auditor’s Report
B BE RS

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$35,065,000 and operating cash outflow of approximately
HK$11,076,000 for the year ended 30 June 2023. These
conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

() Investment properties and biological assets

Refer to notes 19, 20 and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group measured its investment properties including
those grouped in assets classified as held for sale and
biological assets at fair value and fair value less costs to sell,
respectively, with the changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. These fair value measurements are significant
to our audit because the balances of investment properties
of approximately HK$258,019,000 as at 30 June 2023 and
the corresponding fair value loss of approximately
HK$1,918,000 for the year then ended, and biological assets
of approximately HK$230,481,000 as at 30 June 2023 and
the corresponding loss from changes in fair value less costs
to sell of biological assets of approximately HK$16,556,000
for the year then ended are material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group’s fair value
measurements involve application of judgements and are
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuers engaged by the Group;
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()

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting
with the external valuers to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgements and
assumptions applied in the valuation models;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the

valuation models to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation models;
and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement
in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurements of the
investment properties and biological assets are supported by
the available evidence.

Intangible assets
Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of intangible assets for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of intangible assets of approximately
HK$70,508,000 as at 30 June 2023 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
such as discount rates;

— Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the
Group's impairment assessment;

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by the Group;

— Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgements and
assumptions applied in the valuation model;
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—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model;
and

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for intangible
assets is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon. The other information is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this
auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/
Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Tse Kit Yan

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P08158

Hong Kong, 29 September 2023
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https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

neEakEMEERE R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=% —E—-—
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B et FHETT FAET
Revenue I Z5 8 84,414 93,188
Cost of sales & AR (69,353) (72,035)
Gross profit EF 15,061 21,153
Other income, gains and losses HiA - hamkEE 10 11,538 4,065
Administrative and operating THREERX
expenses (43,725) (41,408)
Fair value loss on investment KEME L ARERIE
properties 19 (1,918) —
(Loss)/gain arising from changes in A ¥WEEX L EE
fair value less costs to sell of W ERAELE 2
biological assets (E18), Wz 20 (16,556) 10,018
Net gain on fair value changes in R AL EFAEBFZ
investments at fair value through WEzZRAREES 2
profit or loss I 2= )5 &8 512 729
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HMNBARIZ
&8 (15) —
Reversal of provision/(provision) for ¥ F# & E R EE B
impairment loss of right-of-use BEIRE(BE)
assets 18 3,595 (2,492)
Provision for impairment loss of mEEEREEERE
intangible assets 21 — (1,796)
(Provision)/reversal of provision for & 4 5k T8 &l (B &5 18
impairment loss of receivables (B %),/ Ol B 1B 25, 26 (4,493) 117
Loss from operations EEBA (36,001) (9,614)
Finance costs BE KR 11 (4,133) (3,608)
Loss before tax Bx#i i 1a (40,134) (13,222)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiE e, (Ax) 12 4,934 (1,606)
Loss for the year EEBE 13 (35,200) (14,828)
Other comprehensive BREEERGEZE
loss after tax: B518 :
Items that may be reclassified to Rl EF 7 E R a2
profit or loss: HE
Exchange differences on translation HEGINEE ZIEH
of foreign operations = (24,941) (8,404)
Release of translation reserve upon & — &5 N1 B
disposal of a foreign subsidiary DA B ERRE N FEE (8) .
Other comprehensive FhEMBET
loss for the year, 518 (BB 18)
net of tax (24,949) (8,404)
Total comprehensive loss EFEXEBEAHE
for the year (60,149) (23,232)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REeBREEkEMEZERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

2023 2022
—EgE-= T
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k23 FHET FAET
Loss for the year attributable to: T35 AN LREGEEEIS :
Owners of the Company KRal¥EB A (35,065) (16,743)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR A 2 (135) 1,915
(35,200) (14,828)
Total comprehensive TIANLTEEEEZE
(loss)/income for the year (E518), W 254848 -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company FiN/NETEZ =N (59,312) (24,899)
Non-controlling interests IR (837) 1,667
(60,149) (23,232)
Loss per share BhiEEE 15
Basic (HK cents per share) BEAR(FRBW) (2) (1)
Diluted (HK cents per share) BE (g ARBA) (2) )
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B IR &

Asat30June2023 MNZE-_=%F,"A=+H

2023 2022
—EB-=5 —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Jioka Ti#&T FHET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 17 1,583 7,789
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 5,054 33,466
Investment properties REME 19 191,900 265,578
Biological assets EMEE 20 230,481 267,079
Intangible assets B EE 21 70,508 80,829
Goodwill EES 22 1,087 1,087
Loans receivable JE U E 3R 26 517 —
Finance lease receivables JEW R E & FRIE 27 36,747 —
Investments at fair value through BARBEEFAER
profit or loss &éﬁ 28 18,908 18,160
556,785 673,988
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 24 33,445 29,630
Trade and other receivables FH&EE RN A FE U
25 37,660 46,501
Loans receivable TEH&E 26 7,318 12,133
Investments at fair value through BARBEFABRZ
profit or loss ®A& 28 725 961
Refundable secured deposit ARECEFES 29 11,000 11,000
Cash and cash equivalents HehZERRB:® 5,531 6,295
95,679 106,520
Assets classified as held for sale DEABEREZEE 23 66,228 —
161,907 106,520
Current liabilities REaRE
Trade and other payables FEHEE R K% H A JE A
E QL] 30 30,063 33,267
Contract liabilities = %’UE & 2,637 4,862
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 1,205 2,221
Borrowings B 32 74,148 68,215
Current tax liabilities ENHAT B B & 642 377
108,695 108,942
Liabilities associated with assets EAYEAERFELEZ
classified as held for sale BEMRBECBE 23 10,195 —
118,890 108,942
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBE (&R FAE 43,017 (2,422)
Total assets less current BELERTHER
liabilities 599,802 671,566
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Lease liabilities MEAR 37 48,359 48,120
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEAE 33 75,123 86,977
123,482 135,097
NET ASSETS BEFE 476,320 536,469
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

maPBERR R

Asat30June2023 R-ZZE_=F,A=1H

2023 2022
—E'=-= -
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt &t TFET FAT
Capital and reserves BEXRGEE

Share capital fi% 2% 34 40,731 40,731
Reserves it 1 422,249 483,465

Equity attributable to owners of the ZAN2A & %A A E(5 25
Company 462,980 524,196
Non-controlling interests FEEAR HE A 13,340 12,273
TOTAL EQUITY EmEEs 476,320 536,469

The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 163 were SE76R163EFHGAMBRRIEEES
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on RZ-ZT = =Z4F N A=+ Bt RFEET

29 September 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: BOUVHUNTEERREFGESE
Yeung Chi Hang Leung Kwong Choi
HEiE REF
Director Director
0 -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
 GeERBBE

~ Fortheyearended 30 June 2023 HE-Z-=FXA=THLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATHANEL
Foreign
Share Share-based currency Non-
Share premium Statutory Capital compensation translation ~Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
i R SHERH

e BER  RERE  RAEE  HeRR i RitER B8 HEREn L
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000 WK HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'O00  HKS'000  HK$'000
TERL TERL TERL THIL TR TERL TERL TERL TERL THIL

At 1 July 2021 HoBo-%
tA-H 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 57,676 (777,926) 549,095 10,606 559,701
Total comprehensive (loss)/ £ E 2 (F18)/
income for the year haas - - - - - (8,156) (16,743) (24,899) 1,667 (2323)
At 30 June 2022 RZB-Z%
~AZTH 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 49,520 (794,669) 524,19 12,273 536,469
At 1 July 2022 i
tA-H 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 49,520 (794,669) 524,19 12,273 536,469
Total comprehensive loss FE2EFELE
for the year - - - - - (24,247) (35,065) (59,312) (837) (60,149)
Purchase of non-controlling  E& B 3EMEIR M 3%
interests (note 3713)) W#37) = = = = = = (1,904) (1,904) 1,904 —
At 30 June 2023 RZBZ=ZF
~AZTH 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 25,273 (831,638) 462,980 13,340 476,320
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —ZEF=-=
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEZETEHH
ACTIVITIES Reng
Loss before tax B 5 BT RS 18 (40,134) (13,222)
Adjustments for: B NS mEAE:
Finance costs A& KR 4,133 3,608
Finance lease interest income B & M E A B WA (394) —
Depreciation e 5,650 7,791
Amortisation of intangible assets B A E 4,742 5,151
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant LEME BER
and equipment Bz (W),
& 18 (3,601) 181
Fair value loss on investment properties WEWMEZRARE
&1 1,918 —
Loss/(gain) arising from changes in fair EMEERAEEZD
value less costs to sell of biological assets W E R RE S 2
EiE () 16,556 (10,018)
Net gain on fair value changes in BAREFAERZ
investments at fair value through profit WEZAREE
or loss 2 W F 5 (512) (729)
Gain on waiver of lease liabilities HEBGEER K= = (2,578)
Gain on waiver of other payables HibEARIBERER WS (5,857) —
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HNBARZ
i) 15 —
(Reversal of provision)/provision for FRAEEEREBEK S
impairment loss of right-of-use assets (BERE) BE (3,595) 2,492
Provision for impairment loss of intangible EREEREER
assets 1 — 1,796
Provision/(reversal of provision) for JE W SR IR E B 18
impairment loss of receivables B (BERED) 4,493 (117)
Operating loss before working capital EEEBHAI 2 KE
changes & 18 (16,586) (5,645)
Change in inventories FE# (3,815) (4,366)
Change in trade and other receivables JFE M5 B 3R Ko L A i LK
HIAEH 7,201 14,344
Change in loans receivable FE W & R &) 8 9
Change in investments at fair value through & A R EFAEBZZ
profit or loss "E & — (60)
Change in trade and other payables JE 151 BR 5K B L At FE A<
TIAEH 4,462 280
Change in contract liabilities BEHEaEEY (2,225) (1,838)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations K& (R FiER$ (10,955) 2,724
Income tax paid BERAER (1,770) (2,861)
Income tax refunded B R B AT 1S 1,649 .
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING HEEBHSFMAFREHE
ACTIVITIES (11,076) (137)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

2023 2022
—Eg-= —EFE=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES R BHiZ & FEH
He&ReE
Receipt of deposit for disposal of assets W E DB AFIE
classified as held for sale HECZEEZES 11,800 —
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and HEW ¥ ME R RE
equipment 2 Fr13 518 1,134 118
Refund of deposit paid in relation to R BB R — B
acquisition of a subsidiary NAIZENiE® — 1,000
Acquisition of intangible assets WHE BT & & (498) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B EWE  WENLERE (2,181) (2,319)
Net cash outflow from disposal of a HE—RMKBARZ
subsidiary We L FE (30) —
Finance lease interest income received Bl EHEE RN B HA 320 —
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) 1% &;HFEIFF B (FFA)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES b3 X 10,545 (1,201)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING KERMEFSTH
ACTIVITIES HeReg
Borrowings raised BESEEXK 14,570 1,581
Repayment of borrowings BEENR (8,615) (5,129)
Repayment of lease liabilities and interests EBEHEAELHNA (3,721) (6,014)
Interests paid B 5B (2,318) (1,737)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES RiE;EEIFFAIRERE (84) (11,299)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR&RZRIELEH
B R (615) (12,637)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEEFE SR EE (40) (73)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FMZHEERERRE
BEGINNING OF YEAR IEH 6,295 19,005
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZESREFRRE
END OF YEAR IHH 5,640 6,295
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH ReREEBELEE
EQUIVALENTS S
— Bank and cash balances — RITRBREER 5,531 6,295
— Bank and cash balances classified as — DHEABELEEZ
held for sale WITRIR & 109 —
5,640 6,295
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e AR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Environmental Resources Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Ugland House, PO Box 309, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business is Room 2608, 26/F., Greenfield Tower, Concordia
Plaza, No.1 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and Singapore Exchange
Limited.

During the year, the Company’s principal activity is
investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company and its subsidiaries hereinafter are
collectively referred to as the “Group”.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$35,065,000 and operating
cash outflow of approximately HK$11,076,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2023. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The directors have been undertaking the following plans and
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial
position:

(i) An executive director who is also the chairman, chief
executive officer and substantial shareholder of the
Company has undertaken to provide adequate funds to
enable the Group to meet its liabilities and to settle
financial obligations to third parties as and when they
fall due, so that the Group can continue as a going
concern and carry on its business without a significant
curtailment of operations for the next twelve months
from 30 June 2023,

(i) The Group shall continue to implement measures aiming
at improving the working capital and cash flows of the
Group, including but not limited to the implementation
of cost-saving measures to maintain adequate cash
flows for the Group’s operations; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

2.

GOING CONCERN BASIS (CONTINUED)

(iii)  The directors have carried out a detailed review of the
cash flow forecast of the Group prepared by the
management of the Company covered a period of not
less than twelve months from 30 June 2023, after
taking into account the impact of the above-
mentioned plans and measures. Accordingly, the
directors believe that the Group will have sufficient
cash resources to satisfy its future working capital and
other financing requirements as and when they fall due
in the next twelve months from 30 June 2023.

The directors of the Company are therefore of the opinion
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be
unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to the consolidated financial statements to
adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities, respectively.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 July 2022. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"), and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The application of these
new HKFRSs will not have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of biological assets, which are carried at their fair
values less costs to sell, and investment properties and
investments at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at their fair values. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors of
the Company to exercise their judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
30 June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXEFTBE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Consolidation (Continued) HEANRGE)
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control MEAREEFEEREAEE L H
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from BiRa AR MAEEGI#EL Lz AL
the date the control ceases. = LR E ABR ©
The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results SIEERERIENMBEARLEME
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the EER RS EIEIE A TMIEN Z 5
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value (VEEREBRAAREINZN B QT TR
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the BOEMAREN D ERHERAD
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus GZMBAREEFENEZME A
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any AIABMEM Y BHREREMERD
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. REHINE KRS o
Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are SEHARAIRZRS - R R AREH
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the AT AL - BRIER HIRHBE
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset BEREREELRAE GRS
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been WEBNTUEHE - WBART 25
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the HERNERDIEHEE - URBRRA
policies adopted by the Group. EREERMNCWE -
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries FEEREREW AR T BRI EE
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. EMR B AR - SEERERZR
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated BEMBRARRGEEREH R 2
statement of financial position and consolidated statement EmNERE N ERREMEE
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests Wk FERER 2T REAEE
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss wEASEER AR EBEERAF
and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or R REEEA RN SR -

loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the

Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive B B BT IR o 45 R R 3R B A
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to EASEERAMEE N REIEE
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the EERARRHAE ARIEERERRE -
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary RATIRMB AR B REER 2
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as B (TeaEm R RmmlE) ERRAR
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their SARGIEBEFTEAUFEEZHERA
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling BMETRS) EREFERER
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 2 REEAHE AR EAKNE AT
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any B E s FE) o IR ER AR
difference between the amount by which the ZeREENKERREAREBECHE
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of ZIEMEFRAEERNERZABRLE
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in BRARBHEEA -

equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are
measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is added to the
cost of acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income), the amount
that was recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised on the same basis as would be required if the
previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The method of measuring
impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of
“impairment of assets” as stated in the accounting policy
below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
("CGU") that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS$,
which is the Company’'s functional currency and
presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case incomes and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements The shorter of 20%-33% or
over the remaining
unexpired terms of the

leases
Furniture, fixtures and 19%-33%
equipment
Motor vehicles 30%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
are measured initially at their cost including all direct costs
attributable to the properties.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of the investment properties are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rate is as follows:

Land and buildings 5%-50%
Motor vehicles 20%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor
(i) Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease.

(ii) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the lessees all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as finance leases. Amounts due from lessees under
finance leases are recognised as receivables at the
amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods
so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on
the Group’s net investment in the leases.

Intangible assets

(a) Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation of operating rights is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of
30 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (Continued)
(b) Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of exclusive distribution rights with finite
useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives
of 30.6 years.

Vehicle registration marks with indefinite useful life is
stated at cost less any impairment losses. Impairment is
reviewed annually or when there is any indication that
the vehicle registration mark has suffered an
impairment loss.

Biological assets

A biological asset is defined as a living plant managed by
the Group which is involved in the agricultural activity of the
transformation of biological assets for sale, into agricultural
produce, or into additional biological assets.

Biological assets comprise standing timbers in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), which are stated at fair value
less costs to sell at initial recognition and at the end of each
reporting period. The gain or loss arising on initial
recognition, and subsequent change in fair values less costs
to sell of biological assets is recognised in profit or loss in
the reporting period in which it arises. Costs to sell are the
incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
asset, excluding finance costs and taxes. Standing timber is
transferred to inventory at its fair value less costs to sell at
the date of harvest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal group are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable and the assets or disposal group are
available for immediate sale in their present condition. The
Group must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classification.

Except for investment property which is carried at its fair
value, non-current assets or disposal group classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ or disposal
group’s previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis for
motor vehicles and tyres. Cost is determined using the
weighted average basis for recycled metals and accessories
of motor vehicles other than tyres. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of all production
overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are
initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost; and

— Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Financial assets (Continued)
(a) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade, loans and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.

(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost and lease
receivables. Expected credit losses are the weighted average
of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for
trade, loans and lease receivables or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade, loans and lease
receivables) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the
required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised product or service exceeds one year, the
consideration is adjusted for the effect of a significant
financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms of
a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net
carrying amount.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Employee benefits
(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave and long service leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5%
of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly
maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per
employee and vest fully with employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC are members of a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages
to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement
benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to
assume the retirement benefits obligations of all
existing and future retired employees of these
subsidiaries. The only obligation of these subsidiaries
with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (Continued)
() Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by
applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received is determined by reference
to the fair value of the share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
corresponding amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
corresponding amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the
Group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment
properties are measured based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXEFTBE(E)
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued) FAE AL (48)

(B)  (Continued) (B) (%)

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and (ivy, —HEBRE=FEEN
the other entity is an associate of the third BELE ME—EBA
entity. ZEZFEBNBZEQ

= o

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is

vy EE/SAKENELEKH
BRECEENEB M
AR SR Bl B AR AU ST B o fim

itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are AEEBRHERZTE
also related to the Group. TE{/\,\EjJE}MEIJTEji$E
EE W=

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (i) EBZAMMEI AT
person identified in (A). il 2 F£ [F] 4% i ©

(viiy A person identified in (A)i) has significant (i) RAAOFTRRIA TH E S
influence over the entity or is a member of the Eéﬁg/iﬁjg ZE 5
key management personnel of the entity (or of a (RZEBENERRDFE
parent of the entity). BEEEKE -

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which (viiiy BB HMBEEEETE
it is a part, provides key management personnel A E AR BRAAR Tji
services to the Company or to a parent of the AARERAREHEE
Company. BAER -

Impairment of assets EERE

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets except biological assets,
investment properties, investments, inventories, receivables
and goodwill to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes when material.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 5.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different to those previously estimated, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(b) Fair value less costs to sell of biological assets
and fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed independent professional valuers
to assess the fair value less costs to sell of biological
assets and fair value of investment properties. In
determining the fair values, the valuers have utilised a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates.
The directors have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions.

(c) Impairment of intangible assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for intangible assets at the end of each
reporting period. Such assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. To calculate
the fair value less costs of disposal, the management
estimates the expected future cash flows from the
assets or CGU and chooses a suitable discount rate in
order to derive the present value of those cash flows.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of its trade, loans and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness, collateral
security, financial condition and past collection history
of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade, loans and other receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed. If the financial conditions
of the debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expense.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions. The Group will
reassess the estimates by the end of each reporting
period.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS 6.

MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HK$ and
Renminbi which are the functional currencies of the
principal operating entities of the Group. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in respect of
its investments at fair value through profit or loss. The
directors manage this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk profiles. The
Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
equity instruments quoted in the Stock Exchange.

At 30 June 2023, if the share prices of the
investments increased/decreased by 10%, the Group's
post tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$61,000 (2022: HK$80,000) lower/
higher, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of
the investments.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of bank and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables, loans receivable, finance
lease receivables, investments at fair value through
profit or loss and refundable secured deposit included
in the consolidated statement of financial position
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
certain concentration of credit risk as approximately
49% (2022: 68%) and 97% (2022: 93%) of its trade
receivables were due from the largest customer and
the five largest customers, respectively. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. In
addition, the directors review the recoverable amounts
of each individual trade, loan debt and lease regularly
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the
directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The credit risk on investments at fair value through
profit or loss is limited because the counterparties are
well-established securities broker firms and an
insurance company in Hong Kong.

The Group obtains collateral from the vendor to
minimise the credit risk in respect of the refundable
secured deposit.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period by
comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

— internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower;

— significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

— significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrower.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset is
when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 90 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where loans
or receivables have been written off, the Group, if
practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.

6.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the
loss provision is determined for each of the categories.
In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category and
adjusts for forward looking data.
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Category Definition Loss provision
=5l iE & SR E
Performing Low risk of default and strong 12 month expected losses
capacity to pay
R4F E X R BIE K Ee 58 128 A ER
Non-performing Significant increase in credit risk  Lifetime expected losses
TR EE R R ERZE M T HIEHIE R
Liquidity risk (d) w"ENEBEE
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and AEBERNHEETHERRE
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it REHRDHESTE BRHE

maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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rthe year ended 30 June 2023 B EZE-_T=-_=F A A=1THIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 6.

EHMREEEEER (&)

(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d ZHEL£EMEE)
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities rEEeHBERAEER 6
based on the earliest date the Group can be required WERZ N &T B2 EIH
to pay is as follows: BT :
Total
Less than undiscounted Carrying
1 year cash flow amount
KHBR &
DE REGH fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FiET FHET
At 30 June 2023 R=-F=-=%5xA=+H
Trade and other payables & {8 BR 0 B L At FE < 3K0B 30,063 30,063 30,063
Borrowings &R 74,148 74,148 74,148
104,211 104,211 104,211
At 30 June 2022 R-Z¥-—Z%£7:A=+H
Trade and other payables & f<F BR X I L At P A SR OB 33,267 33,267 33,267
Borrowings RN 68,215 68,215 68,215
101,482 101,482 101,482
The maturity analysis of the Group’s borrowings based REEEFREE R P&
on scheduled repayments dates as set out in the loan MIEEERBRHZHBAASN
agreements is as follows: U
Total
Less than Between Between undiscounted Carrying
1year 1and2years 2and5years Over5 years cash flow amount
KBRS
DE 125 2E5%E Bi5E RELE REfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FER FEL FERT FER FEL
At 30 June 2023 RZB-=Z£xXA=+H
Borrowings &3 29,603 4,698 14,094 36,801 85,196 74,148
At 30 June 2022 R-B--#xA=+H
Borrowings &% 20722 4,481 13,443 39,582 78,228 68,215
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 6. £RRESLEMETIE(E)

(CONTINUED)
(e) Interest rate risk (e)

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from
its bank borrowings. These bank borrowings bear
interests at variable rates varied with the then
prevailing market condition.

At 30 June 2023, if interest rates at that date had
been 100 basis points lower with all other variables
held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$733,000 (2022:
HK$677,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of lower
interest expense on bank borrowings. If interest rates
had been 100 basis points higher, with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for
the year would have been approximately HK$733,000
(2022: HK$677,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of

) 2= 3l B

677,000/ JT
TR AT
e & £ 51

733,0005 T (

|_H,
W
w
B|ID
/w
& -

) 5
B3 BT
00fE Z & BT £

BEsgETE AFEHRE
R 1% B5 18 16 R 2> £9733,000%8

higher interest expense on bank borrowings. (= T Z — % :677,000/#
JT) EEKEEEE/Q\ R 172 2K F
B g ATE -
(f) Categories of financial instruments at 30 June () R-ZB-ZER-FT_-Z
2023 and 2022 ANA=THZEMIAER
2023 2022
—Eg-= —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#& T FET
Financial assets EHMEE
Investments at fair value through 1R AR EFF ABREZ
profit or loss & 19,633 19,121
Financial assets at amortised cost IR# K RNt 2 2 4 &/t
(including cash and cash EE(BERENER
equivalents): HWEIEEB)
Trade receivables JiE UK BR 3Kk 16,774 25,138
Loans receivable JE W & 3k 7,835 12,133
Finance lease receivables FE Y Rh & T & RIB 36,747 —
Refundable secured deposit MREEEAZ: 11,000 11,000
Bank and cash balances SRITRIR & &6k 5,640 6,295
77,996 54,566
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial liabilities at amortised XK A5t & 2
cost: ERAE:
Trade and other payables JEE 1<F B 3R K2 L At B A
FRI8 30,063 33,267
Borrowings & & 74,148 68,215
104,211 101,482
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(g) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

(h) Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost capital.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may issue or buy-back shares,
issue new debts, recover debts or sell assets to
maintain sufficiency of working capital.

The Group’s total capital is the shareholders’ equity
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group is not subject to external
mandatory capital requirements and uses the liquidity
ratio (i.e. proportion of current assets to current
liabilities) to monitor the capital.

The liquidity ratio of the Group is as follows:

6.
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Liquidity ratio

1.36 0.98
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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B TR WA B B = S 4L
ST E AR

£ AREBERFTEBHA
BARE: REGHREEXAE
RIERT IS RE (CRE

FHE) o

F_® BEEXBBEAHEEX
WARE: AEBER2H AH
B E-—MBHEIHRE

BR S o

E=® BESRBBEZTAE
BARE : RBABUR-

AEEY BEAERBERN BEAH
REBEHZWB 2 AW RS
S5 2 AL AR -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. AR{EEE)

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June (@ MZE-_=Z=FXA=Z=+tBHBZA
2023: hEEREE:

Fair value measurements using:

AN TRABRZ AR EE :

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
i £—8% EZR E=H @st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET

Recurring fair value HEMRARE
measurements: iE:
Biological assets EWEE — 230,481 — 230,481
Investments at fair value BAnEtAER
through profit or loss A
— Equity securities listed in =~ — R&EB LW Z
Hong Kong WA & % 725 — — 725
— Keyman insurance contract — = Z A BRE
Al — — 18,908 18,908
Investment properties in BEREME
Hong Kong — 191,900 — 191,900
Total recurring fair value  EEMHARE
measurements EAHE 725 422,381 18,908 442,014
Non-recurring fair value FEEHARE
measurements: iE
Non-current assets held for  #FH{EH & 2 FERH
sale BE
— Investment properties in ~ — FEZEYE
the PRC — 66,119 — 66,119
Total non-recurring fair FEEHRARLE
value measurements FREE — 66,119 - 66,119
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. AR{EFEE)

(@) (Continued) (a) (#&)
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June RZEBE_—_FAA=+RHZR
2022: REBRKRE

Fair value measurements using:
ERAUTEAZBBZ AREHNE:
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Bt F—R R B=R Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

Recurring fair value HEMEARE
measurements: iE:
Biological assets EWEE — 267,079 — 267,079
Investments at fair value BAnEst AER
through profit or loss A
— Equity securities listed in =~ — REB LT 2
Hong Kong & AR 5 55 961 — — 961
— Keyman insurance contract — £ Z A ERKE
Bl — — 18,160 18,160
Investment properties in BEBRENME
Hong Kong — 191,900 — 191,900
Investment properties in HEIRE Y ¥
the PRC — 73,678 — 73,678
Total recurring fair value  EEMARE
measurements AEEH 961 532,657 18,160 551,778
(b)  Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on by WREF=ZHEALEBFTENE
level 3: EYER:
2023 2022
—E-=F T
Description HK$°000 HK$'000
181t TFHET FAET
Investments at fair value through 22 R EFTABZEZ
profit or loss ®E
— Keyman insurance contract — XFEZAEBRRED
At 1 July RntHA—H 18,160 17,203
Total fair value gains recognised HREBZHBERZARE
in profit or loss® I %5 R EE® 748 957
At 30 June RANA=+H 18,908 18,160
® Include gains or losses for assets ® BIERHEKRIFS
held at end of reporting ZEEWZNEE
period 748 957
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair
value measurements. The management reports directly
to the board of directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the management and the
board of directors at least twice a year.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of the Group’s biological assets and
investment properties carried at fair value are
determined.

Level 2 fair value measurements

7.

AR{EE &)

(@)

AEEBMABEBERERA
ARERTEMAGBERNEREA
g

AEBEERE A EETHER
EHRECEERBBAAE
AECBREE=ZMA2NE
E-EEEEERRNEFTERS
ZEAABEFE - EREERE
FEeBFERIAWREERER
RERMX -

; o

T

TREINBEAEEZAAE
JIREMEERKREMEN R
RENEAEEZER -

BoRAREFE

Fair value Fair value
AR{E NAfE
2023 2022
—F-= —T- -
Description Valuation technique Key input HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt EERKE ETEHABR FET THT
Biological assets ~ Market approach Volume of poplar trees and 230,481 267,079
market price of poplar trees per
cubic meter
EMEE [iR 0z BEEBERAGE S K
w8
Investment Direct comparison Market price of car parking space 191,900 191,900
properties in approach
Hong Kong
EREREME BEELBUE FHEATE
Investment Market approach and  Land: market price per square 66,119 73,678
properties in replacement cost meter;
the PRC approach Buildings: replacement cost per
square meter
hEREME MZEREER T BFHARTE:
AR BF BYHRKEERAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. AREEEGE)
() (Continued) (0 (&)
Level 3 fair value measurements E=RAREFTE
The fair value of the keyman insurance contract REEE—R2FTZEEERAER
purchased for a key management personnel of the ROEFZEABRBENZARN
Group is determined based on the cash surrender BEERRETEABRRBEHM
value in accordance with the keyman insurance Wz RRRESBEET LA
contract which is not an observable input. AEEE ASE- - BEERE
Management estimates the fair value based on the REARIREENFEAESRR
latest policy statement of the keyman insurance BRZEMRERSMHET AR
contract provided by the insurance company. -
The unobservable input is the cash surrender value TAEBRE ABERRRE QA
quoted by the insurance company according to the BEXTEZEABRRBREHMRL
keyman insurance contract. When the cash surrender RRBAESE -ERARALER
value is higher, the fair value of the keyman insurance B EEAEBRBENZAR
contract will be higher. BEHERm -
During the two years, there were no changes in the REZMEAN - A2 mER
valuation techniques used. MmEe .
8. REVENUE 8. Wz
2023 2022
—EF=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Trading of recycled metals BEERKEE 17,417 17,514
Trading of motor vehicles and related B & /5% & iH B A {F
accessories 60,279 71,016
Hotel room income and sales of food JB/EEBEWRAKEE
and beverage BER 1,790 —
Revenue from contracts with customers FFE & 42 W 79,486 88,530
Rental income H2WKA 4,236 4,329
Loan interest income BEHF B WA 298 329
Finance lease interest income A M E M B WA 394 —
Total revenue 1B 55 84,414 93,188
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8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

8.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for

Wz (48)

BE-T-=HXASTALEE.

year ended 30 June 2023: BREAEHNRZZ O
Hotel room
Trading of income and
Trading of motor vehicles sales of
recycled and related food and
metals accessories beverage
B 5
BEERER WA &
EEEKEE HEFAEC HERMR
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Geographical markets i & T i5
The PRC ai — 13,987 —
Hong Kong BB 17,417 45,742 =
Macau R P = 409 —
Taiwan =h = 141 —
Nepal JE B = = 1,790
17,417 60,279 1,790
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 2% i 52 6% &
At a point in time A F (B ) B 17,417 60,279 614
Over time & B = = 1,176
17,417 60,279 1,790
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for HE-_Z-_—_FA=THIEHE"
year ended 30 June 2022: EFPEHWEZ DI
Trading of
Trading of motor vehicles
recycled and related
metals accessories
BEERER
BEEOKSE BB
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Geographical markets i & T i5
The PRC H — 16,234
Hong Kong &% 17,514 53,682
Macau R — 1,035
Taiwan = — 65
17,514 71,016
All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at FrERFP G #) 2 Was Ty 518 05 fH B
a point in time. MR o
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Sales of goods

The Group sells recycled metals, motor vehicles and related
accessories and food and beverage to the customers. Sales
are recognised when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to a customer, there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained
legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of
30 to 90 days. For new customers, payment in advance or
cash on delivery is normally required. Deposits received are
recognised as contract liabilities.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
to the customers as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Hotel room income

Hotel room income is recognised over time during the
period of stay for the hotel guests.

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group has seven reportable segments as follows:
(i) Trading of recycled metals
(i) Trading of motor vehicles and related accessories
(iii)  Property investment
(iv)  Provision of financial services
(v)  Securities trading and investment
(vi)  Sales of plantation materials and products
(vii) Hotel and related business
The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different
technology and marketing strategies.
Segment profits or losses do not include finance costs and
income tax credit/expense. Segment assets do not include

goodwill and refundable secured deposit. Segment liabilities
do not include deferred tax liabilities and borrowings.

FERBEAREEERAT —B-=&£5H m
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é,-—-Fortheyearended30June2023 HE-T-_=F A=THLEE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. HEAEHE(E)
Information about reportable segment revenue, profit or B E2fo Bl Bm BER
loss, assets and liabilities: BEMNERNOT
Trading of Sales of
motor Sales of plantation
Trading of vehicles and Provision of golden  Securities  materials Hotel and
recycled related  Property financial flower tea trading and and related
metals accessories investment  services  products investment  products  business Total
BEE EERER R HE HHEE HEEE EIE .
BfeE AEES WERE RBRE enFER RBE MHRER REREH Ly
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T FEL T FHL FEL T T FEL
Year ended 30 June 2023 BE-B-=f
#AZtELEE
Revenue from external customers RENREPH s 17,417 60,279 4,236 298 - - - 2,184 84,414
Segment (loss)/profit comprising: AH(ER)/EFRE: (1,795) 3,538 1,199 (5,092) = (246)  (21,390) 1210 (22,576)
Loss arising from changes in fair EYEERABEY
value less costs to sell of ALERKELY
biological assets 5] = = — —  (16,556) — (16,556
Depreciation and amortisation REREH (1,325) (580) (1) (799) - - (4775) (2,29) (9,776)
Net gain/(loss) on fair value BRAEGABEZ
changes in investments at fair Txé“z//}ftﬁqiw
value through profit or loss e/ (BR)F8 = 748 = = = (236) = - 512
Fair value loss on investment xé%%@ﬁ@@ﬁﬁ
properties - - (1,918) - - - - - (1,918)
Reversal of provision/(provision) ERTERESERE
for impairment loss of BB/ (Bf&)
receivables 167 (370) - (4,290) - - - - (4,493)
Reversal of provision for impaiment  FAEEERERS
loss of right-of-use assets EEER = = = = = = = 3,595 3,595
At 30 June 2023 R-B-=%£7A=+H
Segment assets PHEE 1,755 83,946 258,995 8,333 - 825 300,970 38,272 693,096
Segment liabilities ABEE 894 16,116 6,039 133 = 467 1,792 46,447 71,888
Year ended 30 June 2022 BE-B-CE
~AZtHELEE
Revenue from external customers RENEEP MR 17,514 71,016 4,329 329 - - - - 93,188
Segment (loss)/profit comprising: B)/aFeE (2,880) 8,891 3,108 (691) (2,531) (253) 4,836 (3,044) 7,436
Gain arising from changes in fair EYEENARERY
value less costs to sell of HHERAEEL
biological assets W3 - — - - — - 10,018 — 10,018
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH (3,544) (587) (1) - (68) - (5127) (2,334 (11,661)
Proceeds from disposal of listed HELTESZAG
securities HE - - - - - 2,939 - - 2,939
Costs of disposal of listed HELTEFZHA
securities - - - - - (3,000) - - (3,000)
Net gain/(loss) on fair value BARGEHAR®Z
changes in investments at fair ﬁﬁZBﬁEg
value through profit or loss Zuf(m/ E#)
- 957 - - - (167 - - 79
Provision for impairment loss of ﬂﬂ/ﬁﬁﬁxﬁiéﬂ B
intangible assets - - - - (1,79) - - - (1,796)
Reversal of provision/(provision) EWGER ER B
for impairment loss of BERE/(BR)
receivables 700 = = = (583) = = = 17
Provision for impairment loss of FREEEREESR
right-of-use assets i - - - - - - - (2,49) (249)
At 30 June 2022 RZF=-ZERA=+H
Segment assets PHEE 5,406 87,199 266,327 14,022 57 1,01 348,463 38,903 761,388
Segment liabilities PHEE 2,338 14,303 6,949 401 — 467 1,945 48,652 75,055
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. HEEE(E)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, B E2HoBYE Bm BER
assets and liabilities: BEMYRNOT
2023 2022
—Eg-= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt FET
Revenue: W 2% -
Total revenue of reportable segments 7] 23k 5 202 Uk =5 84,414 93,188
Loss: B518 :
Total (loss)/profit of reportable 2R IR (EE)
segments i ) (22,576) 7,436
Other profit or loss: HitE %= -
Finance costs A& AR (4,133) (3,608)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigfiEe,/ (Fx) 4,934 (1,606)
Corporate and unallocated items TERADEEEB (13,425) (17,050)
Consolidated loss for the year FEHEEIR (35,200) (14,828)
Assets: BE:
Total assets of reportable segments AEZEMNAREE 693,096 761,388
Goodwill EES 1,087 1,087
Refundable secured deposit AREDHKME S 11,000 11,000
Corporate and unallocated assets TCENAPEEE 13,509 7,033
Consolidated total assets LeEmERE 718,692 780,508
Liabilities: 1=K
Total liabilities of reportable segments 7] 2o PR EE 71,888 75,055
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEEE 75,123 86,977
Borrowings EE 74,148 68,215
Corporate and unallocated liabilities TtEERPEEE 21,213 13,792
Consolidated total liabilities o =N 242,372 244,039
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. HEEH(E)
Geographical information: = & R
Revenue Non-current assets
W 25 kRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EgE-= —E-_= —EgE-= —E-_=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAET FHET FAET
The PRC s 13,987 16,234 300,964 422,134
Hong Kong B 67,693 75,854 219,073 214,711
Macau B P 409 1,035 ) —
Taiwan =< 141 65 — —
Nepal JEHER 2,184 — 36,748 37,143
84,414 93,188 556,785 673,988
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based RE2VMEERE  WRTREBEP
on the locations of the customers. FriE 5t & ©
Revenue from major customers: KAXFEREP AN
2023 2022
—E== —_E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAEXT
Trading of motor vehicles and EESREREMEH
related accessories
Customer A BEPA 38,966 38,959
Customer B = FB 9,138 N/A*
Trading of recycled metals EERRBERE
Customer C BFC 9,350 N/A*
Revenue from the above customers individually contributed KELEFPHWEREBIL NSRS
more than 10% of the total revenue of the Group. W 2£10% A I -
* Customers did not contribute more than 10% of the total revenue * EPUEEARERBE_S-__F
of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022. A=THIEFELKZI0%A £ -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

»

10. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 10. Hibdgr A\ « W25 RE518
2023 2022
—g-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#&T FET
Sponsor income BBy A 1,428 1,156
Government subsidy X I #88 B 248 538
Gain on waiver of lease liabilities HEaEzelE — 2,578
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BE k&R E
and equipment 2 Wz (EE) 3,601 (181)
Gain on waiver of other payables e EMENRIE 2
W as 5,857 —
Others HAtb 404 (26)
11,538 4,065
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. BERE
2023 2022
—Eg=-= ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FE T
Interest on bank loans RITERF B 2,318 1,737
Lease interests HEF S 1,815 1,871
4,133 3,608
12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 12. FiIBB(IER) BX
2023 2022
—Eg-= —=E2-=
HK$'000 HK$ 000
Fi#&T FET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ~ ENEAfR1E — FEFMEH
Provision for the year FEBE 289 179
Over-provision in prior years BEFERBEEE (6) (10)
283 169

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income  BIEAF{IE — R ZEAT
Tax 55 108 204

Deferred tax (note 33) IR FE T IR (K7 7£33) (5.325) 1,233
Income tax (credit)/expense s’ (Ee), Bx (4,934) 1,606
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 12.

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity established in
Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above that
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits
of the group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit
Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of
16.5%.

Profits of the group entities established in the PRC will be
taxed at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2022:
25%).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense and the
product of loss before tax multiplied by the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax rate is as follows:

Friasi (%) FHX (&)

RIBASHMES - £EEKILINE
ERGEEERE288E T8 MK
8.25% 2 MM - Mz B LW
i F S R AR 16.5% 2 B R BB A
BNEHMANERNEETER 20
) %% 4t 78 $216.5% 2 B R ELH -

FERBK Y NEEE AR R SRS
B EMESHME%(ZE ==
1 25% ) HE e

Hitp il 2 R TE M AR X 4%
AEEREMAEBRZRTHRE R
BEERRITEN BERERE -

PR HE (3R %),/ 59 2 B B 754 3T /&5 18 3
UHBEEREHRREMSNEZ S
R

2023 2022
—EgE-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FET
Loss before tax B B Al B 18 (40,134) (13,222)
Tax calculated at applicable tax rate of 1% i@ A & &25%
25% (2022: 25%) (- -F:25%)
ATEZBIE (10,034) (3,306)
Effect of different tax rates of the MEARMES—2
subsidiaries 2 1,536 1,360
Tax effect of expenses that are not AR = 2 B
deductible 2 2,025 2,958
Tax effect of income that are not BARBRIWA Z T
taxable A (891) (379)
Tax effect of temporary differences not KR TR =% 2 H %
recognised Fa 179 (163)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not &) FH 4t Al 7k f& 2R B 15
previously recognised EE G2 — (27)
Tax reduction 7% 0 Rk (595) (926)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEHBBES (6) (10)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KR T HEE B 2 B %
A 2,852 2,099
Income tax (credit)/expense s’ (%) Fx (4,934) 1,606
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

&..
13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13. £EFHE
The Group's loss for the year is stated at after charging/ AEEBFEBBIILENSRGFA)T
(crediting) the following: H| & IE 1% B R
2023 2022
—E'Z-= Tz
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHH 4,742 5,151
Auditor’s remuneration = R BN & 980 980
Depreciation e 5,650 7,791
(Gain)/loss on disposals of property, tﬂ’ifﬁl% = K&z
plant and equipment (=), BB (3,601) 181
Expenses related to short-term leases B RIEHEE 2 A X 712 630
Staff costs (including directors’ ETRA(BREEEHE):
remuneration):
— salaries, bonuses and — ¥& A RERM
allowances 13,538 12,969
— retirement benefit scheme — RIKEFIET B 3K
contributions 323 320
13,861 13,289
During the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Group HE_Z-_="FRk_FTZ__F7XA
had no forfeited contribution under defined contribution —THIEFEAN AEETEFHAT
retirement schemes utilised to reduce the existing levels of B FURIRETEITE TR 28 W A
contributions. As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, there was no Bﬂfﬁiﬁfﬂﬁth*ﬂ? CTRIZTEZ=ZFR
forfeited contribution under defined contribution retirement ZEZZFRA=1TAH #HEEEH
schemes which may be used by the Group to reduce the FORRETEIIE TR E 2 Al gt g
contribution payable in the future years. ﬁf%liﬁﬁﬁ LA B AR R R £ 2 # FE
HK o
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14. EERTHEARNS
EMOLUMENTS
(a) The emoluments of each director are as () BEBESEWLIFHNT :
follows:
2023
—BC=fF
Retirement
Salaries and Discretionary  benefit scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
B FeREM BETEAl BREH A EIHR @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL FTET FET FET TERL
Chief executive officer and THARRNTES
executive director
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEELAE 1,536 250 — 18 1,804
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RETEE 360 = = = 360
Mr. Wong Po Keung BERALE 300 660 — 18 978
Mr. Chung Siu Wah EOELE 1,056 250 = = 1,306
Mr. Chik To Pan FE TS 480 = = 18 498
Independent non-executive BUFRTEES
directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEELAHE 120 = = = 120
Mr. Ong Chi King FrEEsE 120 = = = 120
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric AEELE 120 — — — 120
Total @t 4,092 1,160 — 54 5,306
2022
—E-CF
Retirement
Salaries and Discretionary benefit scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
e ezl WELL RINEFIE BT @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TERT FET FET FTET
Chief executive officer and TREERNTES
executive director
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEEEE 1,536 — — 18 1,554
Executive directors WTES
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RESRHE 360 — — — 360
Mr. Wong Po Keung BERBEE 300 660 — 18 978
Mr. Chung Siu Wah BOELE 1,056 — — 5 1,061
Mr. Chik To Pan FEE S E 480 - - 18 498
Independent non-executive BILENTEE
directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEEALAE 120 — - - 120
Mr. Ong Chi King FrEEE 120 — - - 120
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEBEAE 120 . — — 120
Total @t 4,092 660 = 59 4,811

BE_Z_=ZFK=-_FT=_—
NAZTBIEFEE  EFERT
BAEHBET T RESRE W
BEAIMMESOTHE-

There was no arrangement under which a director and
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended 30 June 2023 and
2022.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

'

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14 EERITHAERME (BF)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) AEmEHFAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during FA - AEBRE&EaSHFALT
the year included three (2022: three) directors whose AEZR(CE__F:=4)
emoluments are set out in note (a) above. The EFF5EMES TR LEXHFE
emoluments of the remaining two (2022: two) (@ BTIME(ZE__F MW
individuals are set out below: BIATZBI@FHOT :
2023 2022
—E== —E-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Basic salaries, allowances and AEXFHE  2UHR
benefits-in-kind EMA = 2,000 2,000
Retirement benefit scheme RARAE T & B4 5K
contributions 18 18
2,018 2,018
The emoluments fell within the following bands: BlenFToEE :
2023 2022
—®¥=-= —F= =
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T &
1,500,0007% 7T 1 1
2 2
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the AEBEHMERTANESSHES
directors or the highest paid individuals as an FALTEZAEME  ERBMAK
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as EEAMARE B2 52ZE
compensation for loss of office. BRI E -
15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. BIREE
Basic loss per share BREXEE

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$35,065,000 (2022: HK$16,743,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,036,538,114 (2022:
2,036,538,114) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive
for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.

THRREEREEBRAR

$’A AEA AEGERENERZE
EESBARRNBBAEAEMLEER
ré‘ﬁ 18 #935,065,000% t(= & = =
& 116,743,000 7T) K F AN E 1T
B I AE F 15 812,036,538, 1148%
Z T - 4 :2,036,538,114/%) °

BkiEEEE
BE_Z_=FR=_F=-__F,A

=tRALFENFAEBEEERARTE
BR#E -
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rthe year ended 30 June 2023 B EZE-_T=-_=F A A=1THIFE

16. DIVIDENDS 16. B2

BV TEZREBRBEE T =
FR T —FAAA=1THIEFEK

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of
any dividend in respect of the years ended 30 June 2023

and 2022. ERAR S -
17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. V¥ -BERRE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
RERER
HERE B RE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEL FAET FET
Cost B&
At 1 July 2021 RZEZ-%+tHA—H 6,544 10,764 4,761 22,069
Additions RE 2,251 68 — 2,319
Disposals HE (192) (377) (613) (1,182)
Exchange differences ERLE®R (261) (118) — (379)
At 30 June 2022 and RZE-—FXA=TAK
1 July 2022 —E--F+A—H 8,342 10,337 4,148 22,827
Additions NE 303 128 1,750 2,181
Disposals & (2,361) (2,862) (4,028) (9,251)
Derecognised R (5,827) (2,476) — (8,303)
Exchange differences EHEH (185) (77) — (262)
At 30 June 2023 R-E-=Z%xXA=+H 272 5,050 1,870 7,192
Accumulated depreciation Ritine
At 1 July 2021 RZZZ-%+A—-H 2,415 7,420 4,494 14,329
Charge for the year RERMR 87 1,291 266 1,644
Disposals & (60) 1) (612) (883)
Exchange differences EXEE — (52) — (52)
At 30 June 2022 and RZBE-—FXA=ZF+HEK
1 July 2022 —E--F+A—H 2,442 8,448 4,148 15,038
Charge for the year RERMR 782 617 419 1,818
Disposals & (2.361) (2,749) (4,028) (9,138)
Derecognised IR (728) (1,345) = (2,073)
Exchange differences EXEE = (36) = (36)
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=5-A=TH 135 4,935 539 5,609
Carrying amount IRE{E
At 30 June 2023 R-ZE-=Z%XA=1+H 137 115 1,331 1,583
At 30 June 2022 WZZZZFXA=1H 5,900 1,889 - 7,789

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023

Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

18.

'

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EHEEE
2023 2022
—g-= —EFq-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti#& T FET
At 30 June: W7AA=+A8:
Right-of-use assets TREEE
— Land and buildings — T REF 1,288 32,588
— Motor vehicles — AE 3,766 878
5,054 33,466
Lease commitments of short-term leases % HAfl & » & & IE 712 630
The maturity analysis, based on REBZRURRES R
undiscounted cash flows, of the EsHEAEIHA
Group's lease liabilities is as follows: DITWT -
— Less than 1 year — DMF 3,070 3,209
— Between 1 and 2 years — 1E2%F 5,891 2,119
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2&54F 11,840 11,693
— Over 5 years — HBIBSEF 45,668 51,544
66,469 68,565
Year ended 30 June: BEAA=tTHILEEE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAEEENER
assets
— Land and buildings — T RETF 3,518 6,147
— Motor vehicle — "RE 314 —
3,832 6,147
Lease interests HEFE 1,815 1,871
(Reversal of provision)/provision for CTREEEREREIE
impairment loss on right-of-use assets (B & E]) & (3,595) 2,492
Expenses related to short-term leases HEMEESE 2 M 712 630
Total cash outflow for leases HER RN B (3,721) (6,014)
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFREEE 2,894 21,855

The Group leases various land use rights, land and buildings
and motor vehicles. Lease agreements are typically made for
fixed periods of 1 to 19 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

FERBEAREEERAT —B-=&£5H m

AEBEEERELMERE Lk
BFULAE -HEWE —RIEE
195 8 Bl E AR HFT - HEGRR IR
EREEZEHETE YEIEETR
RS B AR - T E 552 1 e pnE (R R
w BHEEETHRERTRNE

ﬁo
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

18. EHREEER)
B O T35 1 R 8 B DL RO S S R

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Due to the change in the market conditions and sublease of

the hotel during the year, there was a significant increase in
the recoverable amount of the relevant assets as at the
commencement date of sublease. As a result, provision
made in prior years against the right-of-use assets of

- HEEERDHERI B K
Ol & B AR - Bt - BEFEE
HERBEETENEREY
3,595,000/ JT 2 &L & 0 -

approximately HK$3,595,000 was reversed.

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. HEME

Car parking Industrial
spaces properties Total
{SE L TEME st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET FHET
Fair value ARE
At 1 July 2021 RZTEZ—FtH—H 191,900 75,634 267,534
Exchange differences NAEEE — (1,956) (1,956)
At 30 June 2022 and R-ZE-_—_FA=+H
1 July 2022 rMZE-__F+H—H 191,900 73,678 265,578
Change in fair value N EEE — (1,918) (1,918)
Exchange differences PE X =% — (5,641) (5,641)
Transfer to assets held HEERENEEE
for sale (note 23) (Hf#t23) = (66,119) (66,119)
At 30 June 2023 RZTZ=F
~A=+A8 191,900 — 191,900
The car parking spaces are situated in Hong Kong. As at = &8 i i B Eﬁ% o )‘5’\\\:i - =

/\ﬂ +E|

30 June 2023, the fair value of the car parking spaces is

approximately HK$191,900,000 (2022: HK$191,900,000),
which was arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited (“Ravia”), an
independent professional valuer. The fair value is based on
the direct comparison approach under fair value
measurement level 2.

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

19.

20.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The industrial properties are situated in the PRC. As at
30 June 2023, the fair value of the industrial properties is
approximately HK$66,119,000 (equivalent to
RMB61,200,000) (2022: HK$73,678,000 (equivalent to
RMB62,900,000)), which was arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out by Ravia. The fair value is based on the
market approach for land and replacement cost approach for
buildings and structures under fair value measurement
level 2.

The Group leases out certain of its investment properties
under operating leases. The average lease term is 1 year
(2022: 2 years). All leases are on a fixed rental basis and
include variable lease payments.

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, the car parking spaces with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$191,900,000 (2022: HK$191,900,000) were pledged to a
bank to secure banking facilities available to the Group. A
deed of assignment of rental income from the car parking
spaces was executed in the favour of the bank.

19. {EYE(E)
TEWEMNTHR R-ZT-_=FX
AR=+H IEWMEZRAABHAE
66,119,000 JT(H & R R &
61,200,000T)( = & = = & :

73,678,000,% T(HERARK
62,900,0007T)) * LB HE LA
Mm@ T 2 AEAEEER - £
WREFMEEDZ ARETID IR
BEWBEANBERNENARETE
F_REE -

AEBZKEHENAEETERED

X FTHHEBAIF(ZE-__F:2

E) FreElHENKETHe &%
BIEAERAE -

R-B—=FR-_E-_—_FA=+
H - 428 MmE% A191,900,000% T
— &~ — £ :191,900,000/% 7T) 2
FENERRTFAEE ZRITMEED
P —ERITIEREIT - LLIRTTAT
FEARGTT —HEHEBEUASIRAEE
24y e

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 20. EYEE
Standing
timbers
REFHRHAK
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 July 2021 R-_E-_—F+A—H 264,209
Change in fair value less costs to sell NAEZER L EKE 10,018
Exchange differences M 5 Z & (7,148)
At 30 June 2022 and RZEZZFXA=1+HBK
1 July 2022 -+ A—H 267,079
Change in fair value less costs to sell DR EZ R EHE KA (16,556)
Exchange differences PE K =% (20,042)
At 30 June 2023 R-ZE-_=F"A=+H 230,481
The Group’s biological assets represent standing timbers on NEE 2 £YEEBA R £30,0007

plantation land of approximately 30,000 Chinese Mu with a
lease term of 30 vyears, expiring in 2038. The standing
timbers comprise mostly poplar trees (accounting over 99%
of the total standing timbers), mixed with a very small
portion of other species of deciduous trees such as elm and
willow. During the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, the
Group did not harvest or sell any standing timbers.

THRREEREEBRAF

laﬂéiﬁiﬁﬂtﬁ’]ﬂi%ﬂmﬁt ZiE
B+ E A30F  RZE=N\F
JEim e AREKMAREB EAGHE (&

EEREEMABIBIOS ) + FiE D
HEMBENEESA - Fl s &
Wt e BE—E-_=ER-_FT-—
NAZTHILEFEE  AEBTERK
% 8 & T A R ERAK AR o

—E=EFR
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

20. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 20. EYEE (&)

The Group’s standing timbers as at 30 June 2023 were
independently valued by Colliers Appraisal and Advisory
Services Co., Ltd. (“Colliers”) which comprises a group of
independent professional valuers with experience and
expertise in relation to biological assets valuation. Their team
consists of professional valuers and agricultural experts who
work together in a wide array of biological assets to ensure
the reliability and fairness of their valuation results.
Accordingly, the directors are of the view that Colliers is
independent and competent to determine the fair value of
the Group’s biological assets.

Colliers has adopted a market approach for the valuation of
standing timbers. The method uses the present market value
in terms of price per unit cubic meter of round logs and the
total merchantable volume of timbers on the plantation land
as at 30 June 2023 as a basis for calculating the fair value
less costs to sell of the biological assets. Colliers has
adopted the measured merchantable volume of standing
timbers as indicated by an independent forest surveyor
engaged by the Group and also verified the market price per
cubic meter of logs by referencing to the market price lists,
after taking into account of local timber manufacturing
factories as well.

The management of the Company reviewed the valuation
performed by Colliers for financial reporting purposes. The
management of the Company:

— assessed the valuation techniques;

— verified all major inputs to the independent valuation
reports; and

—  held discussions with the independent valuer on the
valuation basis, processes and results.

The management of the Company reported directly to the
directors. Discussions of the valuation techniques, changes in
market information, the valuation processes and results were
held between the directors, the management of the
Company and Colliers to ensure the valuation has been
performed properly.

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

20. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
The principal assumptions adopted are as follows:

1. no material changes in the existing financial, economic,
taxation, legal, forestry technological, nature
conditions, political conditions, climate and any other
natural condition; and

2. the market conditions in which the region operate,
which are material to revenue and costs of the
businesses will have no material change.

The valuation techniques used in the determination of fair
values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation
models are disclosed in note 7.

Nature risk

The Group's revenue depends significantly on the ability to
harvest wood at adequate levels. The ability to harvest on
the plantation land and the growth of the trees on the
plantation land may be affected by unfavorable local
weather conditions and natural disasters. Severe weather
conditions and natural disasters such as earthquakes, rainfall,
underground water, fire, disease, insect infestation and pests
are examples of such events. The occurrence of severe
weather conditions or natural disasters may diminish the
supply of trees available for harvesting on the plantation
land, or otherwise impede the Group’s logging operations or
the growth of the trees on the plantation land, which in
turn may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
ability to produce the products in sufficient quantities and a
timely manner.

20. EMEE(E)

A EIEZRRMAT

W%ﬂﬁi %%ﬂﬁ?ﬁ‘ﬂliﬁﬂﬁ
SRR A A H A R A AR R
WHEBANES: &

2. EEAEREETIR (HERBH
Wezs K pk R T = BB EK) 5 3 A

BEEQAEBEMAZGERMNRGEER
BUFR R 2 RS B A BUR O P RE7 4 3R

B 2 g

AREEMKEEEBURNESREKRZ
HE) PR o FETRAE 30 AR AR
EEARBELHEANERIERE
WERARRBERANMBAXENTE -
BAHRRBANKBRKESRME
[EFE i TR A B - B
REREREMF HBRBLRAB
N BAKEF LS BE LA IR
RE) AR A - TRATRELh BE AR SR E Y
ARG BE LMD ER -
MUAEBLBLEERCHERBEN
BENERBRETNMEE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. BILEE
Exclusive Vehicle
Operating distribution registration
rights rights marks Total
EEE BROEE REMRR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAET
Cost A
At 1 July 2021 RZE-—F+tHA—H 151,631 24,115 — 175,746
Exchange differences =R (3,921) — — (3,921)
At 30 June 2022 and RZEZZF- A=T1H
1 July 2022 —E--_%+tA—H 147,710 24,115 = 171,825
Addition nNE — — 498 498
Eliminated on disposal of R E—FH B QA E
a subsidiary # i = (24,115) — (24,115)
Exchange differences fE 5 =8 (11,473) — — (11,473)
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=FR A=1+H 136,237 = 498 136,735
Accumulated amortisation and R :HEi&H & ik EE B
impairment losses
At 1 July 2021 N2+ HF—H 63,601 22,252 — 85,853
Amortisation for the year FREH 5,084 67 — 5,151
Impairment loss recognised FREBAREE
for the year — 1,796 — 1,796
Exchange differences PE =5 (1,804) — — (1,804)
At 30 June 2022 and RZE-—&XA=+H
1 July 2022 MZZT-_Z%tA—H 66,881 24,115 = 90,996
Amortisation for the year FREH 4,742 — — 4,742
Eliminated on disposal of R E—EHE A E
a subsidiary Fagis — (24,115) — (24,115)
Exchange differences E N =% (5,396) — — (5,396)
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=FA=+H 66,227 — — 66,227
Carrying amount fRE(E
At 30 June 2023 RZZE-_=F,A=1H 70,010 = 498 70,508
At 30 June 2022 RWZE-_ZFXA=1H 80,829 — — 80,829

The operating rights relate to the favorable aspect of the
right to use and operate the plantation land of a subsidiary
of the Company. The subsidiary was acquired in the year
ended 30 June 2009. The intangible assets are amortised
using straight-line method over the useful life of 30 years
and the remaining useful life is 15 (2022: 16) years.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

21.

22.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 21.

With reference to a valuation conducted by AP Appraisal
Limited, an independent professional valuer, the recoverable
amount of the Group’s operating rights is higher than its
carrying amount and no impairment has been recognised
during the year ended 30 June 2023. The recoverable
amount has been determined on the basis of the value in
use by using discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value
measurements). The discount rate used was 16.4% (2022:
16%).

The exclusive distribution rights relate to the exclusive rights
to distribute and sell products associated with the golden
flower tea business in the PRC for a period of 30.6 years.
The exclusive distribution rights are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the useful life of 30.6 years and the
remaining useful life is 26.5 years as at 30 June 2022. A full
impairment loss is recognised during the year ended 30 June
2022 as the Group decided to cease the golden flower tea
business.

The vehicle registration marks have an indefinite useful life
and they are carried at cost less any subsequent impairment
losses. No amortisation is provided until the respective useful
life is determined to be finite. Instead, they will be tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. The
management of the Group determined that there was no
impairment of vehicle registration marks as the market value
exceeds the carrying amount as at the end of the reporting
periods.

EBREE (&)

K2EBTFZEGHERAP Appraisal
Limited:EfTHEE BE-_T =4
NAZTHIEFE  REBKEET
MAkEeEsREERE B E
HRME - JRE & EEF AR
imui/f(:%& \ﬁﬁﬂ’i)ﬁz{iﬁﬁ{ﬁ
EET - BEFAMNIEXAB164%
—E - —F 16%)°

BROEEENPESEREES
m%i‘“*ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ’]ﬁ%«%ﬂﬁfﬁ 7%
Hi306F R ZE-_—_F A=+
B BROBENEGEERAERSE
BA30.6%F M #4 T A {5 A 4F HA26.54F #
ﬁﬁ°$ﬁé$%i)&i%§i’f?€?£%
% mREE —#XA=1+H
IFFERNER S—L_\?%’E/FME)EETE°

o

AEMRABERACEAEN BH
AR AR L A R RORE R RSB - 8
PEHiE#H c EEETAMAIERF
HABERAL Rz HSFHE
SEE M (M BB R BB BRE A
BERE) ETTRE R A - A B E R
BEEARNREH R MERLRK
E{E - BUTE BRI ER(E -

GOODWILL 22. B8
HK$'000
FHET
Cost DN
At beginning and end of reporting period REmE YRR 1,087

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the CGU that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill
had been allocated to the CGU of trading of motor vehicles.

FERBEAREEERAT —B-=&£5H m
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

22. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 22,

Impairment testing of goodwill
Trading of motor vehicles CGU

Goodwill is tested for impairment for this CGU by the
management by estimating the recoverable amount of the
CGU based on value-in-use calculation.

As at 30 June 2023, the value-in-use calculation uses cash
flow projections based on the financial budgets approved by
the management covering a 5-year period. Key assumptions
used by the management in the value-in-use calculation of
the CGU include budgeted revenue and gross profit margin.
The pre-tax discount rate used for estimating the value in
use is 10.2%. The assumptions have been determined based
on past performance and management’s expectations in
respect of the motor vehicles trading in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

The management is not currently aware of any other
probable changes that would necessitate changes in its key
estimates. No impairment loss has been recognised for the
year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

23. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/ 23.

LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 31 March 2023, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of its 100% equity interest in a subsidiary, namely
First Rank Corporation, and all of its 80% equity interest in
two subsidiaries, namely Warner Investments Limited and 5
ZARFEIE AR AR for a consideration of HK$59,000,000.
The disposal group mainly holds industrial properties with
fair value of approximately HK$66,199,000 in the PRC. The
assets and liabilities of the disposal group, which are
expected to be sold within twelve months, have been
classified as a disposal group held for sale and are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The disposal group is included in the Group's
property investment segment.

As at 30 June 2023, the disposal have not been completed

and presented the relevant assets and liabilities were
classified as held for sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

23. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/ 23. PEABRIEHEZEE WYy
LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS HARELHEZEEHMAZE
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED) & (&)

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the RZBEZ=FNA=THHAKSEA
disposal group classified as held for sale at 30 June 2023 FELESE EERABEEEA
are as follows: U
HK$'000
THET
Investment properties S-S /ES 66,119
Cash and cash equivalents ReERFRRE 109
Total assets classified as held for sale DERFBELHEZEERE 66,228
Trade and other payables, and total liabilities & {<f BR 5k K E ) jiE 1< 5038 - A Jz B2
associated with assets classified as held for D AFIELE 2 EEMBE 2
sale BEEE (10,195)
Net assets of the disposal group HEEECEEFHAE 56,033
24. INVENTORIES 2. B8
2023 2022
—F=-= —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAET
Goods for resale BEE R 33,445 29,630
25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. FEWI AR & H fh FE W =R IE
2023 2022
—E=-= —_F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Trade receivables JE L2 BR 3K 25,339 33,369
Less: provision for impairment loss of M : J& Uk BR 7% 8 & /&5 18
trade receivables B (8,565) (8,231)
16,774 25,138
Prepayments, deposits and other TN RIE - HE RHEAM
receivables FE W SR IE 20,886 22,059
Less: provision for impairment loss of g : B HKIE - & K
prepayments, deposits and other H b B WK IE R
receivables BEEERE — (696)
20,886 21,363
Total #Et 37,660 46,501

hEEEEREEARAT —B-= £4% m
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e For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE
25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25.
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to 90
(2022: 30 to 90) days. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. For new customers, payment in advance or cash on
delivery is normally required. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

I Mg B 5k % L i FEE W 7R 1A (48)

AEBFENUFEEFRERPIIUR
S & 15 B B — % N F30290K
(ZZZ % :30290K) "5 - 11
BREHBEEELR - RFPEEAR
RIS E R 3R - NEE skREHE
AR EEEBWRIEESEREE &

YRR IZER BB Z Rk 917 (2
kR m T

2023 2022
—F=-= —_ -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
0-90 days 0ZE90k 11,576 17,169
91-180 days 91E180K 1,134 5,317
181-360 days 181E360K 2,164 114
Over 360 days HE360K 1,900 2,538
16,774 25,138
The movement in provision for impairment of trade FEWERFURBEREZESOT
receivables is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= -
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FAET
Balance at beginning of year F ¥ 45 R 8,231 8,062
Impairment loss recognised ERRREEE 503 175
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary 7 H & —EH B A 56
Eag (156) —
Exchange differences ME 5, Z 5 (13) (6)
Balance at end of year F IR e 8,565 8,231

Impaired trade receivables were mainly due from customers
with long outstanding balances and the management of the
Group considered the recoverability is remote as the related
customers were in financial difficulties or have prolonged
delay in repayment. The Group did not hold any material
collateral over those balances.

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The movement in provision for impairment of prepayments,

25. FEWARFR R H fth FEM R IE (48)

BN IR RE RE MR WRRIE

deposits and other receivables is as follows: BEEHOT :

2023 2022
—®-= —F=- =
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Balance at beginning of year F R 696 1,000
Impairment loss recognised ERRREEHE — 408
Reversal of impairment loss B B 18 B (300) (700)
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary 7 H & — KB 2 5k

Eag ! (365) —
Exchange differences ME 5 Z 5 (31) (12)
Balance at end of year FRER = 696

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward

7N 52 8 B A & 8 B 7 S E R B O5R
R RET 0k - B A AT A FE AR R
MEHEHEERE  HERHESR
R - RETEEREEREE  BUYK
A EREBE KRG E R s8R
BUETT M - BHEEBETEREAN

looking information. EMEER -
1-90 91-180 181-360  Over 360
days past days past days past days past
Current due due due due Total
ciEf EEf ciEf EEf
B 1EF90X 91EF180X 181E360K #if360K @t
At 30 June 2023 R-E-=%
~HA=tH
Weighted average MEFHBHREEX
expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 82%
Receivable amount EhREBE(TEL
(HK$'000) 11,573 1,133 1,414 802 10,417 25,339
Loss allowance (HK$'000) E5#E&E (TET) — — = = (8,565) (8,565)
At 30 June 2022 R-B-_—&
~A=tH
Weighted average MEFHREEREE
expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 90%
Receivable amount EhREBE(THEL)
(HK$'000) 17,169 5,305 56 106 10,733 33,369
Loss allowance (HK$'000) & B R & (TAT) = — = — (8,231) (8,231)

THRREEREEBRAR
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mEeMBHmRRME
- For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE
25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. FEMY AR = B H fih FE W =R IE (48)
(CONTINUED)
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a E@EERBE EBMRIBES ZE
number of independent customers who have no recent $’E@155&Hﬁ%ﬁﬂr§8&*ﬁﬂ 1T
history of default and have kept good track records with the B BYEPEHE  AKREYE
Group. The Group does not hold any collateral over these E‘{EM—% ERRIT B T MER R o BB
balances. Based on past experience, the management Tk BEEEME EEIEA ZEEBRE
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect BUYEmEXNEEEXEHEMERA]
of these balances as there are no significant change in their 2 - WBERZEERIELR
respective credit quality and the balances are still considered BEE-
fully recoverable.
26. LOANS RECEIVABLE 26. FEWIERK
2023 2022
—TC-=F —F-Z
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Loans receivable JE U E R 16,158 16,166
Less: provision for impairment loss of i : F’Eﬂﬂlﬁ FOR B & 1B
loans receivable (8,323) (4,033)
7,835 12,133
Loans receivable, secured FEWE K - B 876 1,000
Loans receivable, unsecured FEUWE K - KR 5,000 8,802
Loan interests receivable, secured JEWE S E - BHE T 2 1
Loan interests receivable, unsecured FEWE A B - EE R 1,957 2,330
7,835 12,133
Analysed as: DR
Current assets MENE E 7,318 12,133
Non-current assets FMEBEE 517 —
7,835 12,133

The loans granted are interest bearing at 2%—20% (2022:
2%—-20%) per annum. The loan periods are generally 12 to

M

BHE 2 EFZFMNE2%E20% (ZF
T F 1 2%E20% )T A o E?’J\Hﬂﬁﬁ

m

24 (2022: 12) months. Loans receivable of approximately —312124(_2:: 2 12) 1@
HK$876,000 (2022: HK$1,000,000) are secured by watches A e W E X 49876, ooo% ﬁ(: =
(2022: watches). The directors of the Company monitored Z T, OOO 00078 7U) LA F k(=
the collectibility of the loans receivable closely with reference T FiE) fERR - ANE jﬁ
to their respective current creditworthiness and repayment E2EZH @R E A T:. RAEKRER:
records. 8 BYEREWER EI’JEMSZ@’E °
The ageing analysis of these loans and interests receivable, $ETJ§$EE§E\%’J%C§UE’J§M FIAEE
based on loan commencement or renewal dates set out in HEMZERREREF SRR DN
the relevant contracts, is as follows: mr
2023 2022
—F=-= T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FAT

181-360 days 181ZE360K 7,835 12,133

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

I g

26. LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 26. FEWIEERK (&)
The movement in provision for impairment of loans FERERFREREZSHOT :

receivable is as follows:

2023 2022
—E¥Z-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Balance at beginning of year F R 4,033 4,152
Impairment loss recognised ERRREEE 4,290 —
Amounts written off B & 5 — (119)
Balance at end of year F R G 8,323 4,033
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to AEEEBEBNGRELENBSR
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected HETRBERE  FAMAERIKER
loss provision for all loans and interests receivable. To RFEaEBTEMEEEE  stEH
measure the expected credit losses, loans and interests EEEBREE RIEHEHEE
receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk BiE - BRERERMNEEREREE
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit ERBEHLEAREHETHHE T8
losses also incorporate forward looking information. HESEEBETEEAEMLEER -

91-180 181-360 Over 360
days past days past days past

Current due due due Total
[=E k. CEH CiEH
EI#  91E180X 181FE360K  #if360K @t
At 30 June 2023 R-ZE-=%
~A=+H
Weighted average expected g F15 8 HE5 18 %
loss rate 52% 0% 0% 0%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) fEU &% (F# L) 16,158 - - - 16,158
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BREEB(TETL (8,323) - — — (8,323)
At 30 June 2022 R-ZE-Z&
~A=+H
Weighted average expected g1 EHE B X
loss rate 0% 100% 0% 0%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) FEW & % (F#T) 12,133 4,033 = = 16,166
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE(TET - (4,033) — . (4,033)

FERBEAREEERAT —B-=&£5H m



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

rthe year ended 30 June 2023 B EZE-_T=-_=F A A=1THIFE

27. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 27. BRI EHERE
Present value of lease
Lease payments payments
HEHE HERRRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—F=-= —E—-— —F=-= —E-—

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAET FET TET

Less than 1 year kS 3,640 — — —
Between 1 and 2 years 18226 6,618 — 644 —
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 5,386 — 829 —
Between 3 and 4 years 3E4F 4,793 — 284 —
Between 4 and 5 years AE5F 5,080 — 631 —
Over 5 years B 5 66,723 — 34,359 —
92,240 — 36,747 —
Less: Unearned finance R BT B U A
income (55,493) —
Present value of lease HEMNKIEE
payments 36,747 —
Less: Amount within 12 WRNREARNZEE
months (shown under BIRRAREEE)
current assets) = —
Amount receivable after 1218 A% 2 W GRIE
12 months 36,747 —

The Group leases out its hotel business under a finance ANEBRERMEHELHEAEER %
lease. The lease is on a fixed repayment basis and no MEXRETERERE BHMERJEHE
arrangements have been entered into for variable lease {FET M ZHE »

payments.
Disclosures of finance lease-related items: mEHEHEBERHE
2023 2022
—E=-= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#T FE T
Year ended 30 June: BEAA=ZTHILEE:
Finance income on net investment &R & F5E 2 B A
in the lease 394 =
Significant changes in net HEREFHE2ERED
investment in the lease
— Increase due to a new lease — A—( A EREE M 37,161 —
— Decrease due to repayments — AERR D 808 —

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

28.

29.

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

28.

AR EHNBSZBE

2023 2022
—F¥=-= B
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FAT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, RZ&B LEWm 2K A

at fair value FBE CEANE 725 961

Unlisted investment — keyman RETRE — FEBAE
insurance contract REBE 4 18,908 18,160
19,633 19,121

The fair value of the listed equity securities was determined
based on the quoted market bid prices of the corresponding
listed equity securities.

The keyman insurance contract relates to an insurance policy
insured for Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, the chief executive officer
and an executive director of the Company. The keyman
insurance contract is denominated in US dollars. The fair
value of the keyman insurance contract was estimated by
making reference to the cash surrender value set out in the
policy statement provided by the insurance company.

As at 30 June 2023, the keyman insurance contract with
carrying amount of approximately HK$18,908,000 (2022:
HK$18,160,000) was pledged to a bank to secure banking
facilities available to the Group.

REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT

The Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement and
a supplemental agreement on 27 November 2013 and
16 December 2013, respectively, with an independent third
party in relation to the acquisition of 100% equity interest
of a target company and its subsidiaries which are mainly
engaged in hotel operations in the PRC (the “Proposed
Acquisition”). On 23 December 2013, an amount of
HK$150,000,000 was paid by the Group as refundable
deposit. The refundable deposit was charged over the entire
issued share capital of a Hong Kong subsidiary of the target
company and was classified as secured deposit for
acquisition of subsidiaries as at 30 June 2014.

THRREEREEBRAF

29.

FHRARBSH AR BETRIBAERE L
MBRABHERNHRMIGEABET

TEABRRAHERDAITHARY
RATEFLEELERRNRESR
Me-ZEIZABRBRAMUEITA
B - TBABRBAONAAESE
R AR RENRERSE 2 RRE
BEeBET N -

R-IZE-=ZFEXA=+H EEEY
/318,908,000 ;L (= T = — F:
18,160,000 L) M EZEABRKRE
PR FAEEZRITHRELGRTIR
TEBIEIR -

ERECHKFRE

AEBH-—ZBIF - HFN_T—=
F+—A-++tBRER-_ZE—Z=F+=
H+AE o RIRT M B B s KA e

'mAﬁﬁ%%EF“T&EWE
@72100%9;@1&% CHEBRAF
B EREEE((EZKEBEE]) -
RZEBE—=F+-_A=-+=H' K%
[ 5% £t150,000,0007% JT © 1 & 7] &
B MN_E—NWMEFEA=18H"
ZEURERSERBERFTN—HE
EANBRAR 2 BITRAIER
W UHBEARKENBARBIKE
B o

b g XS0 147
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

29.

REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT (CONTINUED)

According to the Company’s announcement dated
28 October 2014, the Group and the vendor entered into a
termination agreement to terminate the Proposed
Acquisition because certain conditions precedent of the
Proposed Acquisition were not satisfied. Pursuant to the
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor agreed
that the refundable deposit shall be refunded to the Group
by three installments including HK$60,000,000;
HK$45,000,000; and HK$45,000,000, repayable on
10 November 2014, 27 January 2015 and 27 April 2015,
respectively. The first installment of HK$60,000,000 was
received by the Company on 7 November 2014.

According to the Company’s announcement dated 18 June
2015, the Group and the vendor entered into a
supplemental termination agreement to amend certain terms
of the termination agreement relating to the refund of the
remaining refundable deposit. Pursuant to the supplemental
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor have
agreed that the remaining refundable deposit shall be
refunded to the Group by two installments including
HK$20,000,000 and HK$70,000,000, together with interest
as calculated at 5% per annum, repayable on 18 June 2015
and 19 November 2015, respectively. The second installment
of HK$20,000,000 together with interest was received by the
Group on 18 June 2015. During the year ended 30 June
2018, the Group received deposit refund of HK$58,000,000
together with interest income of HK$2,000,000. On
23 August 2021, the Group and the vendor entered into an
agreement for the settlement of the remaining refundable
deposit of HK$12,000,000. Pursuant to the agreement, the
vendor shall pay HK$1,000,000 and HK$11,000,000 with
interest as calculated at 1% per annum within 14 days and
24 months, respectively, from the date of agreement signed.
During the year ended 30 June 2022, deposit of
HK$1,000,000 was refunded to the Group. The outstanding
amount of HK$11,000,000 (together with the accrued
interest) was overdue on 22 August 2023. The board of
directors of the Company decided not to extend the
settlement date. The Company had engaged an external
legal adviser to serve two demand letters to the vendor on
7 September 2023 and 21 September 2023 respectively to
request for repayment of such outstanding amount. The
recovering process is still ongoing as at the date of this
annual report.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment loss is necessary in respect of this
balance as the Group obtains collateral from the vendor of
which the estimated value is sufficient to cover the
outstanding amount in case of default.

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

»

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EMFERAR R EMERIE
2023 2022
—g-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#&T FET
Trade payables FETBR 3K 10,917 9,121
Other payables and accruals HihEAREBER
FE T FKIB 7,346 24,146
Receipt of deposits for disposal of WREBRLESER
assets classified as held for sale BIEHEEEZES 11,800 —
30,063 33,267

FEfTBR IR E B 8 2 BR % 9 T 40

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of

receipt of goods, is as follows: Nk

2023 2022
—g-= —=E=-=

HK$'000 HK$ 000
TER FHET
0-90 days 0£90K 10,280 9,012
91-180 days 912 180K 528 —
181-360 days 1812360k C 1
Over 360 days B A360K 109 108
10,917 9,121

hEEEEREEARAT —B-= £4% m
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mERKBRRME
%r the year ended 30 June 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=FA=THILFE
31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HHE&E
Present Present
value of value of
Lease Lease lease lease
payments payments  payments payments
HE GiEN=1
HEMRR HEMK A E NHRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—g-= —E-= —g-= —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FEL FH#ET FEL
Within one year —FRN 3,070 3,209 1,205 2,221
In the second to fifth years, F-EZERF
inclusive (BREEEMSF) 17,731 13,812 11,436 35,070
After five years AEH 45,668 51,544 36,923 13,050
66,469 68,565 49,564 50,341
Less: Future finance charges W ARKRBEER (16,905) (18,224)
Present value of lease obligations MEETHE 49,564 50,341
Less: Amount due for settlement 3 : 121& B R 2| &7
within 12 months (shown HEHA
under current liabilities) (BRI ED
BE IET) (1,205) (2,221)
Amount due for settlement after 12 A& F & E
12 months HIE 48,359 48,120
At 30 June 2023, the average effective borrowing rate was RZZEZ=FA=1+8"  FHEK
3.91% (2022: 3.78%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract BEEMRK AN (ZE = — F:
dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate 3.78%) M EREXHBHEEEE -
risk. A fFEAEE@RAAENERER -
32. BORROWINGS 32. B
2023 2022
—g=-= —=E=-=
HK$'000 HK$ 000
Fi#&T FET
Bank loans RITE R 73,342 67,657
Director loans EFEEN 806 558
74,148 68,215

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

32. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 32.

& ()

The banking facilities of the installment loan and revolving
loan contain a repayment on demand clause that provides
the bank with an unconditional right to demand repayment
at any time at its own discretion. As at 30 June 2023,
installment loan of approximately HK$49,242,000 (2022:
HK$52,357,000) is repayable more than one year after the
end of the reporting period pursuant to the repayment
schedule included in the installment loan agreement.
Revolving loans of approximately HK$24,100,000 (2022:
HK$15,300,000) are repayable on the maturity date of that
advance unless the bank allows for a rollover. Bank loans are
charged at 2.75% per annum below the bank’s prime
lending rate and 3% per annum over HIBOR (2022: 2.75%
below the bank’s prime lending rate). Due to the repayment
on demand clause, such amounts of loans were classified as
current liabilities as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 in accordance
with Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause. The bank
loans are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

As at 30 June 2023, the bank loans were secured by (i) the
car parking spaces with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$191,900,000; (i) a deed of assignment of
rental income from the car parking spaces; (iii) the keyman
insurance contract classified under the investments at fair
value through profit or loss with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$18,908,000; and (iv) personal guarantee
from a director of the Company.

The director loans are unsecured,
within one year.

interest-free and repayable

The effective interest rate at the end of the reporting period
was 3.13% (2022: 2.52%).

FERBEAREEERAT —B-=&£5H m

PHEFRMBERERNWETRE
BEERERKERGER B TRITER
HEMNAUTBERBNBERER R
—E=FEXA=1TA SHERD
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52,357,0007% 70) B R & 5 B E 3 %
EEERKARAREHRELEA
—FREE BRIFRITATER &
Bl] #724,100,000 o (Z & = — F
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RITREREFNEEF27I5%EERE
BIRTRAERBETFF3I%TEB(ZF
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275%) AR IREREBEKRK R
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o
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ZN
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

33. DEFERRED TAX 33.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised by the Group.

BIEHIR
U AR EEERNERELEH AR

& o

Fair value
adjustment
on biological Operating
assets rights Total
A E Y ] i
AR ERE mER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FABT FBT FAET
At 1 July 2021 RZTEZ—FtH—H 66,054 22,006 88,060
Charged/(credited) to profit or & AR E K, (GFA)
loss for the year (note 12) (Hiit12) 2,504 (1,271) 1,233
Exchange differences &N =% (1,787) (529) (2,316)
At 30 June 2022 and RZTZZFA=+H
1 July 2022 rE=—ZE-—_F+H—H 66,771 20,206 86,977
Credited to profit or loss for & AR B+ A
the year (note 12) (H1at12) (4,139) (1,186) (5,325)
Exchange differences PE i =%H (5,010) (1,519) (6,529)
At 30 June 2023 RZZEZ=FXHA="H 57,622 17,501 75,123

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$127,737,000 (2022:
HK$120,390,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams of the respective group entities. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$4,140,000 (equivalent to RMB3,832,000) (2022:
HK$5,235,000 (equivalent to RMB4,469,000)) that will expire
in 5 years from the year of origination. Other tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

REBPR AEB RS AMRE
B8 #9127,737,0008 L (— 2 = — 4 :
120,390,000/ JT) A] f % $4 K &
mA e ARERTBA S EETEAK
BAR OMAERASAREEIR
BREERBEE - ;T AKRERBIE
&5 18 19 & 18 494,140,000/ 7T (# &
M ARK3,832,000L)(—F = —4:
5,235,000 T (M E RN AR
4,469,00070)) #% B #B 18 F [Z 515
g}@ﬁ o E th ¢ I8 &5 18 AT % ZEBR B 45

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. X
2023 2022
—E-= —E=-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#&T FET
Authorised: JETE
15,000,000,000 ordinary shares of FRREE0.02EB T2
HK$0.02 each 15,000,000,0000% & i I% 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHE
2,036,538,114 (2022: 2,036,538,114) & PRME{E0.02/ L~
ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each 2,036,538,1140%
(ZZE=-——F:
2,036,538, 114%) & @ % 40,731 40,731

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WmR M

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. AT ZHBRREREE
COMPANY AND RESERVES

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) XABIZHBRAR
Company
2023 2022
—®¥=-= —ET-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#T FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RAF Z®RE 18 18
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other BT ZIE - & R E A
receivables fE U FR B 634 653
Due from subsidiaries JFE BT B A Rl /I8 277,929 274,826
Bank and cash balances RITRIB & 1,789 851
280,352 276,330
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables H b FE < 5K 1B 13,836 9,045
Due to subsidiaries XN EENGIE S 64,012 52,488
77,848 61,533
Net current assets RBEEFE 202,504 214,797
NET ASSETS EEESH 202,522 214,815
Capital and reserves BEXRREE
Share capital [N 40,731 40,731
Reserves G 161,791 174,084
TOTAL EQUITY MR 202,522 214,815

FERBEAREEERAT —B-=&£5H m
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e For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

%.ﬁ%ﬁZ%ﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁ
we

(b) FABIfE

(b) Reserves of the Company

Share-based

Share compensation Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
BtrifE BB tiE RitEHE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 July 2021 R-_T-—F
+H—H 1,210,501 12,630 (1,033,773) 189,358
Loss for the year FEBRE — — (15,274) (15,274)
At 30 June 2022 i —
NA=1H 1,210,501 12,630 (1,049,047) 174,084
At 1 July 2022 R
+H—H 1,210,501 12,630 (1,049,047) 174,084
Loss for the year FEBE = — (12,293) (12,293)
At 30 June 2023 R-ZT_=%F
NA=1H 1,210,501 12,630 (1,061,340) 161,791
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group () FEEfREBEZHERAR
(i) Share premium account (i) MRPBRER
Under the Companies Act (as revised) of the BREREESQAZEMK
Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium Ba]) AR E KRG EE
account of the Company are distributable to the BReEBE®ADIKTARA
shareholders of the Company provided that B HERTIREBHEER
immediately following the date on which the Pal i N == K NN ]
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the 1HEERTE BB XK RBRESP
Company will be in a position to pay off its EERAEE-
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
(ii) Statutory reserve (i) EEGEE

In accordance with the relevant regulations of the
PRC, the group entities established in the PRC
are required to transfer a certain percentage of
the profit after tax, if any, to a statutory reserve.
Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the
relevant regulations, the statutory reserve may be
used to offset the accumulated losses, if any, of
the group entities.

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE-—T-=F - A=1+HIFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. QAT ZHBRREREE

36.

\
COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) (%)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group () FEERFEZHERAR
(Continued) (48)
(iii) Capital reserve (iii) BAXGEE
Capital reserve represents the difference between BARRBBEARREAZ
the capital injection made by the Company over BB E AR M
the nominal value of the registered capital of the BEARAEBEHNERE-
subsidiaries in the PRC.
(iv) Share-based compensation reserve (iv) BB EEE

Share-based compensation reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to directors
and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in
note 4.

(v) Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 4.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme

The existing share option scheme of the Company was
approved on 11 November 2015 (“Share Option Scheme”)
(the 10% general limit under the said share option scheme
has been refreshed pursuant to a resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 11 November 2015). The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Group with a
flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, and/or providing benefits to the participant
and to provide the participant with the opportunity to
acquire a personal stake in the Group and to build common
objectives of the Group and the participant for the
betterment of business and profitability of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole.

FERBEAREEERAT —B-=&£5H m

36.
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AN mAEE AR SER
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EREERBZERSMG
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DNffE-
(v) SPERREEE

SME R I FE B ERIRES
SNEBMBRERMELE 2
MEENEZR BRARE
IR I AR 8l 2 & 5T IR
RELHE

VAR 3 o B il B 19 3K
RS H 2 BB ik #E 5t 8l

ARARBRITEEREFEN _F—0F
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 36.

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The Board of Directors may, at their discretion, invite any
participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her
signing the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the
option and paying HK$1 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares in the Company under the
Share Option Scheme will be the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares in the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which
date must be a business day); (ii) a price being the average
of the closing prices of the shares in the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company.

The total number of shares in the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares in the Company in issue as at the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. An option
may be exercised during a period to be determined by the
directors in its absolute discretion and in any such period
shall not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which
the option is granted.

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant under the
Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1%
limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting. The Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date upon
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted.

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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36. Wiz B &R 43K (&)

DS HE 2R EST 8 (&)
WREEE HENT

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Details of the movements of share options are as follows:

Exercise price

Number of
share options
BR#EE
Balance as at
1 July 2021
30 June 2022,

1 July 2022 and

Grantees Date of grant  Exercise period per share 30 June 2023
R=-B=—%
tB—8-
—Eg=-Z
~A=+H-
—g=-C
tA—B%
—EZ=%
RIEBA EHBEH T e 8 BRITHEE SA=+BHZER
HK$
BT
Executive directors 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 42,428,451
HITESE —E-RE “E-RNEMAZTZHE
mA-+—-H —ECRFEAZ-+—H
Executive directors 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 9,900,000
BiTES —ZE-N\F —ZE-NFXARAZE
NARA —ZEN\FXRAMA
Chief executive officer 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 14,142,817
THAEH —E-RF ZE-RFEMAZtZHE
MAZ-+=H ZEZRFWEAZ+—H
Chief executive officer 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 2,800,000
THEBE —E-N\F —E-)\EXARABZE
~NHARA ZZEN\FXRAMA
Independent non-executive 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 3,000,000
directors
BUFNITES —E-N\F —ZE-NFRAEAE
~NARA —ZEZ)N\FSRAMNA
An employee 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 14,142,817
—%ES —E-RF —E-R"FWEA=ZF+Z=ZHE
mA-+—-H” —ERFEAZ-+—H
Employees 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 18,700,000
=3 —ZE-NF —E-NFEXRARAZE
ANARA —ZEN\FRAMA
105,114,085
Weighted average 0.2426
exercise price (HK$)
MEFGITEEET)
TEBREEREEERAT ZB-=£4% @NEY




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WmR M

-~ For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The fair value of share options was calculated using the
binomial pricing model. The inputs into the model are as

36. LIk BB MR (E)
URESH 2RIk &8 (&)

BREZARENER —HUEEE
BRGHE ZRWZWABEOT

follows:
Date of grant 22 April 2016 5 June 2018
—E—RE —E—-N\Ef
R BaH mA=+=H 7~AAH
Stock price % & HK$0.198 HK$0.315
0.198%8 7T 0.315%8 7T
Strike price TE(E HK$0.2064 HK$0.317
0.20647% 7T 03178 7T
Historical volatility i A ] 96.86% 47.82%
Contractual life (years) AHFH(F) 10 10
Risk free rate f [ b ) = 1.311% 2.125%
Dividend yield e B e & 0% 0%
Early exercise multiple RETEBH 2.8 2.2-2.8
Exit rate per annum FRmAKE 22.92% 0%-27.32%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the
previous 10 years. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, based on the Group’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

TEHIR IR IIRIBA DB RERBE 1
FZELRBOFEMEE - ZEA
ARZEHFHOREASE 2 &IE
fBEt > AR EE  TERBILITA

AEPERZEE

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. ZGFERERERZHE

OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Purchase of non-controlling interests (a)

On 13 April 2023, the Group acquired the remaining
40% interest in a subsidiary from the non-controlling
shareholders at a cash consideration of HK$40. The
effect of the acquisition on the equity attributable to
the owners of the Company is as follows:

RBEEERESR

RZE-_=ZFMWA+=H" =&
EEEIEERBEKE B
BARZHBI0%EZS  BE
RAE B407% T - W ¥ AR A
HEABGEDZZZENT

HK$'000
FHET
Share of net liabilities in the subsidiary acquired D {hFrUEH B A G & &
F 8 (1,904)
Consideration KB —
Loss on acquisition recognised directly in equity EBEIERERERZ WEEIE (1,904)
(b) Disposal of a subsidiary (b) HE—HEMHBAT

On 16 January 2023, the Group disposed of all its
shares in E/8I1&Z 8 5B R 727 for nil consideration.

Net assets at the date of disposals are as follows:

RZE-_=ZF—A+ B &
EEEEHEERLEBEEE
SBERARZHERD -

REEBRZEEFEDT

HK$'000
TFERT
Trade and other receivables JE 5 Bl R Ke L A, KR TR 22
Trade and other payables JE A1 BR 0 R E Ath FE 5 3018 (29)
Bank and cash balances AT IR & AR 30
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE 23
Release of cumulative foreign currency f# B R &HIME 2 H
translation reserve (8)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRBARZERE (15)
Total consideration BRE —
Net cash outflow arising from HEEX RS ML FRE
disposals:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHER & KERRSER (30)

THRREEREEBRAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. ZERERERZHT(E)
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Changes in liabilities arising from financing () MEFDHELEZEREEH

activities

TRINREFARNEEREE S

The following table shows the Group’s changes in

liabilities arising from financing activities during the EXCBEEZD:
year:
Total
liabilities
from
Lease financing
Borrowings liabilities activities
RMEEEELE
™ HEEHE ZHBEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 July 2021 R-ZE-_—F+A—H 71,787 37,548 109,335
Changes in cash flows ReEREEH (5,285) (6,014) (11,299)
Non-cash changes FEE2EH
— additions =1 — 21,855 21,855
— interest charged — BEHE 1,737 1,871 3,608
— gain on waiver of fﬂ%%fﬁ%%uﬁlé
lease liabilities — (2,578) (2,578)
— exchange differences — [E X =58 (24) (2,3417) (2,365)
At 30 June 2022 and B _FA=+H
1 July 2022 rE=—ZFE-—_F+HF—H 68,215 50,341 118,556
Changes in cash flows Bers® 3,637 (3,721) (84)
Non-cash changes R F
— additions — AE = 2,894 2,894
— interest charged — BEFE 2,318 1,815 4,133
— Offset with finance — HKiEmERE R’
lease receivables RIE = (120) (120)
— exchange differences — [EH =% (22) (1,645) (1,667)
At 30 June 2023 R-ZEZ=FA=1H 74,148 49,564 123,712

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities

at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

38. HAREE

AEBR-_ZBE-_ZFR_ZT__FX
A=+ HIEBEMERKREARE-

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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'

39. COMMITMENTS 39. HKiE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RMEHAR  NEBERUTEKRE
contracted with a tenant for the following minimum lease HENRE—RBFPITBEEL:

payments receivable:

2023 2022
—®-= —F=- =

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET FAT

Within one year —F R 2,000 2,000
The Group leases its investment properties (note 19) under AEERBRKEHETHHEERE
an operating lease arrangement which runs for an initial mE(Ms19)  MZHBARF (ZF
period of 1 year (2022: 2 years), with an option to renew CTF ) FEERRIBAKAK
the lease terms at the expiry date or at dates as mutually SEEEFPFEFHBECAHEEMR

agreed between the Group and the tenant. H o
40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. FAEANLTXS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed (a) BRRZFHE VMK EME

elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, DRBEZR G REBRI F

during the year, the Group entered into the following N REBEFTZ AT EKEE

material related party transactions. ATR5 -
2023 2022
—¥Z= —T-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAET
Sales to a related company m—HRERRIEE
(note (a)) (K75t (@a)) 40 8

Note: et -

(@)  Goods were sold to and purchased from a company whose (@ R-HARAAHEERE —HRAAF
director is the spouse of a director of the Company’s BEER ZRAAESFRAEAR
subsidiary. AMBAR —BREEZBM®-

(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) EEEBASHHN

Remuneration for key management personnel of the $%I%f§\i¥{\§2%ﬁ?j’g

Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s E%Hi'$ ﬁhﬂ§$&$ﬁﬁﬁ

directors and all the highest paid employees, is Z%HEE'\ZMIE PR 148

disclosed in note 14. B °

FERBEAREEERAT —B-=&£5H m
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E-_T-_=FA=1+HIFE

41. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 41.

OF THE COMPANY

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
30 June 2023 are as follows:

FABETEMBAEFE

J& U A< BT BB A )Y RRIA R R R
A 2B RERETEERS -

RZE-_=FA=Z+B > KXRQRA*x
EHBARIZFHBOT

Place of
incorporation/

registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid-up capital ownership interest  Principal activities
SRR R EETR
& BEDE BREF HAHEET L ETEEH
Direct Indirect
BE Bl %
Grand Diamond Investment Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Provision of money
Limited lending services
EBREBRAA & & REEERS
International Richway Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% — Provision of
management
services and
investment holding
HEERERAR B 10,0008 7T RUBERB R
REZR
Mega Choice Holdings Limited The British Virgin US$1 100% — Securities trading and
Islands investments
HERZHE (EH EHREERKRE
Prima Choice Limited The British Virgin US$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
RERZHS 1T REZRK
Harvest Top Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 100% Property investment
HAZRARAT B 10,0007 7T MEKRE
BAC HK Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 90% Trading of motor
vehicles and related
accessories
B 10,0008 7T BEEAEREBREN
Power Asia Motorsport Company  Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 90% Trading of motorcycles
Limited and related
accessories
B 10,0007 7T BEEEEENEH
[
Ll e MEFRBRA (Note 1)  the PRC HK$600,000 = 100% Plantation related
(Hi#£1) business
& 600,0007% 7T BEARES
RERHBIEAR AR (Note 1) the PRC HK$77,000,000 — 80% Property investment
(Hfiz1)
H & 77,000,000 7T MERE

m China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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41.

42.

r

PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 41. AATETEMBATHE (&)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid-up capital ownership interest  Principal activities
SR AR AL R R EETR
& BEME BREF BAEET L TEEH
Direct Indirect
HE ol %

CER Ho Wun Motors Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 51% Trading of motor
vehicle accessories
and investment
holding

IFEEEERRA 5 1007 7T BEEAERHRKRE
7R

HEEEORI)ERTEAF  the PRC — — 51% Trading of motor

(Note 1) (Hi71) vehicle accessories
HE BEHEABRN
Peak Environmental Resources Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 — 100% Trading of recycled
Limited metals
RRRREXZAERAF B 7,000,000/ 7T BEEOKEE
Samuel Environmental Resources  Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Trading of recycled
(Hong Kong) Limited metals
BRARRREF(BB)ARLDA BB 18T EEOk:E
Waldo Kingdom Private Limited Nepal NPR251,877,700 — 100% Hotel business
=k 251,877,700 BEIEES
fESRmE L

Note 1:  Wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the PRC. Bazr - RHBPBIKIZIZEZEBINE -

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 42. WEGESHMBERER

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and BEMBRER_ZE_=FNLA

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on “thBERESSHENRERE-

29 September 2023.

FERBEAREEERAT —B-=&£5H m



Five-Year Financial Summary

EEMEME

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the ANEEBEREFRFENEEEEEN
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BEZMEHN T ARDIHEHEE T
published audited financial statements and reclassified as FZEBZUBHREX TR BEEBRL =

appropriate, is set out below. oM
RESULTS For the years ended 30 June
EF BERNAZTHILEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—g-= B T ZEBE-TFE —ZE-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT TAT TAT TAT

Revenue U 25 84,414 93,188 77,878 75,406 119,387
Loss before tax Bk i B B 48 (40,134) (13,222) (50,056) (56,782) (139,131)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fr SR K%,/
(Ax) 4,934 (1,606) 1,114 1,008 17,991

Loss for the year FEER (35,200) (14,828) (48,942) (55,774) (121,140)
Other comprehensive (loss)/ H A2 (E18) /

income U 25 (24,949) (8,404) 30,913 (12,423) (15,886)
Total comprehensive loss for 4F & % [ /5 18 42 58

the year (60,149) (23,232) (18,029) (68,197) (137,026)

Total comprehensive UTALTERIEER
(loss)/income for the 2® (BE) /

year attributable to: Wiz 48 -
Owners of the Company ~ ARARH#E A (59,312) (24,899) (16,058) (67,610) (137,774)
Non-controlling interests FE 1 AR = (837) 1,667 (1,971) (587) 748
(60,149) (23,232) (18,029) (68,197) (137,026)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES As at 30 June
EEREE RAA=+H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —E-= —E-—F ZE-FF ZET—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ETRT FAL FAEL FAEL FEL
Non-current assets EREBEE 556,785 673,988 669,382 641,280 656,233
Current assets MEEE 162,907 106,520 130,268 121,118 129,531
Current liabilities TEEE (118,890) (108,942) (125,289) (73,436) (50,868)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (123,482) (135,097) (114,660) (111,230) (88,967)
Net assets BEFHE 476,320 536,469 559,701 577,732 645,929
Attributable to: DT ALTREW:
Owners of the Company AR FIEE A 462,980 524,196 549,095 565,158 632,768
Non-controlling interests FEERER 13,340 12,273 10,606 12,574 13,161
Total equity EEEs 476,320 536,469 559,701 577,732 645,929
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